

www.vtpi.org Info@vtpi.org 250-508-5150

Evaluating Public Transit Benefits and Costs

Best Practices Guidebook 17 June 2025

Todd Litman Victoria Transport Policy Institute



Abstract

This guidebook describes how to create a comprehensive framework for evaluating the full impacts (benefits and costs) of a particular transit service or improvement. It identifies various categories of impacts and how to measure them. It discusses best practices for transit evaluation and identifies common errors that distort results. It discusses the travel impacts of various types of transit system changes and incentives. It describes ways to optimize transit benefits by increasing system efficiency, increasing ridership and creating more transit oriented land use patterns. It compares automobile and transit costs, and the advantages and disadvantages of bus and rail transit. It includes examples of transit evaluation and extensive references. Many of the techniques in this guide can be used to evaluate other modes, such as ridesharing, cycling and walking.

Todd Alexander Litman © 1996-2024

You are welcome and encouraged to copy, distribute, share and excerpt this document and its ideas, provided the author is given attribution. Please send your corrections, comments and suggestions for improvement.

Contents

Executive Summary	2
Introduction Public Transit's Role in an Efficient and Equitable Transportation System The Importance of Comprehensive Analysis	4 5 8
Evaluation Best Practices	9
Evaluating Transit Service Quality	11
Travel Impacts	13
Transit Demand	18
Transit Impact Categories Transit Expenditures Impacts on Existing Transit Users Mobility Benefits Efficiency Benefits Travel Time Impacts Land Use Impacts Economic Development Impacts Impact Summary	24 24 25 30 55 58 61 66
Evaluating and Quantifying Transit Benefits	68
Comparing Transit and Automobile Costs Perspectives Common Errors Made When Comparing Transit and Automobile Transport Transit Versus Automobile Comparison Summary	71 74 77 78
Evaluating Transit Criticism Is Transit Travel Slow and Inefficient? Is It Cheaper To Subsidize Cars Instead Of Transit?	79 81 82
Rail Versus Bus Transit Advantages of Rail Advantages of Bus Summary of Rail Versus Bus	84 84 85 85
Strategies To Increase Transit Benefits Transit Priority Parking Management Commute Trip Reduction Programs Campus and School Transport Management Programs Marketing and User Information Nonmotorized Improvements Transit Oriented Development Least Cost Planning	88 88 88 88 89 89 89 89 89 89
Evaluation Examples	91
Conclusions	107
References and Resources for More Information	109

Executive Summary

Public transit (also called *public transport* or *mass transit*) includes various services that provide mobility to the general public, including buses, trains, ferries, shared taxi and their variations. It can play important and unique roles in an efficient and equitable transport system by providing affordable basic mobility for non-drivers, resource-efficient travel on busy corridors, and a catalyst for more efficient development. It can have diverse impacts (benefits and costs), including many that are indirect and external (they affect people who do not use transit). Some result from the existence of the service, others from transit use, some from reduced automobile travel, and others from transit's ability to affect land use development patterns, as summarized in Table ES-1. Not all transit services have all of these impacts, but most have several.

	Improved Transit Service	Increased Transit Travel	Reduced Automobile Travel	Transit-Oriented Development
Metric	Service Quality (speed, comfort, safety, etc.)	Transit Ridership (passenger-miles or mode share)	Mode Shifts or Automobile Travel Reductions	Portion of Development With TOD Design Features
Potential Benefits	 Improved convenience and comfort for existing users. Equity benefits (since existing users tend to be disadvantaged). Option value (the value of having an option for possible future use). Improved operating efficiency (if service speed increases). Improved security (reduced crime risk) 	 Mobility benefits to new users. Increased fare revenue. Increased public fitness and health (by increasing walking and bicycling trips). Increased security as more non-criminals ride transit and wait at stops and stations. 	 Reduced traffic congestion. Road and parking facility cost savings. Consumer savings. Reduced chauffeuring burdens. Increased traffic safety. Energy conservation. Air and noise pollution reductions. 	 Additional vehicle travel reductions ("leverage effects"). Improved accessibility, particularly for non- drivers. Community cohesion and reduced crime risk. More efficient development (reduced infrastructure costs). Farmland and habitat preservation.
Potential Costs	 Higher capital and operating costs and subsidies. Land and road space. Traffic congestion and accident risk imposed by transit vehicles. 	 Transit vehicle crowding. 	 Reduced automobile business activity. 	 Various problems associated with more compact development.

Table ES-1Public Transport Benefits and Costs

Public transport can have various types of benefits and costs, many of which tend to be overlooked or undervalued in conventional transportation economic evaluation.

Conventional transport economic evaluation tends to overlook and undervalue many transit benefits such as basic mobility, social equity goals, vehicle ownership and parking cost savings, or more efficient land development. Accessibility-based analysis, which measures the number of destinations that people can reach within a given time period, tends to increase the value of high-quality public transit.

Public transit can also have significant costs, including facility and operating expenses, and various external costs. Many of these costs are fixed so transit services tend to have low marginal costs and experience scale economies (unit costs decline with increased use).

These factors should be considered when evaluating public transit benefits and costs:

- Public transit can provide various types of impacts. Comprehensive evaluation should consider all significant benefits and costs.
- Many transit services (those that operate at times and places with low demand) exist mainly to provide basic mobility for non-drivers. Although relatively costly per trip, they are often cheaper than alternatives such as taxis and chauffeuring (drivers making special trip to carry non-drivers, which often requires empty return trip), or inadequate mobility for non-drivers.
- High quality (relatively fast, convenient, comfortable and integrated) transit can attract discretionary travelers who would otherwise drive, which reduces traffic problems including congestion, parking costs, accidents and pollution emissions. This provides direct user benefits, since they would not change mode if they did not consider themselves better off overall.
- High quality transit can stimulate *transit-oriented development*, compact, multi-modal neighborhoods where residents tend to own fewer vehicles, drive less and rely more on alternative modes than in more automobile-oriented communities. This can leverage additional travel reductions and benefits (besides just the travel shifted to transit).
- Transit improvements tend to provide greater estimated benefits if evaluated using accessibilitybased indicators, such as the number of jobs or services that can be reached, rather than mobility-based indicators such as travel time savings.
- Traffic congestion tends to maintain equilibrium: it increases until delays discourage additional peak-period vehicle trips. High quality, grade-separated transit can reduce congestion costs by reducing the point of equilibrium, offering travelers an alternative to driving, and by supporting compact development which reduces travel distances.
- Highway expansion tends to induce additional vehicle travel which increases external costs such as downstream congestion, parking demand, traffic risk, and pollution emissions. These impacts should be considered when comparing roadway expansions with transit improvements.
- Transit travel time unit costs (dollars per hour or cents per minute) vary significantly depending on travel conditions and user preferences. Many travelers prefer high quality transit even if it takes longer than driving because they can work or rest.
- These impacts and benefits tend to increase if transit improvements are implemented with support strategies such as walking and cycling improvements, more compact development, transportation demand management programs, and efficient road and parking pricing.
- Since active transport (walking and cycling) and public transit are complements, transit travel tends to increase public fitness and health.
- Public transit services have three features that justify public support and underpricing: they help achieve social equity objectives, they experience scale economies, and they can reduce various external costs including traffic congestion, accident risk and pollution emissions.
- Current demographic and economic trends (aging population, rising fuel prices, urbanization, changing consumer preferences, increasing health and environmental concerns) are increasing demand for transit and transit-oriented development, and therefore their benefits.

Introduction

Public transit (also called public transportation, public transport, mass transit and urban transit) includes various transport services available to the general public including vanpools, buses, trains, ferries, and their variations. These services can play various roles in a modern transport system and provide various benefits, including direct benefits to users and indirect benefits that result if transit helps reduce automobile travel or create more compact. This guidebook describes how to evaluate the value to society of a particular transit service or change in service. It explains how to create a comprehensive evaluation framework that incorporates various categories of impacts (benefits and costs), and how to quantify these impacts. It discusses how to determine whether a particular public transit program is worthwhile, and how to optimize transit services to maximize benefits. This framework is suitable for evaluating other modes such as taxi and ridesharing.

There are many reasons to improve transit evaluation. Current transportation evaluation practices tend to overlook and undervalue many transit benefit categories, such as parking cost savings, increased safety from reduced vehicle travel, and reduced chauffeuring burdens on drivers (USDOT 2016). More comprehensive analysis includes more impacts and so is more accurate. This is not to suggest that every transit project is cost effective or that transit is always the best solution to every transport problems. However, transit improvements tend to provide significantly more value to society than conventional models indicate.

There are four general categories of transit improvements to consider:

- Increased service (more transit vehicle-miles)
- Improved service (more comfortable, convenient, reliable, etc.).
- Transit use incentives (lower fares, commuter financial incentives, marketing, etc.).
- Transit oriented development (land use patterns designed to support transit, including more compact, walkable, mixed development around transit stations and corridors).

Since transit service and automobile travel both impose significant costs (including indirect costs such as congestion, road wear and pollution emissions), improvements and incentives that increase transit load factors and attract travelers who would otherwise drive tend to provide large benefits. Described differently, there is little benefit to society from simply operating transit vehicles (excepting "option value" as described later); most benefits depend on how much transit is used, how well the service responds to users' needs and preferences, the amount of automobile travel displaced, and the various savings and benefits that result (including reduced vehicle ownership and operating cost, avoided roadway and parking facility expansion, increased safety, etc.).

A challenge in developing this document is to maintain a balance between keeping it simple enough to be convenient to use while providing sufficient detail to address all possible situations. To achieve this, the document describes concepts and issues, and provides recommended evaluation techniques and default values, and offers numerous reference documents for additional technical detail.

Public Transit's Role in an Efficient and Equitable Transportation System

During most of the last century automobile use (here *automobile* includes cars, light trucks, vans and SUVs and motorcycles) grew while public transit experienced a downward spiral of declining ridership, investment, and service quality, and more auto-oriented land use development. Critics argue that outside a few major cities there is little reason to expand transit service or encourage transit use (Orski 2000), but current trends are increasing public transit's importance (Aesch 2024; Litman 2006; NAR 2021; Puentes 2008):

- Aging population, rising fuel prices, increasing urbanization, increasing traffic congestion, rising roadway expansion costs, changing consumer preferences and increasing health and environmental concerns are shifting travel demand from automobile to alternative modes.
- Many cities have recently experienced redevelopment and population growth, and some trends (smaller households, more elderly people, increased popularity of urban loft apartments, increased value placed on walkability, etc.) support increased urbanization.
- Many cities have reached a size and level of traffic demand that justifies more reliance on transit, including many areas previously classified as *suburban* that are becoming more urbanized, and so experience increased congestion, commercial clustering, land values and parking problems that make transit cost effective.
- There is a growing appreciation of value to having diverse transport options (Aesch 2024).
- Per capita automobile travel grew steadily during the Twentieth Century but peaked in 2006 and subsequently declined, as illustrated in Figure 1. Similar patterns occur in most other developed countries.



Figure 1 U.S. Annual Vehicle Travel (FHWA various years)

Per capita US vehicle travel grew steadily during the Twentieth Century, but peaked about 2006.

Transit ridership declined significantly between 1950 and 1970, but subsequently grew, particularly rail travel, as illustrated in Figure 2. Transit commute mode shared increased slightly, from a low of 4.7% in 2000 to 5.0% in 2017, transits share of total trips increased even more, from 1.6% in 2001 to 2.9% in 2017 (Wang and Renne 2023). Walking, bicycling and other also gained share during the last two decades. Together, 17.4% of trips were made by non-auto modes in 2017, with higher rates in denser urban areas.



Most communities now have well-developed automobile transport systems but inferior transportation options for non-drivers. This automobile dependence creates a variety of problems, many of which public transit can help solve, as summarized below.

Table 1	Transportation Problems Transit Helps Solve
---------	---

•	Traffic congestion	•	Automobile costs to consumers.
٠	Parking congestion	•	Inadequate mobility for non-drivers
٠	Traffic accidents	•	Excessive energy consumption
٠	Road and parking infrastructure costs.	•	Pollution emissions

Public transit can help address a variety of transportation problems. Transit tends to be most effective along dense urban corridors where these problems are most intense.

There is also growing demand for housing in compact, multimodal communities. The National Association of Realtors' Community and Transportation Preference Surveys, indicate that that a growing portion of households prefer smaller-lot, urban home locations if they provide suitable travel options (good walking, cycling and public transit), local services (nearby shops, schools and parks) and other amenities. The 2020 survey concluded that, "60 percent of respondents favor a neighborhood with a mix of houses, stores, and other businesses that are within walking distance, rather than neighborhoods requiring driving between home, work, and recreation. Respondents indicated that while the size of a home or yard does matter, most are willing to compromise size for a preferred neighborhood and less commuting." (NAR 2020).

Transit becomes more important as cities grow. In smaller cities transit primarily serves *transportation disadvantaged* riders (people cannot use an automobile), typically representing 5-10% of the population, but as cities grow in size and density transit serves more *discretionary riders* (people who have the option of driving), and so provides more benefits by reducing traffic problems and supporting more efficient land use patterns.



This does not mean that automobile travel will disappear and all travel will shift to public transit. However, at the margin (i.e., compared with their current travel patterns) many motorists would prefer to drive somewhat less and use alternatives more, provided they are convenient, comfortable and affordable. Satisfying this growing demand for alternative modes can provide a variety of benefits. When all impacts are considered, improving public transit is often the most cost-effective transportation improvement.

Mobility Versus Accessibility Analysis

Conventional planning tends to evaluate transportation system performance based on *mobility*, measured a travel speed and distances. A new planning paradigm values performance based on *accessibility*, measured as the number of services and activities that can be reached within a given time and money budget (SSTI 2021). Many factors affect accessibility including travel speed, transport network connectivity, and development density and mix.

Mobility-based planning favors faster modes, such as automobile and air travel, over slower but more affordable, inclusive and resource-efficient mode such as walking, bicycling and public transit, and ignores the increased travel time and distance that result from sprawled development. Accessibility-based planning recognizes the efficiency provided by walking, bicycling and public transit, and compact development patterns, and the value that users place in these impacts.

For example, Wang and Levinson (2022) found that a major public transit improvement (New York's Second Avenue Subway) is not cost effective when evaluated based on travel time savings but is very cost effective (benefits are at least four times costs) when evaluated based on local property value gains that reflect users accessibility benefits.

As a result, the benefits of public transit and transit-oriented development are better understood using accessibility-based indicators, such as the number of jobs and services that people can reach within a given time and money budget, than mobility-based indicators such as speed and vehicle operating costs.

The Importance of Comprehensive Analysis

Economists and planners have developed various tools for evaluating the economic value of transport policies and projects. These were generally developed to evaluate a particular mode or objective. For example, highway investment models are designed to measure the value of road improvements, and emission reduction models are designed to prioritize emission reduction strategies. Because their scope is narrow, these tools are poor at evaluating multiple modes and objectives (NZTA 2010). For example, models designed to evaluate congestion reduction strategies often ignore emission impacts, and models designed to evaluate emission reductions often ignore congestion impacts. Many models ignore parking and vehicle ownership costs. Such "reductionist" models can lead to solutions to one problem that exacerbate others, and undervalue strategies that provide modest but multiple benefits, such as transit services.

Conventional transport evaluation models tend to undervalue public transit because they overlook many benefits, as summarized in Table 2. To their credit, many public officials realize that transit provides more benefits than their models indicate, and so support transit more than is justified by benefit/cost analysis, but this occurs despite rather than as a result of formal economic evaluation. Decision making would improve with better evaluation models that account for more impacts.

Usually Considered	Often Overlooked
	Downstream congestion impacts
	Impacts on non-motorized travel
	Parking costs
	Vehicle ownership and mileage-based depreciation costs.
	Project construction traffic delays
	Generated traffic impacts
	Indirect environmental impacts
	Strategic land use impacts
Financial costs to governments	Transportation diversity value (e.g., mobility for non-drivers)
Vehicle operating costs (fuel, tolls, tire wear)	Equity impacts
Travel speed (reduced congestion delay)	Per-capita crash risk
Per-mile crash risk	Impacts on physical activity and public health
Project construction environmental impacts	Some travelers' preference for transit (lower travel time costs)

Table 2	Conventional Anal	vsis Scope	("Comprehensive	Evaluation"	VTPI 2004)
		,			••••••••

Conventional transportation planning tends to focus on a limited set of impacts. Some tend to be overlooked because they are relatively difficult to quantify (equity, indirect environmental impacts, crash risk), and others are ignored simply out of tradition (parking costs, long-term vehicle costs, construction delays). These omissions tend to undervalue transit improvements.

Recent research expands the range of impacts to consider in public transport evaluation (Allison, Lupton and Wallis 2013; ATAP 2017; DfT 2017; ECONorthwest and PBQD 2002; Ferrell 2015; Gwee, Currie and Stanley 2011; NZTA 2017; PTEG 2013; TRB TEC 2011; UITP 2009; Wallis, Lawrence and Douglas 2013). This guide summarizes this research and describes how to apply more comprehensive evaluation in a particular situation.

Evaluation Best Practices

Economic Evaluation (also called *Appraisal* or *Analysis*) refers to methods to determine the value of a planning option to support decision making (Litman 2001). Economic evaluation involves quantifying and comparing the marginal (incremental) impacts (benefits and costs) of various options in a standardized format.

Economic evaluation applies an *evaluation framework* that specifies the basic structure of the analysis. This identifies the following:

- *Evaluation method*, such as cost-effectiveness, benefit-cost, lifecycle cost analysis, etc.
- *Evaluation criteria*, which are the impacts to be considered in analysis. Impacts can be defined in terms of *problems*, or their opposite, *objectives* (for example, if congestion is a problem then congestion reduction is an objective), and in terms of *costs* and *benefits* (for example, congestion reduction benefits are measured based on congestion costs reduced).
- *Modeling techniques,* which predict how a policy change or program will affect travel behavior and land use patterns.
- *Base Case*, meaning what would happen without the policy or program.
- *Comparison units*, such as net present value, benefit/cost ratio, or cost per lane-mile, vehicle-mile, passenger-mile, incremental peak-period trip, etc.
- *Base year and discount rate,* which indicates how costs are adjusted to reflect the time value of money.
- *Perspective and scope*, such as the geographic range of impacts to consider.
- Dealing with uncertainty, such as use of sensitivity analysis or other statistical tests.
- *How results are presented,* so that the results of different evaluations can be compared.

It is important to carefully define the questions and options to be considered (Moreland, et al. 2011). A transit evaluation may consider whether a particular transit investment is cost effective (benefits exceed costs), which of several transit options provides the greatest net benefits, whether a transit improvement provides more value than a highway improvement, and how to optimize transit service benefits, and how the benefits and costs of a transportation option are distributed. It is generally best to evaluate several options, which may include a base case (what happens if no change is implemented), and various roadway improvements, transit improvements, and support strategies. Transit options might include small, medium and large service improvements, plus transit improvements combined with various support strategies such as ridership incentives and transit-oriented development. All quantified values and calculations should be incorporated into a clearly-organized spreadsheet, which allows various options and assumptions to be tested and adjusted.

Some benefits and costs have a mirror-image relationship; a cost increase can be considered a reduction in benefits, and a reduction in benefits can be considered an increase in costs. For example, reduced accidents can be defined as increased road safety, and reduced congestion delays can be described as an increase in mobility.

Transit system costs tend to be relatively easy to determine, since most show up in government agency budgets. The main challenge is therefore to identify all incremental benefits. The scope of impacts considered when evaluating public transport policies and projects varies significantly between jurisdictions (Gwee, Currie and Stanley 2011). Some impacts are difficult to monetize (measure in monetary units) with available analysis tools and data. Such impacts should be quantified as much as possible and described. For example, it may be impractical to place a dollar value on transit equity benefits, but it may be possible to predict the number and type of additional trips made by transportation disadvantaged people, and to discuss the implications of this additional mobility on their ability to access basic services, education and employment.

Special consideration is needed to determine optimal public transit investments (Mallett 2025). Transit supports both efficiency and equity by providing basic mobility for non-drivers, efficient travel on busy corridors, and a catalyst for compact development (Litman 2017). It bears special costs to provide basic mobility, such as wheelchair lifts and service in lower-density areas, but is generally cheaper than alternatives such as taxies or chauffeuring by motorists (Litman 2015). Automobile travel requires smaller subsidies per mile but imposes larger external costs. Transit users tend to travel fewer annual miles than motorists and so receive smaller subsidies per capita. All these factors should be considered when evaluating transit funding fairness.

Analysis should reflect *net*, *marginal* impacts. For example, net pollution reductions are the reduced automobile emissions minus any additional transit vehicle emissions. Marginal (incremental) impacts are sometimes difficult to determine. A 10% increase in transit passengermiles does not necessarily increase costs 10% if more passengers fill unused capacity.

Total impacts include both direct and indirect effects. Direct impacts result from increased mobility provided by transit, and reduced automobile use when people shift from driving to transit. Indirect impacts result when a major transit improvement provides a catalyst for more accessible land use patterns and a more diverse transport system that result in additional reductions in automobile travel. This *leverage effect* is discussed later. Analysis that only considers direct impacts and uses a short-term perspective tends to undervalue transit, particularly rail transit.

Some impacts can be considered in multiple categories, so it is important to avoid doublecounting. For example, productivity gains from more accessible land use can be counted as land use benefits or economic benefits, but not both. Some impacts are economic transfers rather than net gains. It is important to identify their full effects. For example, from a local perspective, federal grants can be considered an economic gain, since the money originates from elsewhere, but at a national level these are economic transfers, resources shifted from one area to another. Similarly, taxes and fares are economic transfers, costs to those who pay and benefits to those who receive the revenue. Both types of impacts should be considered in economic evaluation.

In general, it is best to calculate all impacts, including those that are indirect, long-term and affecting other jurisdictions, and identify their distribution by category, time, location and group. For example, a transit improvement might provide \$10 million dollars in total net benefits, of which \$6 million is direct and \$4 million is indirect, \$4 million occurs within the first 5 years, \$6 million accrues within the local jurisdiction, and \$2 accrues to lower-income people.

Evaluating Transit Service Quality

Service quality refers to how transit is perceived by users. Dhinghi (2011); Hale (2011); Kenworthy (2008); Kittleson & Associates (2013); Litman (2008 and 2014); Marsden and Bonsall (2006); Stradling, et al. (2007); TRB (2010); and Tomer, et al. (2011) provide guidance on evaluating transit service quality from various perspectives, including:

- Availability (when and where transit service is available), and *coverage* (the portion of a geographic area, or the portion of common destinations in a community, located within reasonable distance of transit service.
- *Frequency* (how many trips are made each hour or day).
- Travel speed (absolute and relative to automobile travel).
- *Reliability* (how frequently service follows published schedules).
- Integration (ease of transferring within the transit system and with other travel modes).
- *Price structure* and *payment options*.
- User *comfort* and *security*, including riding on, walking to, and waiting for transit.
- Accessibility (ease of reaching transit stations and stops, particularly by walking).
- Universal design (ability to accommodate diverse users including people with disabilities, baggage, inability to understand local languages, etc.).
- Affordability (user costs relative to their income and other travel options).
- Information (ease of obtaining information about transit services).
- Aesthetics (appearance of transit vehicles, stations, waiting areas and documents).
- Amenity (extra features and services that enhance user comfort and enjoyment).

Levinger and McGehee (2008) recommend that planners optimize the following factors to improve transit services and attract new riders:

- 1. *Ease.* Is the system or product easy to use? What difficulties do new users face? Transit example: Are your timetables legible and easily decipherable, even by inexperienced users? Are transfers convenient?
- 2. *Effectiveness.* How well does the system help users complete a task? Does the product serve its purpose well? Transit example: Do routes operate on time and on predictable schedules? Can passengers make their desired trips in a reasonable time?
- 3. *Comfort*. Do users feel safe, secure, and relaxed when using a product? Does use ever cause discomfort? Transit example: Do stops, stations and vehicles and vehicles always feel safe and secure? Do seats accommodate passengers of different sizes and abilities?
- 4. *Aesthetics.* Simply, does the product appeal to users? Is it visually and tactilely appealing? How does using the system affect all five senses? Transit examples: Are vehicles clean, outside and inside? Do the vehicles' temperature, fabrics, and hand-holds feel good? Are there any unpleasant smells, glaring lights, or blaring audio systems?

Transit service quality (travel speed, comfort, affordability, etc.) can be quantified using Levelof-Service (LOS) rating, which can be compared with other modes, particularly automobile travel, for various conditions and users (TRB 2011; Rickert 2006). A section later in this report discuss how to evaluate the value of transit travel time and compare it with other modes, taking into account user convenience and comfort.

Transit accessibility refers to the number of services and activities (jobs, shops, parks, etc.) that can be reached by transit within a given time (Ermagun and Witlox 2024). *Travel time maps* indicate the time needed to travel from an origin to various destinations (Lightfoot and Steinberg 2006; Tomer, et al. 2011). For example, areas within one hour may be colored a dark red, within two hours a lighter red, within three hours a dark orange, and within four hours a light orange. Maps can compare travel times by different modes. Some maps show door-to-door transit travel times throughout an area, including walking, waiting and in-vehicle time (Cheng and Agrawal 2010; Shah and Adhvaryu 2016). Owen and Levinson (2014) measure home-to-work door-to-door travel times by walking-bicycling-transit for 46 of the 50 largest metropolitan areas in the United States.

The table below compares factors considered in various transit service quality indices. Newer indices tend to be more comprehensive, and therefore more accurate at evaluating service quality and predicting the effects of changes in transit service and accessibility.

Indices	Studies	Performance Factors	Transit Availability	Comfort and Convenience	Travel Demand
Local Index of		Frequency: capacity:			
Transit Availability	Rood 1997	route coverage	Yes	No	No
Transit access	Frmagun and	lobs accessible by walk-			
effectiveness	Witlox, 2024	transit and by auto.	Yes	No	No
Urban Accessibility	www.urbanaccessib	Activities accessible in			
Explorer	ility.com	designated times	Yes	No	No
Mass Transit		Transit supply, travel			
Indicators	Hale, 2011	impacts, land use, costs	Yes	No	Yes
Transit Level of	Kittelson & Ass. and	Coverage: frequency:			
Service Indicator	URS 2001	span; population; jobs	Yes	No	Yes
Transit Service		Coverage: span:			
Accessibility Index	Polzin et al. 2002	frequency; demand	Yes	No	Total trips
	Galindez & Mireles-	Travel speed: average			
Mobility Index	Cordov 1999	vehicle occupancy	No	Yes	No
Service Quality		13 variables (travel			
Index	Hensher et al. 2001	time; frequency, etc.)	Yes	No	Yes
		Frequency; coverage:			
Transit Service	Fu, Saccomanno	walk, wait, transfer,			
Indicator (TSI)	and Xin 2005	and ride travel time.	Yes	Yes	Yes

Table 3 Transit Indices Compared (Fu, Saccomanno and Xin 2005)

This table compares indices used to evaluate transit service quality and predict service change impacts.

Travel Impacts

The benefits of a transit service or improvement are affected its travel impacts. The table below indicates the effects of various types of transit improvements. For example, some improvements provide basic mobility or increase affordability. Some are particularly effective at attracting motorists and reducing automobile travel.

Type of Transit Improvement	Improves Service Quality	Increases Affordability	Provides Basic Mobility	Reduces Auto Travel
Additional routes, expanded coverage, increased service				
frequency and hours of operation.	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Lower fares, increased public subsidies.		✓	\checkmark	\checkmark
More special mobility services.		✓	\checkmark	
Commute Trip Reduction programs, Commuter Financial				
Incentives, and other TDM Programs that encourage				
alternative mode use.		\checkmark		\checkmark
HOV Priority.	\checkmark			\checkmark
Comfort improvements, such as better seats and bus				
shelters.	\checkmark			\checkmark
Transit Oriented Development and Smart Growth, that result				
in land use patterns more suitable for transit transportation.	\checkmark			\checkmark
Pedestrian and Cycling Improvements that improve access				
around transit stops.	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Improved rider information and Marketing programs.	\checkmark			\checkmark
Improved <u>Security</u> .	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark
Targeted services, such as express commuter buses, and				
services to <u>Special Events</u> .	\checkmark			\checkmark
Universal Design (accommodating people with disabilities)	\checkmark		~	
Park & Ride facilities.	\checkmark			\checkmark
Bike and Transit Integration (bike racks on buses, bike routes and Bicycle Parking at transit stops).	~		~	~

Table 4 Travel Impacts of Various Transit Improvements (VTPI 2004)

This table summarizes the travel impacts of various types of transit improvements. Some improve conditions or reduce costs for existing riders, others cause shifts from automobile to transit.

User benefits result from improved convenience, speed, comfort or financial savings to travelers who would use transit even without those improvements. For example, if transit priority measures increase transit speeds, current users benefit from travel time savings. Similarly, bus shelters, improved security at transit stations, reduced fares, and other types of service improvements provide benefits to current transit users.

Mobility benefits result from the additional mobility provided by a transportation service, particularly to people who are physically, economically or socially disadvantaged. These benefits are affected by the types of additional trips served. For example, transit services that provide *basic mobility*, such as access to medical services, essential shopping, education or employment opportunities, can be considered to provide greater benefits than more luxury trips, such as recreational travel ("Basic Mobility," VTPI 2004).

Efficiency benefits result when transit reduces the costs of traffic congestion, road and parking facilities, accidents and pollution emissions. These benefits depend on the amount and type of automobile traffic reduced. For example, transit services provide extra benefits if they reduce urban-peak automobile trips, rather than off-peak or rural trips, because urban-peak automobile travel tends to impose the greatest congestion, parking and pollution costs. Table 5 compares mobility and efficiency objectives.

	Mobility	Efficiency
Objective	Increase mobility by non-drivers.	Reduce costs such as congestion and pollution.
How evaluated.	Quality of mobility options available, particularly for disadvantaged people.	Compared with the same trips made by automobile.
Service distribution and coverage.	Structured to provide the greatest possible coverage, including service at times and places where demand is low.	Focused on urban-peak travel conditions where congestion, facility costs and pollution are worst.
Service quality.	Service may be basic (i.e., bus rather than rail), but it must be comprehensive and affordable.	Intended to attract discretionary riders with premium quality service (e.g., rail rather than bus), Park & Ride, and express services.
Fare structure.	Affordable to disadvantaged people.	Attractive to commuters.

Tabla E Comparing Mability and Efficiency Objectives

Public transit has various objectives that sometimes conflict.

These benefits tend to be greatest when transit serve people who face the greatest mobility constraints, such as wheelchair users and people with very low incomes (Litman and Rickert 2005). Special effort may be made to identify these users in ridership surveys and passenger profiles, evaluation of vehicle design features such as the portion of vehicles and terminals that accommodate people with disabilities (including the quality of pedestrian access in the area), and user surveys that include special features to determine the problems that disadvantaged people face using transit services.

To help analyze travel impacts it is useful to determine *mode substitution* factors, that is, the change in automobile trips resulting from a change in transit trips, and vice versa. For example, when reduced fares increase bus ridership, typically 10-50% substitute for an automobile trip; other trips shift from nonmotorized modes, vehicle passengers (which may involve a rideshare trip that would occur anyway; as opposed to a *chauffeured* trip in which a driver makes a special trip), or induced travel. Conversely, when disincentives such as road or parking fees cause automobile trips to decline, generally 20-60% shift to transit, depending on conditions. Ewing, Tian and Spain (2014); Pratt (1999); Kuzmyak, Weinberger and Levinson (2003), and TRL (2004) provide information on the mode shifts that typically result from various types of incentives.

According to travel surveys (APTA 2007, p. 8), more than half of transit passengers report that if transit service were unavailable they would travel by automobile, either as a driver or passenger in a private automobile or taxi (a portion of passenger trips would be ridesharing, using an otherwise empty seat without increasing vehicle mileage, while others would be chauffeured *trips* that do increase vehicle travel).

Indirect Travel Impacts ("Leverage" or "Multiplier" Effects)

In addition to direct travel impacts, transit improvements affect travel indirectly by helping create more compact, multimodal, transit-oriented communities where people own fewer motor vehicles and drive less than otherwise (Ewing and Hamidi 2014; Gallivan, et al. 2015; Kenworthy 2008; Lem, Chami and Tucker 2011; Litman 2004a; McGraw, et al. 2021; Sabouri, Ewing and Kalantari 2024). This is called a *leverage* or *multiplier* effect.



This effect can be evaluated by using a *fixed travel time budget*, which recognizes that people typically devote an average of 60-80 daily minutes to out-of-home travel (Ahmed and Stopher 2014). If they shift from faster to slower modes they tend to choose closer destinations or foregoing trips that they would make by auto. Since driving is typically five to ten times faster than non-auto modes, each mile shifted from auto to other modes generally reduces five to ten vehicle-miles as travellers maintain their total daily travel time target.

Described differently, high quality transit creates *Transit Oriented Developments* (TODs) where residents typically own about half as many vehicles, generate half as many vehicle trips, and rely on non-auto travel more than in auto-dependent areas (Arrington and Sloop 2009). Even at the regional level, which includes many automobile-oriented neighborhoods, residents of regions with high quality transit tend to drive 5-15% fewer annual miles than in regions with basic quality transit (Litman 2004; Liu 2007). This indicates that the effects are not just self-selection (households that prefer non-auto travel choosing transit-oriented areas); TODs cause residents to drive less. One study found that after 8-13 years of transit-oriented development, the share of residents who drive alone to work fell from 58% to 46%, while the share who never drive alone rose from 11% to 24%; the share who walking or biking to work rose from 9% to 29%; and the share living in low-car households (fewer cars than adults) increased from 34% to 50%, though the share of car-free household did not change (McNeil and Dill 2020).

A detailed study of 28 U.S. cities found that the transit multiplier averaged 6.6, with a range of 6.1–9.5 (Sabouri, Ewing and Kalantari 2024). This value indicates the total decrease in VMT for each additional transit passenger-mile. Another major U.S. study (ICF 2010) found that high quality transit directly reduces VMT, vehicle fuel use and GHG emissions about 2%, but by creating more compact communities leverages total reductions of about 8%. Similarly, Wedderburn (2013) found that in New Zealand urban areas, each additional daily transit trip by driving age (18+ years) residents is associated with 0.95 more walking trips and 1.21 kilometers (in addition to the walking trips to access transit), and reductions of two daily car driver trips and 45 vehicle-kms, approximately 5 kilometers of reduced vehicle travel for each additional transit passenger-km. Similarly, Ewing and Hamidi (2014) found that households in Portland, Oregon TODs averaged 0.60 more average daily transit trips which reduced expected average VMT 0.47, 0.60 more average daily walk trips which reduced expected VMT 0.72, and 140 more residents and workers per square mile which reduced VMT 0.26. These three effects together reduce average daily household VMT from 15.44 to 14.01, or 1.43 fewer vehicle-miles travelled, a 9% reduction. The transit multiplier is this reduction divided by the reduction caused by shifts from auto to transit (1.43/0.47), or 3.04.

The table below summarizes the results of various studies. These studies indicate that, due to these leverage effects, each transit passenger-mile typically reduces 3 to 6 automobile vehicle-miles.

Study	Cities	Vehicle-Mile Reduction Per Transit Passenger-Mile		
		Older Systems	Newer Systems	
Ewing and Hamidi	Portland, Oregon neighborhoods		3.0	
Holtzclaw 1991	San Francisco and Walnut Creek	8.0	4.0	
Holtzclaw 1994	San Francisco and Walnut Creek	9.0	1.4	
Litman 2004	50 largest U.S. cities	4.4		
McGraw, et al. 2021	50 largest U.S. cities	7.4		
Newman-Kenworthy	Boston, Chicago, NY, SF, DC	2.9		
Newman-Kenworthy	23 US, Canadian, Australian and European cities	3.6		
Pushkarev-Zupan	NY, Chicago, Phil, SF, Boston, Cleveland	4.0		
Wedderburn (2013)	Auckland, Canterbury and Wellington regions		4.9	

Table 6Transit VMT Reductions (Holtzclaw 2000; McGraw, et al. 2021; Litman 2004a)

This table summarizes results from several studies indicating that high quality public transit service can leverage automobile travel reductions by changing transport and land use patterns.

These studies indicate that indirect impacts tend to be much larger than direct effects: the average ratio of land use benefits to ridership benefits across all U.S. cities is 4:1, with significant variations between cities. These changes correspond to a 6% household VMT reduction due to the land use effect and an additional 8% VMT reduction due to the ridership effect.



This does not mean that every transit improvement causes all these impacts. Basic bus service and park-and-ride based suburban commuter rail may have minimal leverage effects. To maximize vehicle travel reductions high quality transit must be integrated with TDM incentives and transit-oriented development policies. Rail transit tends to have the greatest impact on percapita vehicle travel because stations tend to be catalysts for compact, walkable neighborhoods. Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) can also have significant impacts if implemented with supportive development policies. Bus service improvements generally provide significant benefits compared with expanding highways and parking facilities, but smaller benefits than rail transit improvements, particularly over the long-run. As a result, debates between bus and rail transit generally boil down to a tradeoff between lower initial costs but smaller long-term benefits of bus, versus higher initial costs but larger potential long-term benefits of rail. These issues are discussed in the "Rail Versus Bus Transit" section of this report.



Figure 6 **Transit Travel Versus Transport Energy Use** (Kenworthy 2018)

Transit Demand

Travel demand refers to the number and types of trips people would make under particular conditions. Various demographic, geographic and economic factors affect transit demand as summarized in the following table.



Figure 7 Factors Affecting Transit Ridership (Alam, Nixon and Zhang 2015)

For example, a particular transit route might attract 5,000 daily riders under current conditions; 6,000 if more employers offered subsidized transit passes; 7,000 if a local college has a U-Pass program; 8,000 if service quality improves; 9,000 if Park & Ride, pedestrian and bicycle access improved; and 10,000 if parking prices increase.

For more information on transit demand see Alam, Nixon and Zhang 2015; Kittleson & Associates 2013; TRL 2004; McCollom and Pratt 2004; Thompson, et al. 2012; Currie 2005; Taylor, et al. 2009; Greer and van Campen 2011; Walker 2012 and 2015; Wang 2011; Chen and Naylor 2011; and Xie 2012. The National Household Travel Survey (NHTS 2017) identifies recent transit travel trends. The *Transit Performance Monitoring System* (TPMS) uses a standardized survey to evaluate transit use (FTA 2002). Coogan, et al. (2018) analyze how various demographic, geographic and economic trends are likely to affect future transit demands, including ways that age, location, preferences, transit service quality, and availability of alternatives (including ride-hailing). CTOD (2009) describes methods for improving transit demand models. Brown and Thompson (2009) identify various service design factors that affect transit ridership. Litman (2005c) discusses how demographic and economic trends are increasing demands for alternative modes, including public transit.

Most urban regions have models that predict how various transport system changes affect travel patterns. However, such models are often poor at measuring factors such as rider comfort and pedestrian accessibility, and so may understate the benefits of many transit improvements and incentives ("Modeling Improvements," VTPI 2002). Their impacts can be evaluated by comparing the generalized (travel time and incremental monetary) costs of transit and driving to calculate a *transit competitiveness ratio* (Casello 2007). The higher this ratio the relatively less attractive transit is compared with driving. Because travelers have diverse needs and preferences, some will choose transit even if the transit competitive ratio is relatively high, so models must be calibrated and adjusted to reflect specific conditions.

Specific factors that affect transit ridership are discussed in more detail below.

Price Changes

The overall average <u>Elasticity</u> of transit ridership with respect to fares is -0.4, meaning that each 1.0% fare increase will reduce ridership by 0.4%, although this varies depending on various geographic, demographic and service factors (Hensher and King 1998; Pratt 1999; TRL 2004; Litman 2004). Transit dependent riders have lower elasticities than discretionary riders. Large cities tend to have a lower elasticity than small cities, and peak-hour travel is less elastic than off-peak. <u>Commuter Financial Incentives</u>, in which employers provide subsidized passes or cash to transit riders, can be effective at increasing ridership (<u>www.commutercheck.com</u>). <u>Parking</u> <u>Pricing</u> can significantly increase transit travel. Even a modest fee (\$1-2 per day) often doubles transit commuting. The <u>Trip Reduction Tables</u> indicate the reduction in automobile trips that can be expected from various combinations of commuter financial incentives.

Table 7	Transit Ridershi	p Factors	(JHK 1995)	: Kain and Liu	1999)
					1000,

Factor	Elasticity
Regional employment	0.25
Central city population	0.61
Service (transit vehicle mileage)	0.71
Fare price	-0.32
Wait time	-0.30
Travel time	-0.60
Headways	-0.20

This table shows elasticities of transit use with respect to various factors. For example, a 1% increase in regional employment is likely to increase transit ridership by 0.25%, while a 1% increase in fare prices will reduce ridership by 0.32%, all else being equal.

Service Quality

In a comparison of U.S. transit systems, Schmitt (2018) found that those that increased systemwide services, including both bus and rail, tended to increase ridership. Pratt (1999) concludes that the elasticity of transit use with respect to transit service averages 0.5, meaning that each 1% increase in transit service frequency, vehicle mileage or operating hours increases ridership 0.5%, although this varies depending on service type, demographic and geographic factors. Elasticities of 1.0 can occur where service expands into suitable areas. Pratt finds the elasticity of transit use to service expansion (e.g. routes into new parts of a community) is typically 0.6 to 1.0, meaning that each 1% of additional service increases ridership by 0.6-1.0%. New bus services in a community typically achieve 3 to 5 annual rides per capita, with 0.8 to 1.2 passengers per bus-mile, with higher rates in some circumstances, such as university towns or suburbs with rail transit stations. Improved information, easy-to-remember schedules (for example, every half-hour), and more convenient transfers can increase transit use, particularly in areas where service is less frequent. Multiple regression analysis by Alam, Nixon and Zhang (2015) indicates that bus travel demand is transit supply, fares, average headways, service coverage and intensity, revenue hours, safety and gas prices.

Demographics

About 12% of U.S. residents use transit at least once during a two month period, and this is higher among certain groups (Polzin and Chu 1999). Ridership tends to be higher for:

- People who cannot drive (people with disabilities, youths, immigrants, etc.)
- People with low incomes.
- Residents of larger cities.
- Commuters to major commercial centers.
- High school, college and university students.
- Employees who are offered financial incentives.
- People who consider driving stressful.

The Transit Performance Monitoring System (TPMS) surveys provide information on transit ridership demographics (FTA 2002). Phase I and II surveys found the following:

- Most transit trips are made by lower-income household. Lower-income riders (less than \$20,000 annual income in 2002) represent 63% of riders in small transit systems, 51% in medium size transit systems, and 41% of riders in large transit systems.
- Most transit trips are made by riders who use transit frequently. About 70% of trips are made by people who use transit at least five days each week. However, a large number of people use transit infrequently, so 70% of people who use transit during the last month use it less than five times a week.
- There is constant turnover of the transit user population. 38% of current transit trips are made by people who have relied on transit for less than one year, and 29% of transit trips are made by people who relied on transit one to four years.
- Work, school (including university and college) and shopping trips account for 75% of all trips.
- Overall, 33% of transit trips made by discretionary riders (people who have the option of driving a car). This increases to 36% in large transit systems.
- Walking is the most common form of access to transit stops. 6.2% of bus riders and 27% of rail riders drive to their transit stop. Nearly all transit trips end with a walking link.
- More than half (56%) of transit passengers report that if transit service were unavailable they would have traveled by automobile, either as a driver or passenger. Below is what respondents report they would do if transit service were unavailable:

Drive	23%
Ride with someone	22%
Taxi/Train	12%
Not make trip	21%
Walk	18%
Bicycle	4%
	Drive Ride with someone Taxi/Train Not make trip Walk Bicycle

The table below shows responses to a national survey of why people use transit. This indicates that many users either cannot drive, but other factors also motivate transit use, including financial savings, avoiding the stress of driving, and environmental concerns.

<u></u>	
I Use Public Transit Because	Portion of Respondents
It is the most convenient way for me.	82%
Costs less than driving.	78%
Do not have access to a car.	74%
Avoids stress of driving on congested roads.	74%
Is better for the environment.	72%
Avoids buying a car.	65%
I don't drive or don't like to drive.	60%
It is faster than a private vehicle.	43%
I can do something else	41%

Table 8Reasons for Using Public Transit (CUTR 1998)

Land Use Factors

Various land use factors affect transit use ("Land Use Impacts On Transport," VTPI, 2004). Per capita transit ridership tends to increase with city size (see table below), population and employment density, and the quality of the pedestrian environment.

Table 9 Por	tion of R	esidents Using Transit At Least Or	nce A Month (NPTS 1995)
City Size (Thou	sands)	Residents Riding Transit Monthly	
Under 250		1.4%	
250-499		5.4%	
500-999		6.4%	
1,000-2,999		10.0%	
3,000+		21.0%	
Nationwide		11.6%	

One study found the elasticity of transit ridership with respect to residential densities to be +0.22 in U.S. urban conditions, meaning that each 1% increase in density increases transit ridership by 0.22% (PBQD 1996). Destination density (e.g., clustering of employment) tends to have a greater impact on transit ridership than residential density.

Per capita rail transit ridership rates tend to increase in an area with population density, commercial and governmental land uses, average income, bus service connectivity, distance to central station and service frequency (Chan and Miranda-Moreno 2011). Bento, et al, (2003) found that each 10% reduction in the distance between homes and the nearest transit stop reduces automobile commute mode split by 1.6 percentage points, and reduces total annual VMT by about 1%. Kuby, Barranda and Upchurch (2004) evaluate various transit station area factors that affect ridership. On average 100 jobs generate 2.3 daily boardings, 100 residents generate 9.3 boardings, 100 park-and-ride spaces generate 77 boardings, each bus generates 123 boardings, and an airport generates 913 boardings. These land use factors should generally be evaluated at a micro-scale (using small transport analysis zones) along a transit corridor or around a transit station.

Some people claim that at least 12 employees or residents (equivalent to about 6 housing units) per acre are needed to justify more than basic transit service, but other factors are as important as density. Strategies such as campus transport management, commute trip reduction programs and parking pricing can significantly increase transit ridership rates, and so justified quality transit services in areas with lower densities. For example, if a comprehensive commute trip reduction program doubles transit ridership rates, an employment center with 6 employees per acre would generate the same transit demand as an area with 12 employees per acre that lacks such a program.

Quality and Type of Transit

There is considerable debate concerning the differences in demand between bus and rail transit (see discussion of bus versus rail transit later). Rail transit is considered more comfortable and prestigious than buses, and so tends to attract more discretionary riders (travelers who would otherwise drive) within a service area (Pushkarev and Zupan 1977; CTS 2009a; Scherer and Dziekan 2012), but a bus network can reach more destinations, providing more comprehensive and direct coverage through a region, and so may attract more riders with a given level of investment (GAO 2001). Rail passengers appear willing to accept more crowded conditions than bus passengers (Demery and Higgins 2002).

TUDIC TO				
Transit Service	Definition	Type of Rider	How Transit is Accessed	Trip Characteristics
Light-Rail Transit	Hiawatha Line from downtown Minneapolis to its southern suburbs	Mostly (62%) choice	Balanced between bus, walking, and park and ride	Home locations spread throughout the region; the average rider lives more than three miles from the line.
Express Bus	Connects suburban areas directly to downtowns	Primarily choice (84%)	About half park- and-ride (48%)	Home locations clustered at the line origin
Premium Express Bus	Express routes with coach buses	Almost exclusively choice (96%)	Mostly park and ride (62%)	Home locations clustered at the line origin
Local Bus	Serves urban and suburban areas with frequent stops	Mostly captive (52%)	Nearly all bus or walk (90%)	Home locations scattered along route; most riders live within a mile of the bus line

 Table 10
 Demand Characteristics By Transit Mode (CTS 2009a)

Rail transit tends to attract more "choice" riders (discretionary transit users who could drive).

Cities with larger rail transit systems have significantly higher per capita transit ridership (Litman 2004a). Baum-Snow and Kahn (2005) found that in "old rail" cities (cities that have wellestablished rail transit systems in 1970) transit commuting declined from 30% in 1970 to 23% in 1990. In "new rail" cities (cities that build rail transit lines between 1970 and 1990), transit commuting declined from 8% to 6% during this period. In cities without rail, transit commuting declined from 5% to 2%. Transit use in all three samples remained relatively unchanged between 1990 and 2000. They conclude that rail transit does tend to increase total transit ridership if local land use is supportive. New North American rail and BRT systems have attracted higher ridership than would be expected based on standard modeling of service frequency, travel speed and fare (Henry and Litman 2006; Hidalgo and Carrigan 2010). It is now common practice to apply up to a 12-minute in-vehicle travel time "bias constant" for high quality transit service (that is, the travel times for mode-split modeling purposes would be 12 minutes shorter for rail in comparison to conventional local bus service) due to factors such as more attractive vehicles and nicer stations (Kittleson & Associates 2007).

Various studies indicate that rail transit tends to reduce vehicle ownership and travel, and stimulate more walking and cycling activity (CTS 2009). Boarnet and Houston (2013) analyzed the impacts that a new light rail line had on travel activity by nearby households. Comparing before and after travel surveys (including GPS and accelerometer data) they found that households located within a half-mile of rail stations reduced their daily vehicle travel by 10 to 12 miles (about 30%) relative to comparable households located further away.

Demand for transit varies by service quality and income. Demand for basic quality transit service (such as infrequent bus routes) tends to be greatest for lower-income people, and declines as incomes rise. Demand for higher-quality transit service (such as express commuter buses and frequent rail transit, with transit-oriented development) tends to increase with income, and is potentially much greater in total than for basic service, which is why cities with high quality transit tend to have much greater per capita ridership (APTA 2007, Table 13).

Transit Accessibility

Transit accessibility refers to the number of services and activities that can be reached by public transit within a given time and financial budget, taking into account service quality and land use factors (SSTI 2021).

Wu, et al. (2021) evaluated 30-minute access to jobs by four modes in 117 global cities. They found that Australian, Canadian and European cities have better transit access than in the United States, due to more automobile-dependent transportation system and sprawled land use patterns in the U.S., while Chinese and European cities tend to have the best overall accessibility due to their combination of compact development and intensive transport network.

Transit Impact Categories

This section describes various types of transit impacts (benefits and costs), and how they can be measured. For additional information on these impacts see Litman (2009), Glen Weisbrod, et al. (2017); Severen (2020); and the Transit Costs Website (<u>https://transitcosts.com</u>).

Transit Expenditures

Most direct transit service costs can be obtained from transit agency budgets. The table below summarizes U.S. transit service expenses and revenues. Detailed information is available on individual transit agencies. Expenses are divided into *capital* (facilities, equipment and other durable goods) and *operation* (labor, fuel and maintenance). Some costs, such as lots, special roadway facilities such as bus pullouts, and increased road maintenance due to bus traffic may be borne by other government agencies.

	Bus	Trolley Bus	Heavy Rail	Commuter Rail	Demand Response	Light Rail	Other	Totals
Capital Expenses (m)	\$3,028	\$188	\$4,564	\$2,371	\$173	\$1,723	\$253	\$12,301
Operating Expenses (m)	\$12,586	\$187	\$4,268	\$2,995	\$1,636	\$778	\$457	\$22,905
Total Expenses (m)	\$15,613	\$374	\$8,832	\$5,366	\$1,809	\$2,502	\$710	\$35,206
Average Fare Per Trip	\$0.71	\$0.51	\$0.93	\$3.50	\$2.34	\$0.67	\$1.14	\$0.92
Fare Revenues (m)	\$3,731	\$60	\$2,493	\$1,449	\$185	\$226	\$132	\$8,275
Subsidy (Total Exp Fares)	\$11,882	\$315	\$6,339	\$3,917	\$1,624	\$2,276	\$577	\$26,931
Vehicle Revenue Miles (m)	1,864	13	604	259	525	60	102	3,427
Passenger Miles (m)	19,527	188	13,663	9,450	651	1,432	1,034	45,944
Avg. Veh. Occupancy	10.5	14.1	22.6	36.5	1.2	23.9	10.1	13.4
Avg. Trip Distance (miles)	2.8	8.7	4.5	1.6	0.2	5.6	1.1	2.6
Unlinked Trips (m)	5,268	116	2,688	414	79	337	116	9,017
Total Expend. Per Pass. Mile	\$0.80	\$1.99	\$0.65	\$0.57	\$2.78	\$1.75	\$0.69	\$0.77
Fare Rev. Per Pass. Mile	\$0.19	\$0.32	\$0.18	\$0.15	\$0.28	\$0.16	\$0.13	\$0.18
Subsidy Per Pass. Mile	\$0.61	\$1.68	\$0.46	\$0.41	\$2.50	\$1.59	\$0.56	\$0.59
Percent Subsidy	76%	84%	72%	73%	90%	91%	81%	76%

Table 112002 U.S. Public Transit Expenses and Revenues (APTA 2003)

m=million

Costs and revenues often vary significantly within a particular system, line or route. Various methods can be used to calculate the marginal cost of a particular trip (Taylor, Iseki and Garrett 2000). Urban-peak travel tends to have higher costs and higher load factors, and so tends to have greater cost recovery (lower subsidies) per passenger-mile compared with off-peak and suburban/rural transit service. Transit improvement costs can vary widely depending on conditions, such as whether rights-of-way already exist, and the type of facilities and vehicles needed.

Measuring Transit Service Costs

Transit service costs can usually be obtained from transit agencies. The *Transit Costs Website* (<u>https://transitcosts.com</u>) provides standardized construction costs for hundreds of urban rail projects in more than 50 countries, accounting for factors such as amount of tunneling. Costs for specific transit programs and projects require analysis of the particular situation. For comparison it is usually helpful to calculate costs per passenger-mile or passenger-trip.

Impacts on Existing Transit Users

It is important to take into account impacts on existing users when evaluating changes in transit service and fares. This refers to trips that would be made by transit regardless of whether a new program or policy is implemented – additional transit trips made by existing users are considered in the *mobility benefits* section below.

Measuring Existing User Impacts

Financial impacts on existing users can be measured directly. For example, a new \$25 per month transit subsidy provided to 100 current transit commuters represents a \$30,000 annual benefit to that group. A 25¢ fare increase that applies to 1,000,000 annual fares represents an annual cost of \$250,000 to existing riders.

Some service quality changes can be quantified by adjusting travel time values ("Travel Time Costs," Litman 2009). Travel time is generally valued at half average wage rates, and two or three times higher for time spent driving in congestion, walking to a transit stop, waiting for a bus, or traveling in unpleasant conditions such as in a crowded vehicle, as discussed later in this report. A value of about \$8 per hour is appropriate for transit passengers who are comfortable, and a higher value of \$16 per hour is appropriate for time spent walking, waiting or riding in a crowded transit vehicle.

When public transit service if convenient and comfortable, with pleasant stops and stations, uncrowded vehicles with comfortable seats, reliable service, it is less stressful and more enjoyable than automobile travel (Legrain, Eluru and El-Geneidy 2015). As a result, improving passenger comfort reduces travel time unit costs. For example, a bus priority strategy that saves transit riders 10,000 hours annually in travel time can be valued at \$80,000 if all passengers have a seat, or \$120,000 if half of those passengers are standees for whom travel time savings values are doubled. Similarly, benefits to existing users of increased transit frequency or coverage can be calculated based on their reduced average walking and waiting time.

A service improvement that increases rider comfort, such as reducing crowding, can also be valued by reducing the cost per hour of passenger travel time. For example, if a transit service improvement reduces crowding for 5,000 passenger-hours, the benefit to these riders can be considered worth \$40,000, because it eliminates the travel time cost premium associated with uncomfortable conditions, reducing travel time costs from \$16 to \$8 per hour.

Of course, these values should be calibrated and adjusted to reflect specific conditions, taking into account local wages and preferences, or to be consistent with other analysis models. Other service quality impacts may require more research to measure. For example, to quantify the value to existing users of improved use information or rider security it may be necessary to survey riders to determine how many are affected (the number who use a new information service or travel on vehicles with improved security) and the value they place on such improvements.

Mobility Benefits

Mobility benefits result from additional personal travel that would not otherwise occur, particularly by people who are *transportation disadvantaged*, that is, they cannot drive due to physical, economic or social constraints.

In most affluent communities public transit currently serves a relatively small portion of total trips, but the trips it serves tend to be high value to users and society. Transit provides *basic mobility* by helping people reach important activities such as medical services, education and employment. This is particularly true of Demand Response service riders, who have moderate to severe disabilities that limit their mobility, and often are unable to use other travel options, such as walking, cycling or conventional taxis. Because users have few alternatives, Nguyen-Hoanga and Yeung (2010) find that paratransit service benefits far exceed their costs. Demand for such services, and therefore the benefits of providing public transit, tends to increase as the number of seniors, people with disabilities, and low income households increases in a community.

Transit is an important travel mode for low- and middle-income non-drivers. For example, a household earning \$20,000 annual income typically spends about \$2,500 per year on transport. On this budget, a non-driver in a community with no transit service can only afford about five taxi trips per week (resulting in an inferior level of mobility). A non-driver who lives in a community with good transit service can purchase a monthly transit pass and still afford two or three taxi trips per week, providing a relatively high level of mobility, although still inferior to a motorist.

Several categories of mobility benefits are described below. Some of these categories may overlap. They tend to differ in their nature and distribution (who benefits), and so reflect different perspectives. For example, *user benefits* tend to interest residents and *public service support* interests public officials.

User Benefits

This refers to direct benefits to users from improved convenience and comfort (for example, from more frequent and less crowded services, or nicer stations), and increased access to services and activities, including medical services, economic benefits from schooling and employment, enjoyment from being able to attend social and recreational activities, and financial savings from being able to shop at a wider range of stores. By improving access to education and jobs transit can increase people's economic opportunities.

People living near public transit service tend to work more days each year than those who lack such access (Sanchez 1999; Yi 2006), and many transit commuters report that they would be unable to continue at their current jobs or would earn less if transit services were unavailable (Crain & Associates 1999). Similarly, a significant portion of students depend on public transit for commuting to schools and colleges, so a reduction in transit services can reduce their future productivity. A survey of adults with disabilities actively seeking work found 39% considered inadequate transport a barrier to employment (Fowkes, Oxley and Henser 1994). Increased employment by such groups provides direct benefits to users and increases overall productivity. Economic benefits to businesses are discussed in the Productivity Benefits section.

Public Service Support

Transit can support government agency activities and reduce their costs. For example, without transit services some people are unable to reach medical services, sometimes resulting in more acute and expensive medical problems. Transit services can help reduce welfare dependency and unemployment (Multisystems, et al. 2000). Transit access can affect elderly and disabled people's ability to live independently, which can reduce care facility costs. As a result, a portion of public transit subsidies may be offset by savings in other government budgets.

Equity Benefits

Transit helps achieve community equity objectives. It increases economic and social opportunities for people who are economically, physically and socially disadvantaged, and helps achieve equity objectives, such as helping physically and economically disadvantaged people access public services, education and employment opportunities (Allen 2008; CTS 2010). Transit helps reduce the relative degree that non-drivers are disadvantaged compared with motorists.

Option Value

Transit services provide *option value*, referring to the value people place on having a transport option available even if they do not currently use it. Transit can provide basic mobility during personal and community-wide emergencies such mechanical failures or disasters.

Measuring Mobility Benefits

Improving passenger convenience and comfort, for example, from more frequent service, reduced crowding or nicer vehicles and waiting areas, can provide travel time savings. Even if the amount of time passengers spend travelling does not decline, unit travel time costs (cents per minute or dollars per hour) can decline significantly (Douglas 2021; Litman 2008a and 2008b). For example, passenger travel time unit costs can increase as much as 2.5 times in very crowded vehicle (6 standing-passengers/m2) compared with uncrowded vehicles.

Transit improvements can help achieve social equity goals by ensuring that non-drivers receive a fair share of public infrastructure investments, providing basic mobility and economic opportunity to disadvantaged groups, reducing external costs (infrastructure subsidies, congestion delays, traffic risk and pollution damages) that motor vehicle travel imposes on other people (Litman 2022).

Transit mobility benefits tend to be particularly important to people who cannot or should not drive, including people with disabilities, seniors and youths. The value to users of increased mobility resulting from price changes (fare reductions or discounts, parking cash-out, etc.) can be calculated using the "rule of half," which involves multiplying half the price change times the number of trips that increase or decrease, which represents the midpoint between the old price and the new price, and therefore the average incremental value of those trips (Small 1999). For example, if a 50¢ fare discount increases transit ridership by 10,000 trips, the users value these additional trips is estimated at \$2,500 (10,000 x $50¢ x \frac{1}{2}$). The maximum value to users is their savings relative to the same trips by taxi. Cheaper alternatives are sometimes available, such as walking, cycling, ridesharing or telecommuting, so actual average savings are probably about half taxi savings, assuming a linear curve of alternative travel option costs. Transit fares average about 15¢ per passenger-mile, while local taxi service costs average about \$2.25 per vehicle-mile, net benefits would average \$1.00 per passenger-mile.

Demand response services tend to provide significantly greater mobility benefits because users face greater transportation constraints, and alternatives options tend to be more costly. Many demand response clients are unable to walk, and some cannot be accommodated by conventional taxis because they have large mechanical wheelchairs or other special needs. As a result, mobility benefits can be doubled or tripled when evaluating demand response services.

Transit passengers who shift from current routes to new routes can be assumed to benefit from increased convenience and time savings, typically from reduced walking. This can be calculated from user surveys or estimated at \$1-3 value of travel time savings per trip, assuming 5-10 minute average time savings per trip. Leigh, Scott and Cleary (1999) developed a method to quantify a community's *mobility gap*, defined as the additional transit service required for zero-vehicle households to have mobility comparable to vehicle-owning households. This is a lower-bound estimate because it does not account for unmet mobility needs of non-drivers in vehicle-owning households. Only about a third of transit needs are currently being met in typical areas they evaluated, indicating a level of service (LOS) rating D (Table 13). The approach can be used to predict the LOS rating that will occur under various transit planning and investment scenarios.

Portion of Demand Met	Transit Level-Of-Service
90% or more	А
85-89%	В
50-74%	С
25-49%	D
10-24%	E
Less than 10%	F

Table 12Transit Level Of Service Ratings (Leigh, Scott & Cleary 1999, p. VIII-3)

MacDonald (2013) developed a method of valuing transit trips, and the social costs of reduced transit services that would reduce non-drivers' mobility. EcoNorthwest and PBQD (2002) describe methods of calculating option value based on consumers' willingness to pay to maintain infrequently used mobility options. This involves assigning an additional value to each transit trip made by infrequent users, taking into account the cost to consumers of each trip, the volatility of demand and the expected frequency of such trips. In typical conditions this is valued at \$1-10 annual per resident who expects to use transit a few times each year. Stanley, et al. (2011) identify five social exclusion risk factors, including income, employment, political engagement, participation in selected activities, and social support. Applying this analysis in Melbourne, Australia they find that residents aged over 15 average 3.8 daily trips (all modes), but as the number of social exclusion risk factors increase, trip rates decline reduce: people with 2 or more risk factors go down to about 2.8 trips per day or lower. The difference between 2.8 and 3.8 daily trips represents a major decline in community involvement. Porter, et al. (2015) define and evaluate various benefits from improving mobility for non-drivers including improved access to education and employment, and therefore increased economic productivity, plus improved healthcare access, and resulting reductions in the costs of providing public services.

The researchers estimate the marginal rate of substitution between household income and trip making, taking into account social exclusion factors. An additional trip is considered equivalent to undertaking an additional activity. This analysis indicates that an additional trip (an additional activity) is valued at approximately \$20 for an average income resident. Even higher values are

accorded to additional trip making by lower income households. This \$20 value is about four times the value ascribed to such trips using traditional economic evaluation (what economists would call the generated traffic benefit, measured using the "rule-of-a-half").

By improving affordable mobility options for physically, economically and socially disadvantaged people, high quality public transit tends to increase economic opportunity (access to education, employment, affordable goods and essential services) and economic residence (ability to respond effectively to unexpected economic stresses, such as reduced incomes or new financial burdens). Recent studies indicate that households in transit-oriented areas have lower mortgage foreclosure rates, indicating better economic resilience (Gilderbloom, Riggs and Meares 2015; Glaeser, Kahn and Rappaport 2008; Won, Lee and Li 2017; Welch, Gehrke and Farber 2018).

The table below summarizes the four categories of transit mobility benefits and describes how they can be measured. Mobility benefits are affected by the degree to which transit service is available to those who need it and the additional mobility it provides. For example, a transit improvement that increases the number of households and worksites within a quarter-mile of bus service, or which increases the number of trips made by people with disabilities or low incomes, can be considered to increase mobility benefits. These benefits sometimes overlap; for example, some user and public service benefits can also be counted as equity benefits.

Category	Description	How To Measured
User Benefits	Direct user benefits from the additional mobility provided by public transit.	Rider surveys to determine the degree that users depend on transit, the types of trips they make, and the value they place on this mobility.
Public Service Support	Supports public services and reduces government agency costs.	Consultation with public agency officials, and surveys of clients, to determine the role transit provides in supporting public service goals.
Increased productivity	Increased education and employment participation by non-drivers.	Survey transit users to determine the portion that rely on transit for education and employment.
Reduced high risk drivers	Inadequate travel options force high risk motorists to drive, and prevents society from revoking driving privileges.	Survey experts and the public to determine whether inadequate travel options are increasing the amount of high risk driving.
Equity	Degree to which transit helps achieve equity objectives such as basic mobility for physically, economically and socially disadvantaged people.	Portion of transit users who are economically, socially or physically disadvantaged, the importance of mobility in ameliorating these inequities, and the value that society places on increased equity.
Option Value	The value of having an option for possible future use.	Transit service quality. The value society places on basic mobility. EcoNorthwest and PBQD (2002) describe ways to quantify transit option value.

Table 13 Categories of Basic Mobility Benefits

Public transit provides several types of mobility benefits. These are affected by the degree that transit service is available to non-drivers, and the amount of increased mobility it provides.

Efficiency Benefits

Efficiency benefits consist of savings and other benefits that result when transit substitutes for automobile travel. These include vehicle cost savings, avoided chauffeuring, congestion reductions, parking cost savings, increased safety and health, energy conservation and pollution emission reductions.

These benefits are affected by the magnitude and type of automobile travel reduced. For example, urban-peak automobile travel reductions tend to provide greater benefits than reductions in urban off-peak or rural travel, due to greater reductions in traffic congestion, parking costs and other costs. As a city grows, these benefits become increasingly important as a cost effective way to reduce traffic congestion and parking problems, particularly to major commercial and employment centers such as downtown. These benefits increase if transit improvements and incentives are designed to attract discretionary riders (people who have the option of driving).

Except in large cities, most transit systems are designed primarily to provide basic mobility rather than efficiency benefits. Buses operate at times and locations where demand is low, and there are few incentives to attract discretionary travelers to transit. As a result, average occupancy is relatively low, averaging about 5.2 passengers per bus-mile (excluding demand response services), and so may appear inefficient when evaluated based on average operating costs, energy consumption or pollution emissions per passenger-mile. But transit demand tends to be concentrated on the corridors with the greatest traffic congestion and parking problems, so transit can provide benefits in these areas. The incremental cost of accommodating additional passengers is low, so strategies which increase average transit vehicle occupancy increase efficiency benefits. Put differently, if buses have empty seats, there is minimal cost and large potential benefits if they can be filled by travelers who would otherwise drive.

The efficiency benefits of transit improvements reflect the factors described below.

- Strategies that increase bus mileage on routes with low load factors (for example, increasing mileage on suburban and off-peak routes) may increase some costs, such as total energy consumption and pollution emissions.
- Strategies that shift travel from automobile to transit while increasing average vehicle occupancies (that is, they help fill otherwise empty buses) tend to reduce overall costs.
- Strategies that improve transit vehicle performance (for example, retrofitting older diesel buses with cleaner engines or alternative fuels, or creating busways that reduce congestion delays) tend to reduce specific costs.
- Strategies that create more accessible land use patterns and less automobile-dependent transportation systems, provide large benefits by reducing overall per capita vehicle travel.

Specific efficiency benefits and how they can be measured are discussed below.

Vehicle Cost Savings

Automobile to transit shifts provide vehicle cost savings to consumers. The magnitude of these savings depends on factors such as the type of mileage reduced and whether vehicle ownership declines ("Vehicle Costs," Litman 2009; Polzin, Chu and Raman 2008).

At a minimum, shifting from driving to transit saves fuel and oil, which typically total about 10¢ per vehicle-mile reduced. In addition, depreciation, insurance and parking costs are partly variable, since increased driving increases the frequency of vehicle repairs and replacement, reduces vehicle resale value, and increases the risks of crashes, traffic and parking citations. These additional mileage-related costs typically average 10-15¢ per mile, so cost savings total 20-25¢ per vehicle-mile reduced. Savings may be greater under congested conditions, or where transit users avoid parking fees or road tolls. Households save more if transit allows vehicle ownership reductions. For example, if improved transit services allow 10% of users to reduce their household vehicle ownership (e.g., from two vehicles to one), the savings average \$300 annually per user (assuming a second car has \$3,000 annual ownership costs) in addition to operating cost savings. Reduced vehicle ownership can reduce residential parking costs. Cumulative savings can be large. Litman (2004) found annual transportation cost savings of about \$1,300 per household in cities with well-established rail transit systems.

By creating communities where households can own fewer cars and drive less, high quality transit and Transit Oriented Development tend to significantly reduce the portion of household budgets devoted to transportation, increasing affordability, as indicated in Figure 3. An average household in a transit-oriented community saves thousands of dollars annually in transportation costs, and the affordability benefits can be even larger than these statistics indicate because many households own more vehicles and spend more on transportation than is functionally necessary, for recreation and status sake. By improving affordable mobility options, TOD allow households to save money when needed, for example if they lose income or incur unexpected expenses, options that are infeasible in automobile-dependent areas.



Figure 8 Transportation Spending Versus Transit Mode Share

Measuring Vehicle Cost Savings

Table 15 summarizes various categories of savings that can result from reduced automobile ownership and use. These savings typically total 30¢ per off-peak vehicle-mile and 40¢ per urban-peak vehicle-mile when automobile travel shifts to public transit. Other researchers recommend using 40-50¢ per vehicle mile reduced (ECONorthwest and PBQD 2002). Even greater savings result if transit oriented development allows households to reduce their vehicle ownership (Polzin, Chu and Raman 2008).

	rotential venicle cost Savings (venicle costs, vn r 2003)		
Category	Description	How It Can Be Measured	Typical Values
Vehicle			10-15¢ per vehicle-
Operating Costs		Per-mile costs times mileage	mile. Higher under
	Fuel, oil and tire wear.	reduced.	congested conditions.
Long-Term	Mileage-related depreciation,		
Mileage-Related	mileage lease fees, user costs	Per-mile costs times mileage	
Costs	from crashes and tickets.	reduced.	10¢ per vehicle-mile.
Special Costs	Tolls, parking fees, Parking		
	Cash Out, PAYD insurance.	Specific market conditions.	Varies.
Vehicle	Reductions in fixed vehicle	Reduced vehicle ownership	\$3,000 per vehicle-
Ownership	costs.	times vehicle ownership costs.	year.
Residential	Reductions in residential	Reduced vehicle ownership	
Parking	parking costs due to reduced	times savings per reduced	\$100-1,200 per vehicle-
	vehicle ownership.	residential parking space.	year.

Table 14	Potential Vehicle Cost Savings ("Vehicle Costs." VTPI 2003)

Reducing automobile travel can provide a variety of consumer savings. (2001 U.S. dollars).

Avoided Chauffeuring

Chauffeuring refers to additional automobile travel specifically to carry a passenger. It can also include taxi trips. It excludes ridesharing, which means additional passengers in a vehicle that would be making a trip anyway. Some motorists spend a significant amount of time chauffeuring children to school and sports activities, family members to jobs, and elderly relatives on errands. Such trips can be particularly inefficient if they require drivers to make an empty return trip, so a five-mile passenger trip produces ten miles of total vehicle travel (Litman 2015a).

Drivers sometimes enjoy chauffeuring, for example, when it gives busy family members or friends time to visit. However, chauffeuring can be an undesirable burden, for example, when it conflict with other important activities. Transit service allows drivers to avoid undesirable chauffeuring trips while still providing enjoyable trips.

Measuring Chauffeuring Cost Savings

This benefit can be estimated based on the number of chauffeured automobile trips shifted to transit, times vehicle cost and driver travel time savings. Rider surveys and experience with service disruptions indicate that in typical conditions, 10-40% of transit trips would otherwise be made as automobile passengers (FTA 2002), and about half of these are rideshare trips (passengers in vehicles that would be making the trip anyway), meaning that 5-20% of transit trips substitute for chauffeured trips. Travel and rider surveys can help determine the portion of such trips in a particular situation.

Assuming these average 5 miles in length per trip and take 20 minutes (including waiting time and empty backhauls), travel time costs average \$12.00 per driver hour (assuming a mixture of high- and low-stress driving conditions), driver travel time savings are about \$4.00 per chauffeured trip avoided or 80¢ per passenger-mile shifted to transit, including 25¢ per mile vehicle costs total \$5.25 per trip, or \$1.05 per chauffeured vehicle-mile. Avoided taxi trips cost savings can be based on average taxi fares for those trips, which average about \$2.25 per mile.

Congestion Reduction

Traffic congestion consists of the incremental delay, stress, vehicle operating costs and pollution that each additional vehicle imposes on other road users. A typical urban street lane can accommodate up to 500-1,000 vehicles per hour, and a typical highway lane up to 1,800-2,300 vehicles per hour. Congestion develops when traffic volumes approach these limits. Once roads reach capacity even small traffic reductions can significantly reduce delays. For example, reducing traffic volumes from 90% to 85% of maximum road capacity can reduce delay by 20% or more ("Congestion Costs," Litman 2009).

Congestion reduction benefits can be difficult to evaluate because urban traffic tends to maintain equilibrium: traffic volumes grow until congestion delay discourages additional peakperiod trips. As a result, the road space created by roadway expansions or marginal shifts from driving to transit is often soon be filled with latent demand. However, transit service improvements can reduce the point of equilibrium, reducing total congestion delays, as discussed in the box on the following page. Transit services are most effective at reducing congestion if they:

- Offer high quality service (relatively convenient, fast, frequent and comfortable) that is attractive to discretionary travelers (who would otherwise drive).
- Serve a major share of major urban corridors and destinations.
- Be grade separated (with bus lanes or separated rail lines), so transit travel is relatively fast compared with driving under congested conditions.
- Be relatively affordable.

Care is needed to accurately evaluate transit congestion impacts (Aftabuzzaman, Currie and Sarvi 2010 and 2011; Anderson 2013; Litman 2009; Nguyen-Phuoc, et al. 2020). Indicators such as *roadway level-of-service* or a *travel time index* measure roadway congestion *intensity*, but fail to account for factors that affect congestion exposure, the amount that people must drive during peak periods (Cortright 2010). Congestion intensity indicators are appropriate for making short-term decisions, such as how to make an urban-peak trip, but planning decisions should be evaluated based on *per capita congestion costs* (Litman 2014b). Congestion analysis is complicated by confounding factors: congestion and transit ridership both tend to increase with city size, density, transit service quality and employment rates (year-to-year, traffic congestion and transit ridership tend to increase with a business cycle). Analyses that fail to account for these factors cannot accurately indicate that public transit service improvements can reduce traffic congestion intensity and costs (Nelson\Nygaard 2006).

Most congestion cost studies ignore non-motorized travel impacts (called the *barrier effect* or *severance*, Litman 2009) although they can be significant since urban streets often have as many pedestrians and cyclists as motorists. This suggests that transit improvements that reduce vehicle traffic volumes provide additional benefits by improving pedestrian mobility and safety.

How Public Transit Reduces Traffic Congestion (Litman 2014a)

Urban traffic congestion tends to maintain equilibrium: it grows to the point that delays discourage additional peak-period vehicle trips. If congestion increases, some travelers change mode, time, route, or destination to avoid delay, and if it declines they drive more under urban-peak conditions. Reducing the point of equilibrium is the only way to reduce long-term congestion. The quality of travel options affects this : If alternatives are inferior, fewer motorists will shift mode resulting in a higher equilibrium; if alternatives are attractive, motorists are more likely to shift modes, reducing the point of equilibrium and congestion intensity. Improving travel options can therefore increase travel speeds for all road users.

To attract discretionary riders (travelers who have the option of driving), transit must be fast, comfortable, convenient and affordable. Grade-separated service (such as rail on separate right-of-way or busways) provides a speed advantage that can attract discretionary riders. When transit is faster than driving, a portion of travelers shift mode until the highway reaches a new equilibrium, that is, until congestion declines to the point that transit is no longer faster. As a result, the faster the transit service the faster the traffic speeds on parallel highways. Studies find that door-to-door travel times for motorists tend to converge with those of grade-separated transit (Mogridge 1990). The actual number of motorists who shift to transit may be relatively small, but is enough to reduce delays. Congestion never disappears, but is not as bad as would occur if grade-separated transit service did not exist.

Shifting traffic from automobile to transit on a particular highway not only reduces congestion on that facility, it also reduces vehicle traffic discharged onto surface streets, providing "downstream" congestion reduction benefits. For example, when comparing a highway widening with transit improvements, the analysis should account for the additional surface street traffic caused by the highway expansion that would be avoided if the same travelers arrive by public transit.

As cities grow, transit and ridesharing play an increasingly important role in providing mobility and reducing congestion and parking problems, as illustrated below.



Figure 9 Urbanization Impacts on Transit Use

When roadways approach their maximum traffic capacity, transit and ridesharing carry an increasing portion of persontrips. In major commercial centers, a significant portion of peak-period travels use transit, vanpools or carpools.

Because transit serves congested urban corridors, can have relatively large congestion reduction impacts. For example, although only 11% of Los Angeles commutes use transit, when a strike halted transit service for five weeks, average highway congestion delay increased 47%, and regional congestion costs increased 11% to 38% (Anderson 2013), with particularly large speed reductions on rail transit corridors (Lo and Hall 2006), indicating that higher quality, grade-separated service is particularly effective at reducing congestion.

Adler and van Ommeren (2016) analyzed the impacts of citywide public transit strikes in Rotterdam, in The Netherlands. They found that a strike causes only marginal weekday congestion increases on the highway ring road (0.017 minutes per kilometer) but substantially on inner city roads (0.224 minutes per kilometer) with larger impacts during rush hour and virtually no impacts on weekends. They calculate that public transit's congestion relief benefit is equivalent to about half of its subsidy.

Similarly, research by Laval, Cassidy and Herrera (2004) indicates that a disruption of the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) system would cause severe traffic problems on area roads. Without BART service, Bay Bridge congestion would create morning backups stretching 26 miles with 9 miles per hour speeds, and afternoon backups stretching 31 miles with 11 miles per hour speeds. "We found that the peak morning rush hour will go from two hours starting at 7 a.m. to a staggering seven hours, so half the workday would be gone by the time drivers step out of their cars," said coauthor Michael Cassidy.

Aftabuzzaman, Currie and Sarvi (2010 and 2011) also analyze the role that public transit can play in reducing roadway traffic congestion. Using factor analysis they identify and quantify three ways that high quality public transit reduces traffic congestion: (1) transit-oriented factor, (2) car-deterrence factor, and (3) urban-form factor. Regression analysis indicates that the cardeterrence factor makes the greatest contribution to reducing traffic congestion, followed by transit-oriented factor and urban-form factor. They conclude that high quality public transit provides \$0.044 to \$1.51 worth of congestion cost reduction (Aus\$2008) per marginal transitvehicle km of travel, with an average of 45¢, with higher values for circumstances with greater degrees of traffic congestion, and if both travel time and vehicle operating costs are considered.

Ewing, Tian and Spain (2014) investigated the effects that Salt Lake City's University TRAX lightrail system has on vehicle traffic on parallel roadways. This rail system began operating in 2001 and expanded over the following decades with new lines and stations. It currently carries about 53,000 average daily passengers. The study found significant declines in roadway traffic after the LRT line was completed, despite significant development in the area. The study estimates that the LRT line reduced daily vehicle traffic on the study corridor about 50%, from 44,000 (if the line did not exist) to 22,300 (what currently actually occurs).

The Texas Transportation Institute (TTI) *Urban Mobility Reports* estimate the congestion reductions provided by public transit, based on the estimated increase in urban-peak traffic volumes that would occur if current transit trips shifted to automobile travel. Harford (2006) used data from the TTI reports to estimate the monetized value of transit congestion reductions, plus pollution reductions and user consumer surplus gains; he estimated that these benefits provide a benefit–cost ratio of 1.34, with lower values in smaller urban areas and higher values in larger urban areas.
Nelson, et al (2006) used a regional transport model to estimate Washington DC transit system benefits to users, and congestion-reduction benefits to motorists. They found that rail transit generates congestion-reduction benefits that exceed rail subsidies, and the combined benefits of rail and bus transit significantly exceeds total transit subsidies. Their study overlooked other benefits such as parking cost savings, crash and emission reduction benefits, and so understates total social benefits. Similarly, Garrett (2004) found evidence that transit slowed the growth in roadway congestion in some U.S. cities after they established light rail systems. Although all experienced congestion growth between 1980 and 2000, this growth tended to decline after the light rail systems started operation. For example, in Baltimore the roadway congestion index increased on average 2.8% annually before light rail service started in 1992, but only 1.5% after; Sacramento's congestion increased 4.5% annually before and 2.2% after light rail service started in 1987; St. Louis congestion increased 0.89% before and 0.86% after light rail service started in 1993; and Dallas experienced no change after rail service started in 1996.

Congestion pricing (road tolls that are higher during congested periods) effectiveness tend to increase with transit service quality. One major study found the elasticity of Seattle-area home-to-work vehicle trips to be approximately -0.04 (a 10% price increase causes automobile commute trips to decline 0.4%), but increased four-fold to -0.16 (a 10% price increase causes automobile commute trips to decline 1.6%) for workers with the 10% best transit service (PSRC 2008). Another study found that, given financial incentives to reduce driving, households in denser transit-accessible neighborhoods reduced their peak-hour and overall travel significantly more than comparable households in automobile dependent suburbs, and that congestion pricing increase the value of more accessible and multi-modal locations (Guo, et al. 2011). These indicate that high quality public transit service significantly reduces the price (road toll or parking fee) required to achieve congestion reductions, a reflection the smaller incremental cost to travelers (less consumer surplus loss) when they shift from driving to high quality public transit, and a direct financially benefit to motorists on roadways with congestion pricing.

Winston and Langer (2004) found that both motorist and truck congestion costs in a city decline as rail transit expands, but congestion costs increase with bus transit mileage, apparently because buses are less effective at attracting motorists, contribute to congestion, and do little to increase land use accessibility. Other studies indicate that busways (as opposed to buses operating in mixed traffic) can reduce congestion on parallel roadways. Liu (2005) found that after the San Fernando Valley Orange Line busway began operation in 2005, peak-hour traffic speeds on the 101 Freeway increased about 7% (from 43 to 46 average miles-per-hour), morning traffic speeds below 35 mph declined about 14%, and daily freeway congestion began about 11 minutes later on average (shifting from 6:55 a.m. to 7:06 a.m. on average).

Highway and transit improvements provide congestion reduction benefits at different rates of time (Figure 5). If travel demand is growing and no action is taken, congestion will increase until it limits further peak-period vehicle trips. Adding a general traffic lane increases congestion during the construction period, then congestion decline significantly, but traffic grows over time so congestion eventually returns to its previous level. Grade-separated transit may initially seem to provide little congestion reduction, but roadway congestion increases much less than would otherwise occur because increased highway delays makes transit faster than driving and so attracts an increasing portion of travelers. Although roadway congestion never disappears, it never gets as bad as would otherwise occur. As a result, shorter-term analysis tends to favor roadway expansion, while longer-term analysis tends to favor transit improvements.



Figure 10 Road Widening Versus Transit Congestion Impacts

After a general traffic lane is completed congestion declines, but grows rapidly due to generated traffic. Grade separated transit and HOV systems initially provide less congestion reduction, but their benefits increase as roadway congestion grows, so they become relatively faster.

Critics sometimes argue that, because public transit travel tends to be slower than automobile travel, travelers who shift from driving to alternative modes are worse off. However, overlooks important factors to consider when comparing travel speeds. Average speeds are irrelevant, what matters is their travel speeds on a particular corridor. Automobile speeds tend to be lower and commute travel times longer in large cities where transit (particularly rail transit) is most common. Although transit service may be relatively infrequent and slow to some destinations, it tends to be more frequent, and if grade-separated, relatively fast, on the congested urban corridors where transit commuting is most common.

Even if transit travel takes more time than driving, travelers may not consider this an additional cost if it is less stressful than driving. High-quality (safe, clean, comfortable and reliable) transit allows passengers to read, work and rest, so their unit costs are relatively low (Douglas 2021; Litman 2008a and 2008b). If quality transit is available, travelers will select the mode that best meets their needs and preferences (Wener, Evans and Boately 2004). This maximizes transport system efficiency (since shifts to transit reduce congestion) and consumer benefits (since consumers can choose the option they prefer).

Measuring Vehicle Congestion Reduction Benefits

There are several ways to measure congestion reduction benefits that result from reduced vehicle traffic (TRB 1997). One approach is to model total passenger travel time with and without a transit program, and calculate the travel time and vehicle operating cost savings (ECONorthwest and PBQD 2002). The Texas Transportation Institute uses a similar method to calculate congestion reduction value of transit (TTI 2003). Another approach is to calculate the costs of increasing roadway capacity to achieve a given congestion reduction, and divide that by the number of peak-period vehicle-miles. These methods require modeling each option, and current transportation models are often not very accurate at predicting the travel impacts of a transit project.

An easier approach is to assign a dollar value to reduced vehicle travel, usually estimated at 10-30¢ per urban-peak vehicle-mile, and more under highly congested conditions ("Congestion

Costs," Litman 2009; Aftabuzzaman, Currie and Sarvi 2010). Congestion benefits should reflect net impacts, that is, the reduction in automobile trips minus any additional transit impacts. Under typical conditions buses impose congestion costs equivalent to 1.5 cars on highway and 4.5 cars on surface streets, so net benefits occur when more than about three trips shift from automobile to transit. For example, if a bus carries 16 passengers under urban-peak conditions, and 8 of the passengers would otherwise travel by automobile (either driving themselves or chauffeured), the congestion reduction benefit is (8-3) x \$0.25 = \$1.25 per vehicle-mile.

Where transit provides significant travel time savings compared with driving on parallel highways (for example, with grade-separated rail transit or busways) it is possible to calculate the resulting reduction in congestion delays. For example, if average door-to-door travel times by automobile are 30-minutes per peak-period trip, and a proposed transit service will provide 25-minute average trip times, the transit service can be expected to reduce average travel times by approximately 5-minutes per trip for all users. Travel time cost values can be applied ("Travel Time Costs," Litman, 2003; Aftabuzzaman, Currie and Sarvi 2010).

How congestion is measured affects evaluation conclusions. Indicators that measure the *intensity of congestion* (such as roadway Level-of-Service) or the portion of *driving* that occurs under congested conditions, ignore the congestion reduction benefits of travel by alternative modes and more accessible land use. These indicators imply that congestion declines if uncongested vehicle-mileage increases. Congestion impact evaluation also depends on the scale of analysis. For example, transit oriented development may increase local congestion (within a few blocks), because it increases neighborhood density, but regional congestion can decline due to less traffic between neighborhoods. Indicators of *per-capita* congestion costs recognize the congestion in terms of roadway level-of-service, and failing to consider the effects of generated traffic tends to exaggerate the congestion reduction benefits of urban roadway capacity expansion, since within a few years latent demand fills much of the added capacity (Litman 2001).

A particular transit improvement may avoid the need for a specific highway project, in which case congestion reduction benefits can be calculated based on facility cost savings. For example, if roadway capacity expansion costs average \$3.5 million per lane-mile, which can carry 2,000 peak-period vehicles, this averages about 37¢ per additional peak-period vehicle-mile (based on a 7% discount rate over 20 years, 255 annual commute days), plus about 3¢ per mile in operations expenses. Transit services that defer or avoid the need to expand road capacity by attracting 1,000 daily peak-period automobile trips on a 5-mile stretch provide \$510,000 annual benefits (40¢ x 1,000 x 5 x 255 days).

Measuring Pedestrian Delay Reduction Benefits

Studies described in "Evaluating Nonmotorized Transport," (VTPI, 2003) and "The Barrier Effect" (Litman, 2003) indicate that barrier effect costs average about 2¢ per urban-peak car-mile, and about 1.3¢ under urban off-peak conditions. As with vehicle congestion, a bus represents about 3 passenger car equivalents.

Combined Vehicle and Pedestrian Congestion Costs

The table below shows the recommended congestion cost values.

Table 15 Recommended Congestion Cost Values (
	Urban Peak	Urban Off-Peak							
Vehicle Congestion Costs	25¢	2.5							
Pedestrian Congestion Costs	2¢	1.3¢							
Total Congestion Costs	27¢	3.8¢							

Table 15 Recommended Congestion Cost Values (Per Vehicle-Mile)

The figure below illustrates the net congestion cost reduction benefits provided by shifts from automobile to bus transit under urban-peak and urban off-peak conditions.

Figure 11 Congestion Reduction Benefits



This figure indicates the net vehicle and pedestrian congestion reduction benefits caused by shifts from automobile to buses under urban-peak and urban off-peak conditions.

Buses typically carry 40-60 passengers under congested conditions (i.e., urban-peak travel in the primary travel direction), and rail transit vehicles even more. Peak period transit service that carries 4,000 passengers an hour on highways or 1,000 passengers an hour on surface streets is approximately equal to one additional traffic lane, assuming that half of transit passengers would otherwise drive an automobile. This equals 20 to 80 buses per hour carrying an average of 50 passengers.

An indication of the congestion reduction benefit of transit is the significant increases in traffic congestion that often occur during transit strikes. For example, a 1974 Los Angeles bus strike caused a 5-15 minute increase in congestion delay on one major freeway, although less than 3% of total regional trips were previously made by transit, and only about half of transit users shifted to driving (ibid).

Even a relatively small shift from driving to grade-separated transit can reduce roadway congestion delays. Comparisons between cities indicates that total traffic congestion delay

tends to be lower in areas with good transit service, even though transit only carries a relatively small portion of total regional passenger travel (STPP, 2001; Litman, 2004a).



Figure 12 Traffic Congestion (Litman 2004a)

In cities that only have bus transit or relatively small rail systems traffic congestion delay tends to increase with city size, as indicated by the dashed curve. But cities with large, well-established rail transit systems do not follow this pattern. They have substantially lower congestion costs compared with comparable size cities. As a result, New York and Chicago have about half the per capita congestion delay as Los Angeles.

Parking Cost Savings

Shifts from automobile to transit travel reduce parking costs. Reduced vehicle ownership reduces residential parking demand (including on-street parking demand in residential areas), and reduced vehicle trips reduce non-residential parking demand, such as commercial parking requirements. This benefit can manifest itself as user cost savings where parking is priced, reduced parking congestion and increased convenience to motorists, and reductions in the need for businesses and governments to subsidize parking facilities. Reduced parking demand can also provide indirect benefits by reducing the amount of land needed for parking facilities, allowing more clustered and infill development. These land use benefits are discussed in more detail in a later chapter.

Parking cost savings can be calculated by multiplying reduced automobile round trips times average cost per parking space. These values will vary depending on conditions. Parking tends to be expensive and in limited supply under urban-peak conditions where shifts from driving to transit are most common, so transit tends to provide significant parking cost savings. In suburban and rural areas, parking may be inexpensive and abundant so there is less short-term benefit. Where parking is priced, parking cost savings go to users rather than businesses. The table below illustrates typical parking facility costs. Park & ride trip savings consist of the difference in parking costs between a park & ride lot and worksites. Transit vehicle parking costs are incorporated into operational expenses. Transit may increase parking costs where bus stops displace on-street parking spaces.

Type of Facility	Land Costs, Per Acre	Annualized Land Cost Per Space	Construction Costs Per Space	Annual Construction Costs	Annual O & M Costs	Total Annual Cost
Suburban, On-Street	\$200,000	\$70	\$3,000	\$262	\$300	\$631
Suburban, Surface	\$200,000	\$159	\$5,000	\$436	\$400	\$994
Suburban, 2-Level Structure	\$200,000	\$79	\$15,000	\$1,308	\$600	\$1,987
Urban, On-Street	\$1,000,000	\$349	\$5,000	\$436	\$400	\$1,185
Urban, Surface	\$1,000,000	\$727	\$10,000	\$872	\$600	\$2,198
Urban, 3-Level Structure	\$1,000,000	\$242	\$25,000	\$2,180	\$800	\$3,222
Urban, Underground	\$1,000,000	\$0	\$30,000	\$2,616	\$1,000	\$3,616
CBD, On-Street	\$5,000,000	\$1,744	\$5,000	\$436	\$500	\$2,680
CBD, Surface	\$5,000,000	\$3,353	\$10,000	\$872	\$800	\$5,025
CBD, 4-Level Structure	\$5,000,000	\$838	\$35,000	\$3,051	\$800	\$4,690
CBD, Underground	\$5,000,000	\$0	\$40,000	\$3,487	\$1,000	\$4,487

Table 16 Typical Parking Facility Costs ("Parking Evaluation," VTPI, 2003)

This table illustrates the costs of providing a parking space under various conditions. Cost recovery prices must be even higher to account for profits and load factors. (CBD = Central Business District.)

If an area has abundant parking supply, reduced driving may provide little short term parking cost savings since the spaces will simply be unoccupied, but over time reduced parking demand usually provides economic benefits by avoiding the need to increase supply or allowing facilities to be leased, sold or converted to other uses. It can also provide environmental and aesthetic benefits by reducing pavement area. Litman (2009) provides guidance for calculating parking cost savings under various conditions.

The table below indicates recommended values for calculating parking cost savings that result when automobile travel shifts to public transit. These costs are measured per round-trip, rather than per vehicle-mile as with most other costs. Dividing these values in half to reflect individual trips, and assuming that most peak-period trips are to urban destination, and off-peak trips tend to be to more suburban destination, default values are \$2.18 per peak trip and \$0.84 per off-peak trip. The higher cost of peak-period trips also reflects the fact that they tend to be commute trips, in which a car would be parked all day, while more off-peak trips are for errands with shorter parking requirements.

	Small City	Medium City	Large City					
Commute Trips	\$3.00	\$6.00	\$9.00					
Other Trips	\$2.00	\$4.00	\$6.00					
Average	\$2.50	\$5.00	\$7.50					

Table 17 Typical Parking Cost Values (Per Round-Trip)

This table reflects estimated average avoided parking costs for a trip shifted from driving to public transit, depending on the destination and trip type.

Safety, Health and Security Impacts

Transit use can affect safety, health and security in various ways (CDC 2010; Devries, et al. 2018; Litman 2015).

Traffic Safety

Transit is a very safe travel mode. Transit passengers have about one-tenth the fatality rate as car occupants, and even considering eternal risks to other travellers transit causes less than half the total deaths per passenger-mile as automobile travel. Since external risk is not affected by transit vehicle occupancy, per mile risk tends to decline as ridership increases.

	Totals	Transit	Auto	Bike	Motorcycle	Walk				
Occupant fatalities	35,978	48	26,408	628	4,286	4,109				
Other road user fatalities		178	9,023	NA	NA	NA				
Personal travel mode share		1.9%	83%	1.0%	1.0%	10.4%				
Personal trips (billions)	392	11	325	2.8	2.8	41				
Average miles per trip		5.5	10	3	10	0.5				
Total miles (billions)	2,976	60	2,645	8.4	22.8	21				
Occupant deaths per billion miles	12.0	0.8	10.0	75	188	196				
Other deaths per billion miles	0.1	3.0	3.4	0	0	0				
Total deaths per billion miles	12.1	3.8	13.4	75	188	196				
Occupant deaths per billion trips	92	4.4	81	224	1,530	100				
Other deaths per billion trips	NA	16	28	NA	NA	NA				
Total deaths per billion trips	92	20.4	109	224	1,530	100				

Tabla 10 b Datas by Made (NUTS and NUTSA data)

This table calculates internal (occupant) and external (other road user) death rates for various modes.

The figures below show per mile and per trip crash rates by mode. More than three-quarters of transit fatalities involve other road users, but even considering these, transit travel had the lowest total death rate.



Crash Rates by Mode (Table 2) Figure 13

Public transit has the lowest total (occupant and external) casualty rate. Auto (cars and light trucks) have moderate crash rates, about a quarter of which is external. Bike and walk have relatively high per mile crash rates, but their trips are short and impose little external risk, so their total per trip death rates are not much higher than driving.

Table 19 U.S. Transit Fatalities (APTA 2001)										
	Bus	Commuter Rail	Demand Response	Heavy Rail	Light Rail	Trolley Bus	Total			
Fatalities (Exclude	es Suicides)									
Patrons	13	2	5	22	2	0	44			
Employees	5	3	8	1	3	0	20			
Other	86	68	3	3	8	1	169			
Totals	104	73	16	26	13	1	233			
		Fata	lity Rate Per	Billion Pass	enger Miles					
Patrons	0.61	0.23	6.15	1.71	1.66	0.00	0.98			
Employees	0.24	0.34	9.84	0.08	2.49	0.00	0.44			
Other	4.06	7.76	3.69	0.23	6.63	5.38	3.75			
Totals	4.90	8.33	19.68	2.02	10.78	5.38	5.17			

The table below compares crash fatality rates for various types of transit.

This table shows crash fatalities and fatality rates for various types of transit in the U.S.

Traffic safety increases much more if transit improvements are a catalyst for more compact, mixed, multimodal "transit-oriented" development, increase road safety (Ewing and Hamidi 2014; Gallivan, et al. 2015; Litman 2016; McGraw, et al. 2021). Relatively small transit ridership gains are associated with proportionately larger reductions in per capita crash rates (Duduta, et al. 2012 and 2014). For example, analyzing 29 years of traffic data for 100 U.S. cities and accounting for confounding factors, Stimpson, et al. (2014) found that a 10% increase in transit mode share is associated with 1.5% reduction in total traffic deaths. Since only about 2% of total person-miles are currently by transit, this means that a 1% increase in transit mode share is associated with a 5% decrease in total (all mode) traffic deaths. The figures below show U.S. and international data indicating declining per capita traffic fatalities with increased transit ridership.





This graph illustrates the relationship between per capita transit ridership and total (including pedestrian, bicyclist, automobile occupant and transit passenger) traffic fatalities for 35 large North American cities.

As transit travel increases, traffic fatalities tend to decline significantly. Cities with more than 50 annual transit trips per capita have about half the average traffic fatality rate as regions with less than 20 annual trips per capita, indicating that relatively modest increases in transit travel are associated with large traffic safety gains.







Truong and Currie's (2019) study of Melbourne, Australia crash rates found that shifts from private vehicle to public transport (i.e. train, tram, and bus) commuting tend to reduce both total crashes and severe injury crashes. They estimate that, holding all other variables (including proportions of commuting by tram, bus, walking, cycling, and motorbike) constant each percentage point increase in the proportion of commuting from a zone by train reduce 2.2 total crashes and 0.86 severe crashes, and a percentage

point increase in bus mode share reduces an even larger 5.7 total crashes and 1.8 severe crashes. Increases in walking, bicycle and motorcycle mode shares, higher speed roads and industrial areas all tend to increase crashes in a zone.

Morency, et al. (2017) used 2001-2010 travel and accident data to compare injury rates for car and city bus occupants, and pedestrian and cyclist injuries associated with car and bus travel on ten urban arterial roads in Montreal, Canada. For all routes studied the injury and fatality rate ratios where more than three times greater for car occupants than for bus occupants, and rates of pedestrian and cyclist injuries per hundred million passenger-kilometres travelled was significantly greater for car travel than for bus travel. These results indicate that bus travel is safer than car travel on arterial roadways, so modal shifts from car to public transit can significantly improve road safety for all mode users.

Services that target higher risk groups can provide particularly large safety gains. For example, Jackson and Owens (2010) found that extending night transit service reduced drunk driving and accidents: they found that for each additional service hour DUI *arrests* declined 15.6%, and *fatal accidents* involving intoxicated drivers declined 70% near Metro stations. Broyles (2014) found that Phoenix, Arizona university students are significantly less likely to drink and drive if they live close to the city's light rail transit system which connects student housing with commercial and entertainment districts. Similarly, Lichtman-Sadot (2019) found that young driver traffic crash rates declined an average of 37%, and their crash injuries decrease 24%, after late-night buses began operating in Israeli cities in 2007.

Karim, Wahba and Sayed (2012) found that in the Vancouver region, crash rates decline significantly with bus stop density, percentage of transit-km traveled relative to total vehiclekms traveled, and walking, biking, and transit commute mode share. Their modeling indicates that a strategic transport plan that encourages use of alternative modes tends to reduce total, severe, and property damage only collisions. Evaluating intercity passenger rail, Lalive, Luechinger and Schmutzler (2012) found is that increasing rail service frequency by 10% reduced car and motorcycle use by nearly 3%, which reduced road accidents 4.6%.

Health Impacts

Inadequate physical activity contributes to cardiovascular disease, diabetes, hypertension, obesity, osteoporosis and some cancers. Many experts consider increased walking and cycling for daily transport one of the most practical ways to increase public fitness and health (CDC Foundation 2020). Most transit trips include walking or bicycling links, so transit travel tends to increase physical activity (Devries, et al. 2018; Edwards 2008; Frank, et al. 2010; Litman 2010b).

Public transit users average about three times as much walking as people who rely on automobile transport, nearly achieving the 22 daily minutes of moderate physical activity considered necessary for health (Besser and Dannenberg 2005; Weinstein and Schimek 2005; Wener and Evans 2007). Lachapelle, et al. (2011) found that transit commuters average 5 to 10 more daily minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity, and walked more to local services than people who do not use transit, regardless of neighborhood walkability. MacDonald, et al. (2010) found that a new light-rail system increased walking activity and reduced users' body weight and obesity rates. Similarly, Melbourne, Australia transit users average 41 daily minutes walking or bicycling, five times more than the averaged by people who travel entirely by car

(BusVic 2010). In addition, efforts to encourage transit and create transit oriented development often improve pedestrian and cycling conditions, which can further increase fitness and health.

Detailed studies indicate that public transportation users are more likely to walk, walk longer average distances, and are more likely to meet recommended physical activity targets by walking than non-transit users (Lachapelle and Frank 2009; Lachapelle 2011). The chance of meeting minimum walking targets (2.4 daily kilometers walked) increases by 3.87 for each transit trip taken, and is 2.23 times greater for commuters who use an employer-sponsored public transit pass. The table below summarizes one study's findings.

Table 20 W	Walking Activity By Transit Use (Lachapelle and Fra								
		Transit User	No Transit Use						
A least one walk tr	ip	58.9%	9.3%						
Average walk dista	ance	1.72	0.16						

09)

Public transit users are more likely to take walking trips and walk farther than non-transit users.

Using comprehensive demographic, travel and health survey data that accounts for income, education, commuting preferences, amount of non-travel physical activity and healthcare resources, She, King and Jacobson (2017 and 2019) found that increases in public transit mode share in a community is associated with reduced obesity rates: each one percentage point increase of frequent public transit riders in a county population is estimated to decrease the county population obesity rate by 0.473% points.

Smith, et al. (2021) found that transit service improvements improved low-income residents' access to healthcare and reduced no-show appointments. Stokes, MacDonald and Ridgeway (2008) developed a model to quantify the public health cost savings resulting from a new light rail transit system in Charlotte, North Carolina. Using estimates of future riders, the effects of public transit on physical activity from increased walking, and area obesity rates, they simulated the potential yearly public health cost savings associated with this infrastructure investment. The results predict that the light rail system should save \$12.6 million in public health costs over nine years.

Community Cohesion

Community cohesion refers to the quality of interactions among residents in a community. Many people consider cohesion a desirable community attribute, and it tends to increase neighborhood safety and security by helping neighbors cooperate and protect each other. Although many demographic and geographic factors can affect community cohesion, research indicates that, all else being equal, it tends to increase with neighborhood walkability, and therefore walkability factors such as the quality of sidewalks and street environments, and neighborhood services such as local shops, parks and schools. Public transit and transit-oriented development can provide a catalyst for this type of development.

For example, Kamruzzaman, et al. (2014) divided Brisbane, Australia neighborhoods into three categories: transit-oriented development (TOD), transit adjacent development (TAD), and traditional suburbs, based on employment and residential density, land use diversity, intersection density, and public transport accessibility. They found that TOD residents had significantly higher levels of connections, trust and reciprocity with neighbours than in TADs,

which suggests that more compact and mixed development foster social sustainability. The City of Vancouver's <u>2016 Travel Survey</u> found much higher rates of friendly interactions when walking, bicycling or public transit travel than private automobile travel, as illustrated below.



Personal Security

Personal Security refers to freedom from assault, theft and vandalism. Contrary to popular assumptions, transit users generally face lower overall crime risks than motorists, and all else being equal, per capita crime rates tend to decline as transit ridership increases in a community, probably due to a combination of improved surveillance, better policing and emergency response and improved economic opportunity for at-risk residents (Devries, et al. 2018). The table below illustrates ways that high quality public transit can reduce urban crime risk.

Table 21 Now Transit improvements oan Reduce of ban onme (Litinan 2014d)					
Crime Risk Factor	Impacts of Improved Transport Options and Smart Growth				
Poverty concentration	Mixed development encourages wealthy and poor residents to locate close together, which improves poor people's economic opportunities.				
Natural surveillance and community cohesion	More businesses, residents and responsible (non-criminal) by-passers provide "eyes on the street" and helps build local social networks (neighbors who know and care about each other).				
Vulnerable population's access to economic opportunity	Better access to education and employment for poor people (many of whom have limited access to a car).				
Policing efficiency and response times	More compact, mixed density development increases policing efficiency and reduces response times.				
Transit security	Increased ridership increases transit security public support and efficiency (lower costs per passenger), leading to expanded programs.				
Motor vehicle ownership	Tends to reduce total vehicle ownership and associated crime risks				

Table 21	How Transit im	provements	Can Reduce	Urban (Crime ((Litman	20140	ł

Improving transit services and transit-oriented development can reduce crime risk. This tends to reduce total per capita crime rates rather than simply shifting where crimes occur.

Measuring Safety, Health and Security Impacts

Karim, Wahba and Sayed (2012) provide information on methods for modeling the traffic safety impacts of specific policies and projects that affect transit use. Cole, et al. (2008) use Health Impact Assessment (HIA) methods to evaluate the health impacts of public transit fare increase and service reductions that reduce transit ridership.

Crash and health costs can be monetized for public policy analysis (Litman, 2003 and 2010b). Although an individual's life has essentially infinite value (most people would not give up their life for any size monetary payment), many private and public decisions involve tradeoffs between risk and financial costs. For example, when consumers decide whether to pay extra for safety options such as air bags, and when communities allocate funds for services such as law enforcement, fire protection, and medical services, they are essentially placing a price on marginal changes in human safety and health. Traffic safety benefits are usually estimated at \$2 to \$5 million per fatality avoided, and smaller values for non-fatal crashes (Blincoe 1994). These values indicate that crash costs average 5-15¢ per automobile vehicle-mile (Miller 1991). This analysis uses 10¢ per vehicle mile as an average, of which 6¢ is internal (borne directly by vehicle occupants) and 4¢ is external (imposed on others). Since automobiles average 1.5 occupants, internal crash costs average 4¢ per passenger-mile.

Bus transit is estimated to impose external crash costs of 25.8¢ per vehicle-mile, based on 10¢ per mile automobile crash costs increased by the crash fatality ratio (39.6/13.4), of which 86% are to other road users. Risks to bus occupants are estimated at 0.5¢ per passenger-mile. Bus crash costs therefore average 28.9¢ per bus-mile, including risks to 5.2 average passengers and one driver, plus risks imposed on other road users. External risks do not increase with vehicle occupancy so unit costs decline as load factors increase. A bus with 10 passengers has total estimated crash costs of 31.3¢ per vehicle mile (25.8¢ + [0.5¢ x 10 passengers and a driver]), but doubling passengers only increases cost 16% to 36.3¢. A bus that replaces 10 automobile trips provides 68.7¢ per mile net safety benefits. Rail transit tends to impose lower passenger risk and somewhat higher non-occupant risk, with virtually no incremental risk from increased occupants. These benefits are much larger if it leverages additional traffic reductions, as previously described. If each passenger-mile of transit travel reduces two to four vehicle-miles of travel, each transit passenger-mile provides an additional 20-40¢ in crash cost savings.

Public transit provides health benefits from increased walking and bicycling (Frank and Engelke 2000). To the degree that transit causes otherwise sedentary people to walk or bicycle an hour or more a week it provides significant health benefits. Because inadequate physical activity is such a large health risk, the public health benefits of increased transit use and more transit-oriented development may be comparable to transit's traffic safety benefits, although more research is needed to verify this.

Personal security impacts depend on conditions. Litman (2014c) summarizes research on the factors that affect crime risks, relative crime risks of transit and automobile travel, and ways to improve transit security. Transit improvements often include actions that reduce crime risk to both transit users and non-users, such as improved station design and security patrols.

Roadway Costs

Roadway costs include road maintenance, construction and land, and various traffic services such as planning, policing, emergency services and lighting. These costs are affected by vehicle weight, size and speed. Heavier vehicles impose more road wear, and larger and faster vehicles require more road space. These costs are not necessarily marginal. For example, a 10% reduction in vehicle traffic does not necessarily cause a 10% reduction in roadway costs. In urban areas with significant congestion problems and high land values, even a modest reduction in traffic volumes can provide large savings.

Transportation economists have performed numerous studies (called *cost allocation* or *cost responsibility* studies) that investigate the share of roadway costs imposed by various types of vehicles (FHWA, 1997; "Roadway Costs," Litman 2009). Most of these studies only consider current direct roadway construction and maintenance expenditures, and sometimes highway patrol services. Public costs not reflected in transport agency budgets are generally ignored, such as the opportunity costs of roadway land, traffic planning, local policing, emergency services, snow plowing and street lighting.

Where a transit project avoids or defers the need for major highway expansion the avoided costs can be considered a benefit of transit. Urban highway capacity expansion typically costs \$4-10 million per lane-mile for land acquisition, lane pavement and intersection reconstruction. This represents an annualized cost of \$200,000-500,000 per lane-mile (assuming a 7% interest rate over 20 years). Divided by 2,000 to 6,000 additional peak-period vehicles during 250 annual commute days, and adjusting for inflation indicates typical costs \$0.20 to \$1.00 per additional peak-period vehicle-mile.

Measuring Roadway Costs and Benefits

Considering only direct roadway expenditures, automobile use costs average 3.5¢ per mile and pays 2.6¢ per mile in fuel taxes, resulting in net costs averaging 0.9¢ (1.1¢ in 2003 dollars), while buses cost 11.8¢ per mile and pay 4.6¢ in taxes, resulting in 7.2¢ per mile net costs (8.9¢ in 2003 dollars) (FHWA 1997). Bus road wear costs are reduced if roadways are built for heavy vehicles, which is common on major roads to accommodate freight and service trucks. Roadway costs approximately double if the value of right-of-way land is also considered. Traffic service costs average 1-4¢ per automobile-mile.

Category	Description	Cost Impact
	Costs of road deterioration due to vehicle traffic,	
	road repair costs, and increased strength during road	Buses tend to increase these costs due
Road wear	construction to minimize deterioration.	to heavy axle weights.
	Incremental costs of wider lanes required to	
	accommodate larger vehicles. Generally set to	Bus service may increase lane
Lane size	accommodate trucks and service vehicles.	requirements in some locations.
Traffic	Roadway planning, traffic controls, policing, lighting,	Because these costs are based on
services	etc.	traffic volumes, they tend to decline.
	Costs of adding traffic lanes, improving intersections	Can significantly reduce these costs.
Traffic	and other measures to accommodate increased	This impact is reflected on congestion
capacity	traffic volumes and reduce traffic congestion.	costs values.

Table 22 Roadway Cost Impacts of Automobile to Transit Shifts

This table summarizes various roadway cost impacts of shifts from auto to transit.

This table summarizes cost impacts of automobile to transit shifts. Where vans and small buses replace driving on local street, roadway cost savings typically average 1-3¢ per reduced automobile-mile. Where full-size buses operate on local streets, there is probably little or no roadway cost savings. Where buses operate on major roadways designed to accommodate heavy vehicles, roadway costs are reduced as indicated in in the figure below. Where urban automobile travel shift to rail transit, savings typically average about 5¢ per vehicle-mile reduced, or 2¢ per mile net costs taking into account fuel tax revenues). If a transit service or improvement avoids or defers the need for a specific highway project, avoided costs can be calculated. Such savings typically average 15-50¢ per reduced urban-peak automobile-mile.



Figure 18 Roadway Savings Per Mile of Bus Travel (2001 U.S. dollars)



This graph illustrates roadway cost savings for a shift from automobile to bus travel. Thirty car drivers shifting to transit provides savings worth between \$0.24 and \$2.76 per mile, depending on assumptions. Costs based on FHWA (1997) updated to 2001 dollars, plus estimates of roadway land costs and traffic services described in Litman, 2003.

Energy Conservation and Emission Reductions

Transit can provide significant energy conservation and emission reduction benefits (APTA 2009; Chester and Horvath 2008; CNT 2010; Gallivan, et al. 2015; McGraw, et al. 2021; NCTR 2011; TCRP 2012). This analysis is complicated by the fact that a major portion of transit services are intended to provide basic mobility to non-drivers, such as bus services where demand is low (such as in suburban communities and during off-peak periods) are not very fuel efficient. Where transit ridership is designed for efficiency, such as on major urban corridors; strategies that increase transit load factors (such as ridership incentives); strategies that increase transit operating efficiency (such transit priority measures); and Transit Oriented Developments that leverage reductions in residents' vehicle ownership and use, can provide large energy conservation and emission reduction benefits.

Shapiro, Hassett and Arnold (2002) estimate that urban transit travel consumes about half the energy and produces only about 5% as much CO, 8% VOCs and 50% the CO_2 and NOx emissions per passenger-mile as an average automobile. Davis and Hale (2007) estimate that at current levels of use public transit services avoid emissions of at least 6.9 million metric tonnes of CO_2

equivalent by substituting for automobile travel and reducing traffic congestion, and possibly much more by creating more accessible land use patterns. They estimate that a typical household could reduce its total greenhouse emissions by 25-30% by shifting from two to one vehicles, as can occur if they move from an automobile-dependent community to a transit-oriented development. ICF (2010) estimates that by reducing vehicle travel, easing congestion and supporting more efficient land use patterns, public transportation reduces about 37 million metric tons of CO₂ equivalent emissions annually. Bailey (2007) found that a typical household reduces its energy consumption and pollution emissions about 45% by shifting from automobile-dependent to transit-oriented development.

Chester and Horvath (2008) and Chester, et al. (2013 and 2015), calculate total lifecycle energy consumption and pollution emissions for various transport modes, including cars, SUVs, light trucks, buses, light and heavy rail transit, and intercity passenger rail and air transport. The figure below compare their energy consumption rates, including fuel used in their operation, and energy embodied in vehicle and facility construction and maintenance. This indicates that public transit tends to be energy efficient, typically using less than half the energy of a sedan and a quarter of the energy as a SUV or light truck.



Figure 19 Lifecycle Emissions by Mode (de Bortoli and Christoforou Zoi 2020)

This figure compares estimated lifecycle emissions per passengerkilometer for various modes taking into account their infrastructure, servicing, use and vehicle production. Non-auto modes produce an order of magnitude lower lifecycle emissions than automobile travel.

Transit modes are sensitive to load factors: during peak periods, when load factors are high, buses are the most energy efficient mode, but during off-peak, when load factors are low, buses are least efficient. Described differently, transit policies that reduce average load factors by increase transit service to times and locations when demand is low (such as increasing fares or expanding service to suburban areas or late nights) reduces efficiency while policies that increase load factors (such as reducing fares, improving rider comfort, transit encouragement programs, and transit oriented development) tend to increase efficiency. APTA (2009) provides guidance to transit agencies for quantifying their greenhouse gas emissions, including both emissions generated by transit and the potential reduction of emissions through efficiency and reductions in automobile travel.

Kimball, et al. (2013) performed a comprehensive life-cycle energy and environmental impact assessment of the Phoenix light rail system, taking into account both direct impacts, and indirect impacts from more compact on embodied resources for vehicle and building production, and travel activity. The results indicate significant potential energy savings, and both local and global (greenhouse gas) emission reductions from more transit-oriented development, as well as

economic and local "livability" benefits including increased affordability and urban redevelopment. It concluded that marginal benefits from new rail services are likely to significantly exceed marginal costs.

Gallivan, et al. (2015) used sophistical statistical analysis to evaluate interrelationships between transit and land use, and therefore transit's impacts on urban development patterns, per capita vehicle travel and pollution emissions. The study found that gross urban population densities would be 27% lower without transit systems to support compact development, and this increased density reduces urban vehicle travel, transport fuel use and GHG emissions by 8%. In addition, shifts from automobile to transit directly reduce VMT, transport fuel use and GHG emissions by 2%, indicating that indirect emission reductions leveraged by land use changes are four times larger than the direct benefits from mode shifting.

Energy Conservation

Table 25 and Figure 19 indicate average energy consumption for various travel modes. Under current conditions, U.S. transit vehicles consume about the same energy per passenger-mile as cars, although less than vans, light trucks and SUVs. This reflects low current transit load factors. Increasing ridership on existing transit vehicles consumes little additional energy. A bus with seven passengers is about twice as energy efficient as an average automobile, and a bus with 50 passengers is about ten times as energy efficient. Rail transit systems tend to be about three times as energy efficient as diesel bus transit. New hybrid buses are about twice as energy efficient as current direct drive diesel.

Table 23 Average Fuel Consumption 2001 (BTS, Tables 1-29, 4-20, 4-23, 4-24; APTA 20									
Vehicle Class	Average MPG	Mode	BTU/Pass. Mile						
Passenger Cars	22.1	Car	3,578						
Vans, Pickup Trucks, SUVs	17.6	Vans, Pickup Trucks, SUVs	4,495						
Motorcycle	50	Aviation	4,000						
Single Unit Truck	7.4	Transit, Bus	3,697						
Combination Truck	5.3	Transit, Electric Light Rail	1,152						
Buses	6.9	Intercity Rail, diesel	2,134						
Hybrid Electric Bus (estimate)	14.0	Hybrid Electric Bus (estimate)	1,070						

2)

This table summarizes average fuel consumption per vehicle, and energy consumption per passengermile for various vehicle types.

Lifecycle Energy Consumption (Chester and Horvath 2008) Figure 20



Fuel and embodied energy (energy used in vehicle and facility construction) for various modes.

Air Emission Impacts

Quantifying emission impacts of automobile to transit shifts is challenging because there are several different types of pollutants, and many possible permutations of vehicles, engines and driving conditions (Kwan and Hashim 2016). Emission rates per transit passenger-mile are relatively high in the U.S. due to low occupancy rates, but additional riders contribute minimal additional emissions so strategies that increase transit load factors reduce emission rates. Older diesel engines have relatively high emission rates, but these are declining due to improved emission controls. Electric vehicles produce minimal emissions.

Vehicle Type	Sec	dan	SU	V	Pic	:kup	Bus-Av	erage	Bus	-Peak	
Avg. Occupancy	1	.58	1.	1.74		1.46		10.5		40	
	VMT	PMT	VMT	PMT	VMT	PMT	VMT	PMT	VMT	PMT	
Operations	370	230	480	280	480	330	2,400	230	2,400	59	
Manufacture	45	29	71	41	48	33	320	31	320	8.1	
Idling	0	0	0	0	0	0	80	7.6	80	2	
Tire production	7.2	4.5	7.2	4.1	7.2	4.9	2.5	0.24	2.5	0.064	
Maintenance	17	11	19	11	19	13	45	4.2	45	1.1	
Fixed Costs	5.6	3.6	5.7	3.3	5.8	4.0	14	1.4	14	0.35	
Roadway const.	52	33	52	30	52	36	52	4.9	52	1.3	
Roadway maint.	0	0	0	0	0	0	210	20	11	0.27	
Herbicides/Salting	0.37	0.24	0.41	0.23	0.41	0.28	0.37	0.036	0.37	0.0094	
Roadway lighting	13	8.5	14	7.8	14	9.4	4.9	0.47	4.9	0.012	
Parking	8.5	54	8.5	49	8.5	58	0	0	0	0	
Fuel production	59	38	98	56	100	71	260	24	260	6.4	
Totals	578	412	756	482	735	560	3,389	324	3,190	79	
Operations/Total	0.64	0.63	0.63	0.65	0.65	0.65	0.75	0.76	0.75	0.75	

 Table 24
 Lifecycle GHG Emissions, Grams CO₂e (Chester and Horvath 2008)

VMT = Vehicle Miles Traveled; **PMT** = Passenger Miles Traveled; **Operations** = tailpipe emissions

Noise Impacts

Traffic noise is a moderate to large cost in urban areas ("Noise Costs," Litman, 2003). Conventional buses are noisy due to their relatively large engines and low power to weight ratio. A typical diesel bus produces the noise equivalent of 5 to 15 average automobiles, depending on conditions (Delucchi and Hsu, 1998). Staiano (2001) concluded that light rail is somewhat quieter than a diesel bus, and electric trolley buses are significantly quieter. Hybrid buses are much quieter than direct drive diesel.

If a bus displaces just one unusually noisy vehicle (for example, a bus rider would have ridden a noisy motorcycle or driven a car with a faulty muffler or high volume stereo), it can reduce noise overall. If residents walk rather than drive to transit stops, local street noise is reduced. This suggests that diesel bus noise costs per trip are probably about the same as for automobile travel, and hybrid and electric transit reduces overall noise costs.

Water Pollution

Motor vehicles contribute to water pollution due to leaks from engines and brake systems, during fuel distribution, and waste fluids (such as used crankcase oil) that are disposed of inappropriately. Transit travel tends to produce less water pollution because it requires fewer vehicles, and they tend to be maintained better than private vehicles.

Measuring Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction Benefits

Computer models can predict the impacts of transport energy conservation and emission reduction strategies (Transportation Air Quality Center, <u>www.epa.gov/oms</u>; *TravelMatters* <u>www.travelmatters.org</u>; Hendricks, et al. 2010). Various studies monetize emission costs, and therefore the value of transport emission reductions (Litman 2009). These indicate that under typical urban conditions emission costs average 2-5¢ per vehicle-mile for a gasoline automobile, twice that for an SUV, van or light truck, and 10-30¢ per vehicle-mile for older diesel buses, with lower costs for buses with newer engines or alternative fuels. The table below summarizes estimated cost for various vehicles.

	Urban	Suburban	Average
Current Diesel Bus	30¢	15¢	22.5¢
New Diesel Bus (meets 2004 standards)	15¢	5¢	10¢
Hybrid Electric Bus	5¢	3¢	4¢
Average Car	5¢	3¢	4¢
SUV, Light Truck, Van	10¢	6¢	8¢
Average Automobile	7.5¢	4.5¢	6¢

Table 25 Recommended Pollution Costs (Cents Per Vehicle-Mile)

This table indicates estimated average energy, air, noise and water pollution costs of various vehicles. "Average automobile" reflects a weighted average of cars, SUVs, light trucks and vans.

Since most new transit service will be provided by newer, cleaner buses, pollution reduction benefits can generally be calculated based on a shift from average automobile to new diesel or hybrid electric buses. Benefits are larger for CNG, hybrid or electric power transit vehicles. As with other impacts, greater benefits result if transit improvements leverage an overall reduction in per-capita automobile mileage.

Travel Time Impacts

Special consideration is needed when evaluating transit travel time cost impacts, including travel times/speeds, unit time costs (cents per minute or dollars per hour), whether transit travel reduces the need for motorists to chauffeur non-drivers or spend special time exercising, since transit travel tends to increase walking and cycling travel (Litman 2008). For more discussion see "Is Transit Travel Slow and Inefficient?" later in this report.

Public transit trips generally take longer, door-to-door, than automobile travel, since transit travel requires access and waiting time, and additional stops. These travel time penalties can be reduced with more frequent and predictable transit services, grade separation (bus lanes and rail on its own right-of-way) and bus priority at intersections, express services, faster boarding with prepaid fares, improved pedestrian and cycling access to stations, and more transit-oriented development, so more destinations are closer to frequent transit services.

Travel time unit costs can vary significantly depending on travelers' needs and preferences, and travel conditions. A minute spent driving in congestion, waiting for an unpredictable bus, or standing in a crowded transit vehicle is often much more costly than a minute spent pleasant conditions, sitting in a comfortable seat in a clean and comfortable bus or train, because passengers experience less stress and can rest or work. Comfort, predictability and amenities such as on-board Internet access can reduce transit travel unit travel time costs. Travel time valuation studies indicate that uncomfortable travel has two to four times the unit costs as comfortable travel time (Douglas 2021; "Travel Time," Litman 2009). Conventional transportation planning fails to account for these factors. It generally assigns the same unit costs (generally 35% to 50% of average wages) to all travel conditions.

Transit travel often involves trade-offs between time and money costs. Travellers with higher time values will choose faster but more costly modes, while those with lower time values (usually those with lower incomes) are more likely to choose cheaper but slower modes. Described differently, transit travel often has a higher *effective speed*, which considers the time spent travelling and earning money to pay for transport. For example, if car commuting takes 60 daily minutes and costs \$5,000 annually, and transit commuting takes 90 daily minutes and costs \$1,000 annually, transit commuting has a faster effective speed for workers who earn less than \$32 per hour, since car commuter must spend \$4,000 to save 125 annual commute hours.

Expanded transit networks and transit-oriented development can reduce travel distances. For example, increasing the portion of housing, services and jobs located near transit stations can reduce door-to-door travel times required to reach common destinations by transit.

These factors have important implications for evaluating public transit improvements. Strategies that increase transit speeds and reliability provide direct user benefits. Strategies that increase transit user comfort, security and predictability can reduce total transit travel time costs, even if they do not increase travel speeds. Strategies that improve access to transit, for example by making it easier to walk or bicycle to transit stops, and more transit-oriented development, can also reduce travel time costs. Travelers who shift from driving to transit in response to transit improvements or other positive incentives must be better of overall, considering all impacts, even if transit trips take more time.

Measuring Travel Time Costs and Benefits

Transport models can be used to calculate transit travel speeds. The value of travel time changes can be calculated using a comprehensive travel time cost framework that accounts for the following factors:

- Travel time should be measured door-to-door, taking into account each trip link, including time spent walking and waiting.
- Personal travel is usually estimated at one-quarter to one-half of prevailing wage rates.
- Travel time costs for drivers tend to increase with congestion, and for passengers if vehicles are crowded or uncomfortable. Unexpected delays impose high costs.
- Costs tend to be lower for shorter trips and small travel time savings, and tend to increase for longer commutes (more than about 20 minutes).
- Under pleasant conditions, walking and cycling can have positive value, but under unpleasant or unsafe conditions, time spent walking, cycling and waiting for transit has costs two or three times higher than time spent traveling.
- Travel time costs tend to increase with income, and tend to be lower for children and people who are retired or unemployed (put differently, people with full-time jobs are generally willing to pay more for travel time savings).
- Personal preferences vary. Some people prefer driving while others prefer transit or walking, as reflected in their travel time cost values.
- Public transit can provide specific travel time savings, for example, by reducing the need for motorists to chauffeur non-drivers. For example, in automobile-dependent locations parents must drive children to school and sport events, and non-driving relatives and friends to shopping and medical appointments, trips that are avoided if high quality public transit service is available.

able 20 Recommended value of maver time (ECONORITWEST & PDQD 200					
Time Component	Reference	Value			
In-Vehicle Personal (local)	Of wages	50%			
In-Vehicle Personal (Intercity)	Of wages	70%			
In-Vehicle Business	Of total compensation	100%			
Excess (waiting, walking, or transfer time) Personal	Of wages	100%			
Excess (waiting, walking, or transfer time) Business	Of total compensation	100%			

Table 26 Recommended Value of Travel Time (ECONorthwest & PBQD 2002)

This table illustrates USDOT recommended travel time values. Personal travel is calculated relative to wages, and business travel relative to total compensation, averaging 120% of wages.

Box 1	Recommended Trav	vel Time Values ("Travel Time Costs," Litman 2009)			
		Travel Time Values			
	Commercial vehicle driver	Wage rate plus fringe benefits			
	Personal vehicle driver	50% of current average wage			
	Adult car or bus passenger	35% of current average wage			
	Child passenger under 16 years	s 25% of current average wage			
Congestion increases driver's travel time costs by the following amounts according to roadway Level of Service (LOS) ratings: LOS D: multiply by 1.33 LOS E: multiply by 1.67 LOS F: multiply by 2.0					
Under ເ	unpleasant or insecure condition	ns (waiting for transit in a dirty and insecure area, or			

Under unpleasant or insecure conditions (waiting for transit in a dirty and insecure area, or walking on busy roads that lack sidewalks), time spent walking, cycling and using transit has two or three times the cost of time spent traveling, depending on the degree of discomfort.

This box summarizes travel time values developed by leading transportation economists.

For this analysis we recommend a default value of \$8.00 per hour for travelers in comfortable conditions and \$16 per hour for travelers in uncomfortable conditions, or use of the adjustment factors in the table below. Conventional transportation models are generally not very sensitive to qualitative factors, and therefore tend to undervalue transit service improvements that improve rider comfort, convenience and access speed.

				J · J · ·			
Category	LOS A-C	LOS D	LOS E	LOS F	Wa	Waiting Conditions	
					Good*	Average	Poor
Commercial vehicle driver	120%	137%	154%	170%		170%	
Comm. vehicle passenger	120%	132%	144%	155%		155%	
City bus driver	156%	156%	156%	156%		156%	
Personal vehicle driver	50%	67%	84%	100%		100%	
Adult car passenger	35%	47%	58%	70%		100%	
Adult transit passenger – seated	35%	47%	58%	70%	35%	50%	125%
Adult transit pass. – standing	50%	67%	83%	100%	50%	70%	175%
Child (<16 years) – seated	25%	33%	42%	50%	25%	50%	125%
Child (<16 years) – standing	35%	46%	60%	66%	50%	70%	175%
Pedestrians and cyclists	50%	67%	84%	100%	50%	100%	200%
Transit Transfer Premium					5-min.	10-min.	15-min.

Table 27 Travel Time Values Relative To Prevailing Wages (Litman 2008)

This summarizes travel time values that incorporate traveler convenience and comfort factors. (Wait time unit costs are reduced another 20-30% where real-time vehicle arrival information is provided.)*

Land Use Impacts

Transit can help achieve various land use planning objectives by reducing the amount of land required for roads and parking facilities, and providing a catalyst for more compact urban redevelopment (Banister and Thurstain-Goodwin 2011; CTOD 2009; Litman 1995; Portland 2009; TCRP 2012). Transit is an important component of *smart growth*, which refers to policies designed to create more resource efficient and accessible land use patterns. The table below lists potential smart growth benefits.

Table 28	Smart Growth	Benefits	(Burchell,	et al 19	98; Litman	1995)	
			-				

Economic	Social	Environmental
 Reduced development and public service costs. Consumer transportation cost savings. Economies of agglomeration. More efficient transportation. 	 Improved transport options, particularly for nondrivers. Improved housing options. Community cohesion. 	 Greenspace and wildlife habitat preservation. Reduced air pollution. Reduced resource consumption. Reduced water pollution. Reduced "heat island" effect.

This table summarizes various benefits to society of smart growth development patterns.

Transit can reduce the amount of land required for roads and parking facilities compared with urban-peak automobile trips, as illustrated below. Transit is particularly helpful in creating certain land use patterns including major commercial centers (more than 5,000 employees in one area), multi-modal (walkable) neighborhoods, urban redevelopment, and some types of tourist attractions.



Transit requires far less space than automobile travel.

Transit-oriented development can provide economic benefits by improving accessibility, reducing transport costs, and providing economies of agglomeration, as described in the next section of this guide. In some cases, increased property values near transit stations can offset most or all transit subsidy costs (Smith and Gihring 2021; CTOD 2010). Even people who do not use transit can benefit from these land use patterns.

Not every transit project has these effects. Appropriate land use policies, transit ridership incentives and consumer acceptance are necessary to be effective. The following types of transit improvements tend to have the greatest positive land use impacts:

- Transit programs that are part of an overall smart growth land use program.
- Transit oriented development, which intentionally integrates transit improvements with compatible land use development.
- Transit improvements that encourage infill and redevelopment of older urban neighborhoods.
- Transit stations located at major commercial centers with large numbers of commuters.
- Transit improvements as an alternative to roadway capacity expansion.
- New urbanism, parking management and other TDM policies implemented in conjunction with transit improvements.

Transit can also have some negative land use impacts. Rail facilities require land, can divide neighborhoods, and can be unattractive. In some situations transit improvements can increase urban sprawl by facilitating longer-distance commutes.

Measuring Land Use Impacts

The first step in valuing these impacts is to determine how a particular transit program or policy will affect land use patterns, including changes in the amount of land used for transport facilities (roads, parking, rail lines and terminals), changes to development patterns (density, clustering, urban expansion, per capita pavement, etc.), changes in accessibility (the ease of travel between destinations), emergency service response times, and changes in per capita vehicle ownership and VMT (CTOD 2010). Some communities have comprehensive transport/land use models that can predict these impacts, but in most cases predictions rely on professional judgment by planners and real estate professionals.

The final step is to place of monetary value on impacts as much as possible. Some impacts are monetary, such as reduced costs of providing public services to more clustered development, and parking cost savings that result from reduced vehicle ownership. Others require placing a value on non-market goods. For example, monetized values may be assigned to greenspace preservation. Impacts that cannot be monetized should be described qualitatively. For example, equity impacts can be quantified using indicators of the change in accessibility by disadvantaged groups (e.g., the ability of people with disabilities or low incomes to access common destinations).

Generally, impacts should be measured per capita. Increased density can increase the intensity of some impacts within a particular area, but reduces costs per capita. For example, higher development densities may reduce greenspace (parks, lawns and farms) within a neighborhood, but preserve regional greenspace by reducing per capita pavement and urban expansion. Similarly, increased development density tends to increase per-acre vehicle trips and pollution emissions, but reduce per capita impacts, since residents of more clustered communities tend to drive fewer annual vehicle-miles. A more qualitative approach is to identify a community's land use development goals and objectives (based on community plans and other official documents), and rate each transportation option in terms of effects on them. For example, many communities have goals to encourage infill development, create more multi-modal communities, protect and redevelop existing neighborhoods, improve walking conditions, and preserve greenspace. Transit improvements can help achieve these objectives, particularly if implemented as part of an integrated community development program.

A matrix such as the one below can be used to evaluate and compare the land use impacts of various transport options based on a particular community's planning objectives. The simplest approach is to check a box if an option supports an objective. A better approach is to rate each objective, for example from 5 (very supportive) to -5 (very harmful). Objectives can be weighted to reflect their relative importance. For more information see discussion of *Multi-Criteria Analysis* in Litman, 2001b.

	Planning Objective	Option 1	Option 2	Option 3
1.	Reduces roadway and parking facility land requirements.			
2.	Reduces total impervious surface coverage (amount of land covered by			
	roads, parking and buildings).			
3.	Encourages urban infill and redevelopment of existing neighborhoods.			
4.	Increases development densities (residents and jobs per acre).			
5.	Increases accessibility (the ease of travel between common			
	destinations), particularly for non-drivers.			
6.	Improves community walkability (quality of walking conditions).			
7.	Reduces per-capita vehicle travel.			
8.	Improves quality or reduces costs of public service (emergency			
	response, garbage collection, utility networks and services, schools,			
	recreation facilities, etc.)			
9.	Improves housing options (types of housing available) and affordability			
	(by reducing parking costs and land requirements).			
10.	Enhances neighborhood livability (environmental quality experienced by			
	people who live, work and visit an area).			
11.	Preserves greenspace (parks, farms, forests, etc.).			
12.	Preserves cultural resources (historic sites and traditional communities).			
13.	Enhances community cohesion (quantity and quality of interactions			
	between people who live and work in a community)			
14.	Supports local economic development plans (e.g., downtown			
	redevelopment, tourist industry expansion, etc.).			
15.	Others			
	Totals			

Land Use Impact Matrix

A matrix such as this can be used to evaluate and compare land use impacts. It should reflect a community's planning objectives. Each option is rated to indicate how much it supports or contradicts each objective.

Economic Development Impacts

Economic development refers to increased productivity, business activity, employment, income, property values and tax revenue. Transit can support economic development in several ways (Banister and Thurstain-Goodwin 2011; CTOD 2011; EDRG 2013 and 2014; Dachis and Godin 2021; Fan, et al. 2020; Laube, Rainville and Lyons 2014; Litman 2025; Nelson, et al., 2013; Porter, et al. 2015; Sadler and Wampler 2013).

Direct Expenditures

Because transit is labor intensive, transit expenditures tend to provide more jobs and local business activity than most other transportation investments. A million dollars spent on public transit typically generates 30-60 jobs (ECONorthwest and PBQD, 2002; APTA 2003). A typical set of transit investments creates 19% more jobs than the same amount spent on a typical set of road and bridge projects (STPP 2004).

Consumer Expenditures

Transit supports economic development by shifting consumer expenditures. Residents of cities with quality transit systems tend to spend less on transportation overall, as illustrated below. For example, residents of cities with large, well-established rail transit systems spend an average of \$2,808 on personal vehicles and transit (12.0% of their total household expenditures), compared with \$3,332 in cities that lack rail systems (14.9% of total household expenditures), despite higher incomes and longer average commute distances in rail cities.



Figure 22 Transportation Spending Versus Transit Travel (<u>BLS 2023</u>; <u>APTA 2023</u>)

Vehicle and fuel expenditures provide relatively little regional employment or business activity because much of their value is imported. Analysis summarized in Table 32 indicates that a million dollars spent on public transit services generates 31.3 jobs, compared with 17.3 jobs from the same amount spent on a typical bundle of goods, 13.7 jobs if spent on vehicles, and 12.8 jobs if spent on fuel. As a result, in 2006, a million dollars shifted from fuel to general consumer expenditures generated 4.5 domestic jobs, and if shifted to public transit generated 18.5 jobs. These impacts are likely to increase as oil import costs rise.

Table 29 Impacts per \$1 minor Expenditures (Litinari 2004, based on Chinelynski 200						
Expense category	Value Added	Employment	Compensation			
	2006 Dollars	FTEs*	2006 Dollars			
Auto fuel	\$1,139,110	12.8	\$516,438			
Other vehicle expenses	\$1,088,845	13.7	\$600,082			
Household bundles including auto expenses	\$1,278,440	17.0	\$625,533			
Bundles with auto expenses redistributed	\$1,292,362	17.3	\$627,465			
Public transit	\$1,815,823	31.3	\$1,591,993			

 Table 29
 Impacts per \$1 Million Expenditures (Litman 2004, based on Chmelynski 2008)

In 2006, a million dollars shifted from fuel to general consumer expenditures generated 4.5 domestic jobs, and if shifted to public transit expenditures generated 18.5 jobs. These impacts are likely to increase as oil import costs rise. (* FTE = Full-Time Equivalent employees)

Productivity Gains

Transit services can increase economic productivity by improving access to education and employment (Porter, et al. 2015), as discussed in the *Mobility Benefits* section; reducing traffic congestion, roads and parking facility costs, accidents and pollution (as discussed in the *Efficiency Benefits* section); by stimulating more compact and efficient land use development, and by supporting certain industries, such as tourism (CTOD 2011). For example, transit services may benefit a restaurant by increasing the pool of available employees and reducing absenteeism from vehicle failures, reducing employee parking costs, and by providing mobility for some tourists. Similarly, a delivery company may be more productive if transit reduces traffic congestion.

EDRG (2007) used quantitative analysis to estimate that the current Chicago region transit plan provides an estimated 21% annual return on investments, an enhanced plan provides a 34% return, and adopting Transit-Oriented Development, as proposed in the region's official comprehensive plan, would increase the return to 61%. Failure to maintain the transit system will harm the region's commuters and the economy, estimated at over \$2 billion annually. Faulk and Hicks (2015) found that in U.S. counties, increased fixed-route bus service is negatively related to employee turnover rates, which provides cost savings to businesses by reducing the costs of training new workers. Tsivanidis (2017) calculates that by expanding commuter market access, Bogota's TransMilenio BRT system increased average welfare by 3.5% and output by 2.73% (net of construction and operating costs), indicating that BRT can be a profitable investment for cities.

Land Use Efficiencies

High quality transit tends to create more compact and accessible development, which provides agglomeration efficiencies that increase regional productivity (Chatman, et al. 2012; Currie 2011; Hazledine, Donovan and Bolland 2013). Haughwout (2000) found that doubling a county-level density index is associated with a 6% increase in state-level productivity. Using US metropolitan area data, Chatman and Noland (2013) found that, by increasing central city employment density, a 10% increase in transit service raises regional wages \$1.5 million to \$1.8 billion. Meijers and Burger (2009) found that regional labor productivity generally declines with population dispersion (more residents living outside urban centres), and increases with polycentric development (multiple business districts, cities and towns in a metropolitan region). Dachis and Godin (2021) estimated that Toronto's TTC provides \$2.7 billion annual agglomeration benefits. This suggests that high

quality transit systems with transit oriented development tend to support regional economic development by encouraging more efficient development patterns. Although these impacts are difficult to measure, they are potentially large.

Supports Strategic Economic Development Objectives

Transit services can support specific strategic economic development objectives such as local commercial development and increased tourism. For example, bus or trolley systems can be designed to serve visitors and provide access to major sport and cultural attractions, and historic train stations can be a catalyst for downtown redevelopment (Portland 2009).

Property Values

Property values generally increase in areas served by quality transit (Finn 2017; Nelson, et al., 2013; RISC 2002; Smith and Gihring 2021). The table below summarizes various studies on rail station property value impacts. Rodriguez and Targa (2004) found that, controlling for other factors, a reduction of 5 minutes walking time to BRT stations increases property prices 6.8-9.3%. Munoz-Raskin (2007) found that middle-income households, who tend to use BRT most, pay 2.3% to 14.4% more for housing located close to Bogotá BRT stations.

To estimate how much transit access is worth when buying or selling a home, Redfin, an on-line real estate broking service analyzed the sale prices and Transit Score ratings of more than one million homes sold between January 2014 and April 2016 across 14 major metro areas. Here are the price premiums of one point of Transit Score on a home, grouped by metro area.

	Transit	Median	\$ Premium of 1 Transit Score	% Premium of 1 Transit Score
Metro Area	Score	Sale Price	Point on Median Home Price	Point on Median Home Price
Atlanta	44	\$168,000	\$1,901	1.13%
Baltimore	58	\$229,900	\$226	0.10%
Boston	74	\$325,000	\$3,585	1.10%
Chicago	65	\$220,000	\$1,731	0.79%
Denver	47	\$285,000	\$1,366	0.48%
Los Angeles	51	\$475,000	\$3,095	0.65%
Oakland	55	\$523,000	\$2,816	0.54%
Orange County	27	\$580,000	(\$201)	-0.03%
Phoenix	32	\$204,900	\$291	0.14%
Portland	51	\$275,000	\$1,338	0.49%
San Diego	37	\$449,000	\$786	0.18%
San Francisco	80	\$950,000	\$4,845	0.51%
Seattle	57	\$375,000	\$3,360	0.90%
Washington DC	71	\$360,000	\$3,457	0.96%

Table 30 Housing Price Premium from One Transit Score Point (Finn 2017)

Improved transit access, indicated by Transit Score (<u>www.walkscore.com/transit-score-</u> <u>methodology.shtml</u>) can significantly increase residential property values.

These estimates compare homes by controlling for differences in property and neighborhood characteristics, including property size, number of bedrooms and bathrooms, age of the building, type of property (single-family, condo or townhouse), neighborhood median income and total employment, and controls for market conditions (appreciation

over time) are also built into the model. In all metro areas, a home located in a more transitfriendly neighborhood was more expensive than the same home in a less transit-friendly location, with the exception of Orange County. On average, across the 14 metros analyzed, one Transit Score point can increase the price of a home by \$2,040. But the price premium varies widely from metro to metro. One point of Transit Score in Atlanta bumps up the price of a home over one full percentage point, or \$1,901.

Transit System Efficiency Improvements

Many transit improvements increase system efficiency. Transit priority and improved payment systems increase operating speed and reduce delays, reducing operating costs. Many transit costs are fixed, so increased ridership reduces unit costs, particularly if ridership increases when there is excess capacity. Transit services experiences efficiencies and network effects. As per-capita ridership increases the system can expand, increasing service frequency, coverage, and operating hours, and transit can be more integrated with other transportation system features (for example, more businesses will choose to locate near transit). For these reasons, strategies that increase transit ridership can increase service efficiency and quality. Transit systems in cities with higher-quality transit systems and higher levels of per capita transit ridership tend to have lower transit operating costs, higher cost recovery, and lower per capita transportation expenditures than more automobile-dependent cities (Newman and Kenworthy 1999; Litman 2004a).

Cumulative Effects

Per capita Gross Domestic Product (GDP) tends to increase with public transit ridership and fuel prices, and declines with per capita vehicle travel and roadway supply, as illustrated below. This probably reflects various economic efficiencies described above, including improved accessibility and consumer savings, shifts in consumer expenditures that increase regional economic activity, agglomeration benefits, and more efficient land use development.



Figure 23 Productivity Versus Transit Ridership (APTA 2020 and BEA 2024)

Measuring Economic Development Impacts

A variety of techniques can be used to measure different types of economic development impacts, including transportation-land use models, benefit-cost analysis, input-output models, economic forecasting models, econometric models, case studies, surveys, real estate market analysis and fiscal impact analysis (Chatman, et al. 2012; Currie 2011; Hass-Klau, Crampton and Benjari 2004; Hazledine, Donovan and Bolland 2013; Litman 2009; Smith and Gihring 2021; Weisbrod 2000). The table below summarizes categories of benefits and how they can be measured.

Category	Description	How It Can Be Measured
Employment and Business Activity	Increased employment and business activity resulting from expenditures on transit services.	Local expenditures on transit services times multipliers from a regional Input-Output table. "New" money brought into a region.
Consumer Expenditures	Consumer expenditures shifted from vehicles and fuel to more locally-produced goods.	Consumer expenditure shifts, evaluated using an Input-Output table to determine net change in regional employment and business activity.
Land Use Efficiencies	Increased accessibility and clustering, providing agglomeration efficiencies.	Changes in property values around transit stations.
Productivity Gains	Improved access to education and jobs, and reduced costs to businesses.	Methods described in <i>mobility, efficiency</i> and <i>land use</i> benefits sections, with emphasis on employment gains and businesses savings.
Strategic Economic Development	Transit facilities and services support strategic development objectives.	Role of transit in community's identity supporting strategic industrial development.
Transit System Efficiency	Reduced unit costs and improved services.	Estimates of per capita transportation cost savings provided by public transit services.

Table 31Economic Development Impacts

Transit improvements may provide various types of economic benefits and evaluation techniques.

It is important to avoid double-counting these benefits, or counting economic transfers as net economic gains. For example, the productivity gains of more accessible land use should be counted as land use benefits or economic benefits, but not both. On the other hand, it is appropriate to highlight ways transit supports particular economic development objective. For example, if area businesses have difficulty finding lower-wage employees, improving transit or providing special welfare-to-work services may help address this problem. Similarly, where downtown growth is constrained by traffic and parking congestion, transit improvements can be identified as part of the redevelopment program.

Impact Summary

The table below summarizes the categories of benefits and costs to consider in a comprehensive transit evaluation framework.

Impact Category	Description		
Transit Sanvias Costa	Eineneiel costs of providing transit convises		
Fares	Direct navments by transit users		
Subsidies	Government expenses to provide transit services		
Substates			
Existing User Impacts	Incremental benefits and costs to existing transit users		
Various	Changes in fares, travel speed, comfort, safety, etc. to existing transit users.		
Mobility Benefits	Benefits from increased travel that would not otherwise occur.		
Direct User Benefits	Direct benefits to users from increased mobility.		
Public Services	Support for public services and cost savings for government agencies.		
Productivity	Increased productivity from improved access to education and jobs.		
Fault.	Improved mobility that makes people who are also economically, socially or		
Equity	physically disadvantaged relatively better off.		
Emorgonou Bosponso	value of having mobility options available in case they are ever needed, including the		
Emergency Response	ability to evacuate and deliver resources during emergencies.		
Efficiency Benefits	Benefits from reduced motor vehicle traffic.		
Vehicle Costs	Changes in vehicle ownership, operating and residential parking costs.		
Chauffeuring	Reduced chauffeuring responsibilities by drivers for non-drivers.		
Vehicle Delays	Reduced motor vehicle traffic congestion.		
Pedestrian Delays	Reduced traffic delay to pedestrians.		
Parking Costs	Reduced parking problems and non-residential parking facility costs.		
	Changes in crash costs, personal security and improved health and fitness due to		
Safety, Security and Health	increased walking and cycling.		
Roadway Costs	Changes in roadway construction, maintenance and traffic service costs.		
Energy and Emissions	Changes in energy consumption, air, noise and water pollution.		
Travel Time Impacts	Changes in transit users' travel time costs.		
Land Use	Benefits from changes in land use patterns.		
Transportation Land	Changes in the amount of land needed for roads and parking facilities.		
	Supports land use objectives such as infill, efficient public services, clustering,		
Land Use Objectives	accessibility, land use mix, and preservation of ecological and social resources.		
Economic Development	Benefits from increased economic productivity and employment.		
Direct	Jobs and business activity created by transit expenditures.		
	Increased regional economic activity due to shifts in consumer expenditures to goods		
Shifted expenditures	with greater regional employment multipliers.		
Agglomeration Economies	Productivity gains due to more clustered, accessible land use patterns.		
The second station of the i	Nore efficient transport system due to economies of scale in transit service, more		
Transportation Efficiencies	accessible land use patterns, and reduced automobile dependency.		
Land Value Impacts	Higher property values in areas served by public transit.		

Table 32Transit Impacts

This table summarizes potential transit benefits and costs identified in this section. These are impacts to consider when evaluating a particular transit policy or project.

The table below summarizes categories of benefits and costs.

	Improved Transit Service	Increased Transit Travel	Reduced Automobile Travel	Transit-Oriented Development					
Metrics	Service Quality (speed, reliability, comfort, safety, etc.)	Transit Ridership (passenger-miles or mode share)	Mode Shifts or Automobile Travel Reductions	Portion of Development With TOD Design Features					
Potential Benefits	 Improved convenience and comfort for existing users. Equity benefits (since existing users tend to be disadvantaged). Option value (the value of having an option for possible future use). Improved operating efficiency (if service speed increases). Improved security (reduced crime risk) 	 Mobility benefits to new users. Increased fare revenue. Increased public fitness and health (by increasing walking and bicycling trips). Increased security as more non-criminals ride transit and wait at stops and stations. 	 Reduced traffic congestion. Road and parking facility cost savings. Consumer savings. Consumer savings. Reduced chauffeuring burdens. Increased traffic safety. Energy conservation. Air and noise pollution reductions. 	 Additional vehicle travel reductions ("leverage effects"). Improved accessibility, particularly for non- drivers. Community cohesion and reduced crime risk. More efficient development (reduced infrastructure costs). Farmland and habitat preservation. 					
Potential Costs	 Capital and operating costs, and therefore subsidies. Land and road space. Traffic congestion and accident risk imposed by transit vehicles. 	 Transit vehicle crowding. 	 Reduced automobile business activity. 	 Various problems associated with more compact development. 					

Table 33 Public Transport Benefits and Costs

Public transport can have various types benefits and costs. Many benefits tend to be overlooked or undervalued in conventional transportation economic evaluation.

Evaluating and Quantifying Transit Benefits

Transit benefits can be divided into two major categories: *equity-oriented*, which result from the availability and use of transit by disadvantaged people, and *efficiency-oriented*, which result when transit substitutes for automobile travel. Some transit services are primarily *equity-justified*, others are primarily *efficiency-justified*, and many are intended to provide both. For example, demand response services, and bus transit in areas and times with low load factors, are primarily equity-justified, since they provide basic mobility and do little to reduce traffic congestion, facility costs or pollution emissions. Vanpooling, express bus and commuter rail services are primarily efficiency-justified, since they tend to serve middle- and higher-income patrons, and are intended to reduce congestion and other negative traffic impacts, although they incur some additional equity-justified costs to accommodate people with disabilities (such as special equipment and features for people in wheelchairs), which slightly increase their costs.

In general, transit in rural areas and smaller cities is primarily equity-justified, while conventional bus and rail service services in large cities provide both benefits. Within a particular system, efficiency-justified routes tend to have the highest cost recovery and lowest subsidy per passenger-mile. The figure shows the size of subsidies devoted to different modes, and categorizes them according to whether they are primarily equity- or efficiency-justified, assuming that 2/3 of bus service and 1/3 of light- and heavy-rail are primarily equity-justified. This suggests that about half of transit subsidies are equity-justified and half are efficiency-justified, although it is difficult to give a precise accounting since many benefits overlap.



Figure 24 Transit Subsidies (APTA 2002)

About half of transit subsidies are equity-justified and about half are efficiency-justified.

The distinction between equity- and efficiency-justified subsidies is often important for transit evaluation (Walker 2008). For example, it would be wrong to criticize equity-justified transit for failing to reduce traffic congestion or pollution emissions, and it would be wrong to criticize efficiency-justified transit for failing to serve lower-income travelers, since that is not their primary justification.

Many transit benefits are partly or completely ignored in conventional transport economic analysis, as summarized in the table below. In most cased, conventional evaluation only measures the direct benefits resulting from travel shifted from automobile to transit, but

ignores indirect benefits that result when quality transit services leverage additional reductions in vehicle ownership and use. Most conventional evaluation only quantifies user travel time savings (for example, if grade-separated transit service increases transit travel speeds), but not the value of improved comfort (such as reduced crowding, more comfortable seats and better waiting areas), although by reducing unit (per-hour) travel time costs these measures are equivalent to increasing travel speeds.

Benefits	Description	Considered?				
	Increased convenience, speed and comfort to users					
User benefits	from transit service improvements.	Generally only increased speed.				
Congestion Reduction	Reduced traffic congestion.	Direct but not indirect				
Facility cost savings	Reduced road and parking facility costs.	Generally not				
	Reduced consumer transportation costs, including	Operating costs, but not				
Consumer savings	reduced vehicle operating and ownership costs.	ownership costs				
Transport diversity	Improved transport options, particularly for non-drives.	Sometimes, but not quantified.				
Road safety	Reduced per capita traffic crash rates.	Direct but not indirect				
Environmental quality	Reduced pollution emissions and habitat degradation.	Direct but not indirect				
Efficient land use	More compact development, reduced sprawl.	Sometimes.				
Economic development	Increased productivity and agglomeration efficiencies.	Direct but not indirect				
Community cohesion	Positive interactions among people in a community.	Generally not				
Public health	Increased physical activity (particularly walking).	Generally not.				

Table 34Transit Benefits (Litman 2004)

"Indirect benefits" are benefits that result if quality transit reduces per capita vehicle ownership and use.

The quantification of transit benefits is complicated by the fact that some impacts overlap. For example, direct user savings and benefits are partly capitalized into land values around transit stations, so it would not be appropriate to simply add all of those benefits together. But many transit benefits are indirect or external and so are not perceived by users or capitalized in property values, as illustrated below.

Table 35 Transit Benefits					
Benefits	Capitalized In Property Values				
User benefits	Yes				
Congestion Reduction	Direct yes, indirect no				
Facility cost savings	Direct yes, indirect no				
Consumer savings	Direct yes, indirect no				
Transport diversity	Direct yes, indirect no				
Road safety	Mostly not				
Environmental quality	Mostly not				
Efficient land use	Some				
Economic development	Some				
Community cohesion	Some				
Public health	Possibly				

Only a portion of transit benefits are directly perceived by users and so reflected in land values.

In addition, transit systems experience economies of scale: as more people use the service becomes more efficient overall and benefits increase exponentially. As a result, marginal benefits are greater than average benefits. There is also land use economies of agglomeration leveraged by transit, particularly high quality rail transit that provides a catalyst for more compact, mixed, multi-modal community development. Large central business districts, which provide significant, unique economic benefits, simply could not exist without high quality transit services. These additional economic benefits are not capitalized in land values or measured through conventional indicators.

High quality transit, such as urban rail or BRT, provides a catalyst for more compact, multimodal, transit-oriented development where residents tend to own fewer vehicles, drive much less, rely much more on resource-efficient modes, and spend much less time and money on transportation. For example, Dasgupta, Lall and Wheeler (2023) find that subway networks have reduced population-related CO2 emissions by about 50%, plus many co-benefits. They conclude that, despite their high costs, high quality urban rail networks are often very cost effective when all benefits and costs are considered.

For these reasons it would be wrong to assume that all, or even most transit benefits are capitalized in property values. Although more research is needed to better quantify the distribution of costs and benefits, it is likely that most are not directly perceived by users, so total benefits are far greater than what is measured through property value impacts.

Comparing Transit and Automobile Costs

It is often useful to compare the costs of transit with other modes, to evaluate the cost efficiency and fairness. This section discusses factors to consider in such analysis.

For *efficiency-justified* service (intended to reduce congestion, accidents and pollution problems) transit and automobile transport can be compared using cost effectiveness indicators such as costs per passenger-mile or benefit/cost ratio. For *equity-justified* service (intended to provide basic mobility to disadvantaged people) there are reasons to subsidize transit more than automobile travel, since transit bears additional costs to accommodate people with disabilities (such as wheelchair lifts), and many non-drivers have low incomes so low fares achieve equity objectives. Since many transit users cannot drive, transit service costs should be compared with taxi costs, or a combination of taxi and automobile travel costs (including driver's time costs) for chauffeured car trips.

Various cost comparison issues are described below.

Government Subsidy Per Passenger-Mile

When measured per *passenger-mile*, transit subsidies often appear large. Transit subsidies average about 60¢ per passenger-mile, about 40 times larger than the approximately 1.5¢ per automobile passenger-mile roadway subsidies (Litman 2009). However, about half of transit subsidy costs are equity-justified, including costs for wheelchair lifts, paratransit and service in suburban and rural areas. Considering just efficiency-justified subsidies (bus and rail transit on major urban corridors), transit subsidies are about 30¢ per passenger-mile, 20 times greater than automobile roadway subsidies. Automobile use requires other public expenditures besides roads, include traffic services (policing, emergency services, street lighting, etc.) and publicly subsidized parking. These are estimated to total at least 6¢ per passenger-mile. This implies that transit subsidies are 10 times greater than automobile subsidies, or 5 times efficiency-justified subsidy.

	Urban Peak		Urban Off-Peak		Rural		Average	
	Average	Diesel	Average	Diesel	Average	Diesel	Average	Diesel
	Car	Bus	Car	Bus	Car	Bus	Car	Bus
Average Occupancy	1.1	25.0	1.5	8.0	1.5	5.0	1.42	10.20
Operating Subsidy	0.000	0.250	0.000	0.250	0.000	0.250	0.000	0.250
Crash costs	0.032	0.008	0.023	0.025	0.023	0.040	0.025	0.028
External parking	0.109	0.000	0.027	0.000	0.013	0.000	0.038	0.000
Congestion	0.155	0.014	0.013	0.005	0.000	0.000	0.036	0.005
Road facilities	0.015	0.003	0.011	0.009	0.007	0.008	0.010	0.007
Roadway land value	0.022	0.001	0.016	0.003	0.016	0.005	0.017	0.003
Traffic services	0.014	0.001	0.007	0.001	0.003	0.001	0.007	0.001
Air pollution	0.056	0.007	0.035	0.020	0.011	0.014	0.029	0.015
Noise	0.009	0.002	0.007	0.006	0.003	0.005	0.006	0.005
Resource externalities	0.026	0.006	0.017	0.016	0.014	0.022	0.018	0.017
Barrier effect	0.014	0.002	0.007	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.007	0.003
Water pollution	0.012	0.001	0.009	0.002	0.009	0.003	0.009	0.002
Totals	\$0.464	\$0.295	\$0.172	\$0.340	\$0.102	\$0.351	\$0.202	\$0.336

Table 36 Automobile and Transit External Costs Per Passenger-Mile (Litman, 2003)

This table summarizes external costs of automobile and transit in mills (thousandths of a dollar).
Vehicle travel imposes other external costs, including parking and fuel production subsidies, congestion delays and crash risk imposed on other road users, and pollution emissions. A typical urban parking space has a \$500 to \$1,500 annualized value and there are 3-4 off-street parking spaces per vehicle, indicating \$1,500 to \$6,000 annual parking costs per automobile ("Parking Costs," Litman 2009). Most non-residential parking is government mandated and subsidized, financed through taxes, rents, lower wages, and higher costs for retail goods. These costs are borne by people regardless of their vehicle ownership and use, resulting in many hundreds of dollars in annual cross subsidies from low-vehicle-ownership to high-vehicle-ownership households. For example, a typical middle-income zero-vehicle urban resident is required to pay for at least one residential parking space, plus an estimated \$2,000 annually for parking at work and businesses that they seldom or never use, so their neighbors who do rely heavily on automobile transport will have abundant and free parking at most destinations. These non-residential parking subsidies average about 17¢ per mile (\$2,000/12,000 annual VMT per automobile), or about 25¢ per mile for a typical urban automobile commute (\$1,000/4,000 annual VMT per automobile-commuter) who uses a "free" parking space.

Table 40 indicates automobile and transit external costs under various travel conditions. The figure below illustrates the totals. These external costs are particularly high under urban-peak conditions, which is where transit tends to be most cost-effective. As a result, transit is often more cost effective than automobile travel under urban-peak conditions on efficiency grounds. In addition, a certain amount of transit service is justified under all conditions to provide basic mobility.



Figure 25 Transit and Automobile External Costs (Litman 2009)

This figure compares estimated average external costs for automobile and transit under various travel conditions, including operating subsidies, congestion, road, parking subsidies, accident externalities and pollution emissions. Transit has lower costs under urban peak conditions.

Taxi operating costs (for vehicles, drivers and business expenses) average about \$2.25 per mile, plus external costs of 20-50¢ per mile (the same as automobile travel). Transit subsidies are therefore about a quarter of taxi costs, indicating that transit is often more cost effective than other options available to non-drivers.

Per Capita

Equity analysis requires per capita cost analysis. Transit dependent people tend to travel less than motorists, so higher costs per mile are more than offset by fewer annual miles. For example, a non-driver who rides transit 3,000 annual miles with 60¢ per passenger-mile external costs receives \$1,800 total annual subsidy, while a motorist who drives 12,000 annual miles with 25¢ per mile external costs receives a \$3,000 annual subsidy. Transit subsidies can therefore be justified on horizontal equity grounds, to insure that non-drivers receive a fair share of transport funding.

Economies of Scale and Second-Best Pricing

Public transit services experience scale economies (unit costs decline as use increases), which justifies subsidies (Vickrey 1994, pp. 197-215; Parry and Small 2007). As described previously, automobile travel imposes significant external costs. Until such costs are internalized through more efficient road, parking and fuel pricing, subsidies can be justified to improve transit service and attract travelers who would otherwise drive on *second-best* grounds, to help reduce traffic congestion, parking and accident problems.

Project-Specific Comparisons

The analysis above compares transit and automobile travel using generic, average values, but when evaluating transit projects and comparing them with other options in a particular planning situation it is best to use specific marginal costs and benefits. This can identify whether transit is most cost-efficient, and can help design transit projects to maximize net benefits. Marginal costs are often lower than average costs for transit services. For example, once a decision is made to provide transit to provide basic mobility to non-drivers there is often little incremental cost to carrying more riders.

Cost Comparison Summary

Table 41 summarizes different ways of comparing costs. Considering just direct financial subsidies transit appears more costly than automobile travel, but when other costs are considered, transit costs and subsidies turn out to be lower overall, particularly under urban-peak conditions.

Table 37 Comparing Transit And Automobile Costs Per Passenger-Mile

Perspective	Transit Versus Automobile Cost Ratio		
	Total	Efficiency-Justified	
Transit subsidy versus roadway subsidy	40:1	20:1	
Total external costs of transit and automobile	1.5:1	0.75:1	
Urban-peak external costs of transit and automobile	0.5:1	0.5:1	
Per capita annual external costs of transit and automobile users	0.6:1	0.3:1	
Marginal cost of addressing various transport problems	Transit Often Cheapest	Transit Often Cheapest	
Project-specific analysis	Varies	Varies	

This table summarizes different ways to compare transit and automobile costs. Transit receives more government financial subsidy per passenger-mile, but automobile travel imposes other external costs, particularly under urban-peak conditions. As a result, transit improvements are often cheaper than the total costs of accommodating more urban driving, and transit users impose much lower external costs per capita than motorists. These are generic estimates to indicate the general magnitude of costs, more detailed analysis is needed to determine costs in a particular situation.

Perspectives

Transit and automobile costs can be compared from various perspectives, such as these three.

Consumers

Although most North American adults reply primarily on automobile transportation, many still experience periods in life they can benefit from having transit available, including when they are too young to drive, if they have limited incomes, if they have a disability that limits driving (which is particularly common during old age), when their vehicle fails or for any reason they are not allowed to drive, if a family member of friend would need to be chauffeured, during special events that attract large crowds, and if they commute to a destination with significant congestion or parking costs.

From consumers perspective transit can be a cost effective investment. Residents of communities with high quality public transit services save hundreds of dollars on avoided transportation costs (CTOD and CNT 2006; Litman 2004a). High quality transit typically costs residents an extra \$100-300 in annual subsidies but provides about \$500 to \$1,000 in transportation cost savings, plus other benefits such as reduced accidents and improved mobility options (Litman 2010).

Transit Can Make You A Millionaire

Here is a strategy that can provide a million dollars to a person with an average income, and it is enjoyable, healthy and ethical. Simply minimize your driving expenses and invest the savings. After a few decades you'll be rich. It's as simple as that.

Most households can reduce their vehicle expenditures. For example, owning and operating a typical new luxury car, SUV or van costs about \$8,000 a year, and most households own multiple vehicles. If you buy a reliable used car, share it with other family members, and minimize your driving by using transit, cycling and walking when possible, you can reasonably cut your vehicle expenses in half. Although you'll lead a less mobile lifestyle, you'll enjoy greater financial freedom.

What happens if you invest the \$4,000 annual savings at 7% annual return? In ten years you have \$55,266, in twenty years you have \$163,982, and in less than forty-four years you have a million dollars. In other words, excessive car expenses consume a million dollars of accumulated wealth over a typical working lifetime.

Perhaps you have other priorities besides retiring rich. You can use the savings to buy a nicer home, put children through college, travel, or work fewer hours. This alternative is not transportation deprivation. You can still have a household car available when you need it, you simply can't own a particularly flashy vehicle or lead an extremely automobile-dependent lifestyle.

Business

Public transit can benefit businesses by improving employee access, reducing costs and supporting community land use and economic development. Below are examples of benefits to various types of businesses:

- Service-Oriented Business. Public transit can expand the pool of available workers and provide a fall-back option for commuters who normally drive when their vehicles are for any reason unavailable. This is particularly important for industries that hire numerous lowerwage workers, such as hospitality and retail businesses.
- *Downtown Developer.* Transit is important for downtown economic development. It reduces parking costs and allows higher densities and more design flexibility than would occur if visitors all arrived by car.
- *Tourist Attraction*. Transit can support tourism by providing mobility for visitors who arrive without a car, by reducing the economic and aesthetic costs of providing visitor parking, and by providing commute transportation to lower-wage employees.
- *Small Retail Business*. Downtowns offer a unique retail environment. Transit service reinforces the economics and ambiance of downtown by reducing automobile traffic and parking problems, and bringing a critical mass of customers into a walkable commercial area.
- *Manufactures, Shippers and Service Companies.* Public transit benefits businesses that use roadways by reducing traffic and parking congestion.

Public Officials and Taxpayers

Transit services and support strategies such as commute trip reduction programs and transit oriented development can provide government savings and achieve public objectives.

- *Transportation Agency.* Transit improvements are often the least-cost way to improve mobility, reduce urban traffic and parking congestion, and address particular problems, such as congestion during roadway construction projects or special events.
- *Social Services.* Transit services support public services by providing access to medical services, education and employment by disadvantaged populations.
- Schools and Colleges. Public transit can make education more affordable and available to disadvantaged students, and helps reduce traffic and parking problems around schools and campuses.
- *Economic Development*. Transit services support economic development, by reducing government and business costs, improving access to jobs, and supporting various economic development efforts such as urban redevelopment and tourism.
- Land Use Planning. Transit can help support strategic land use objectives, such as redevelopment of existing urban communities and reduced sprawl.
- *Special Events.* Transit can help address traffic and parking problems that occur during major sport and cultural events.
- *Environmental Quality*. Public transit can help achieve energy conservation, pollution emission reduction and greenspace preservation objectives.

Motorists

Critics sometimes assume that there is a conflict between the interests of motorists and transit users. They often claim that public transit receives an excessive portion of transportation funding, and challenge the use of vehicle user fees to fund public transit services. But motorists have many reasons to support public transit, as listed below.

- *Congestion Reduction.* Quality transit service that is attractive to discretionary travelers can be an effective way to reduce traffic and parking congestion.
- *Roadway and Parking Facility Cost Savings.* When all costs are considered, transit improvements are often cheaper than increasing road and parking facility capacity. This reduces costs to governments and businesses.
- *Improve Choice.* Even people who don't currently use transit may value having it as a mobility option for emergencies and future use, similar to the value that ship passengers place on having a lifeboat, even if they don't use it.
- *Consumer Cost Savings.* High-quality transit service, and transit-oriented land use, can provide thousands of dollars in annual savings per household (McCann 2000).
- *Reduced Chauffeuring.* Quality transit service can reduce motorists' need to give rides to nondriving friends and family members.
- *Safety Benefits.* Transit travel tends to have lower crash risk than automobile travel, reducing crash risks to transit riders and other road users.
- *Efficient Land Use.* Some land use patterns, including large commercial centers, multimodal neighborhoods and some types of resorts, are only feasible with high quality transit service.
- *Equity*. Transit provides basic mobility for people who are economically, physically and socially disadvantaged.
- *Economic Development.* Expenditures on transit tend to provide much more employment and regional business activity than consumer expenditures on automobiles and fuel.
- *Environmental Benefits.* Transit consumes fewer resources and causes less pollution than automobile travel.

Critics sometimes imply that it is hypocritical or unfair for people to support transit if they don't currently use it (e.g., "Supporters simply want transit for other people to use, so they can continue driving"). But there is no reason that support for transit should be limited to currently users. It is both rational and moral for motorists to support transit to improve mobility for others, reduce traffic and parking congestion, and provide a transport option that they may use in the future. Put another way, over a typical lifecycle most people have periods when they rely on public transit. Non-users can support transit as a way to insure it will be available when they will need it in the future.

Common Errors Made When Comparing Transit and Automobile Transport

Below are common errors made when comparing transit and automobile costs and benefits. For more discussion see "Comprehensive Planning," VTPI (2004) and Ehrenhalt (2009).

- Confusing efficiency and equity objectives. Because transit services are justified for both
 efficiency and equity objectives, it is important to consider these objectives separately in
 economic analysis. Some efficiency-justified services may seem inequitable (for example,
 premium services to attract commuters out of their cars), and some equity-justified services
 may seem inefficient (such as special services and features to accommodate people with
 disabilities, and off-peak service to provide basic mobility).
- *Comparing average rather than marginal costs.* When comparing automobile and transit investments, some analysts use generic average costs, ignoring the greater efficiency of transit and higher costs of automobile travel under urban-peak conditions.
- *Ignoring parking costs.* Economic analysis often ignores the parking cost savings that result from reduced automobile ownership and use.
- Underestimating vehicle cost savings. Economic analysis often considers only fuel, oil, tire wear and tolls when calculating the savings from reduced driving, ignoring additional savings from reduced vehicle ownership and mileage-based depreciation savings.
- Undervaluing safety and health benefits. Safety benefits from reduced accidents, and health benefits from increased walking are often overlooked.
- Ignoring transportation diversity benefits. There are benefits to having a diverse transport system that are often overlooked, including improved mobility for non-drivers, consumer savings and choice, increased efficiency, increased system flexibility and resilience.
- Ignoring non-drivers interests. Transportation planning sometimes assumes that everybody has access to an automobile, giving little consideration to the needs of non-drivers, or the negative impacts that increased vehicle traffic and automobile-oriented land use have on pedestrians, cyclists and transit users.
- *Ignoring generated traffic impacts*. Failure to consider the effects of generated traffic tends to overstate the benefits of highway capacity expansion and understate the benefits of alternative solutions, particularly grade separated transit (Litman 2001).
- *Ignoring strategic land use objectives.* Transit tends to support land use objectives such as reduced sprawl and urban redevelopment.
- *Ignoring construction impacts.* Transport projects, particularly highway construction, often cause delays and accident risk, and displace residents and businesses. These can offset a significant portion of the project benefits.
- *Undervaluing congestion reductions.* Transit can provide significant long-term congestion reductions when it is faster than driving, but this impact is often overlooked.
- *Ignoring consumer preferences and latent demand.* Travelers sometimes prefer alternative modes and will choose them over driving even if they are slower. Where high quality public transit is provided, ridership tends to significantly increase.
- Ignoring strategies for increasing transit benefits. A transit option that does not appear justified under current conditions may become cost effective if implemented as part of a coordinated program that includes ridership incentives and transit oriented development.

Transit Versus Automobile Comparison Summary

Public transit and automobile transport have very different benefit and cost profiles that should be considered when comparing their cost efficiencies and evaluating their roles in an efficient transport system. Transit requires relatively large subsidy per passenger-mile. As previously discussed (see Figure 18), about half of these subsidies are for features to provide basic mobility (wheelchair lifts, paratransit, and service in lower-density areas), which increase transit costs but are often cheaper than alternatives: inadequate mobility for non-drivers, taxi rides, or chauffeuring by motorists. Automobile transport has other subsidies and external costs, including parking and fuel production subsidies, congestion and accident risk imposed on other road users, and pollution emissions.

Public transit and automobile transport have opposite cost curves: transit costs decline while automobile costs increase with density. Transit cost efficiency varies widely depending on conditions and can be significantly increased with support strategies such as grade separation, transit-oriented development, and efficient road and parking pricing. Transit service experiences scale economies. As a result, transit improvements are often more cost effective than accommodating additional automobile travel on urban roads.

By helping create more compact, multi-modal communities high quality transit can leverage additional vehicle travel reductions, so a transit passenger-mile reduces several automobile vehicle-miles (McGraw, et al. 2021). People who rely on transit tend to travel fewer annual miles and so receive less per capita subsidy than motorists. A typical transit commuter receives a third of the transport infrastructure subsidy as a typical urban automobile commuter. Public transit subsidies are therefore justified on fairness grounds, to ensure that non-drivers and urban areas receive a fair share of transportation resources (Mallett 2025).

High quality public transit provides numerous benefits including congestion reductions, road and parking facility cost savings, consumer savings, reduced accident risk, improved mobility for non-drivers and reduced chauffeuring burdens for motorists, energy conservation, pollution emission reductions, support for more efficient land use development, and improved public fitness and health. Even people who currently do not use public transit enjoy many of these benefits and so have reason to support service improvements that increase its attractiveness (Litman 2010a). Considering all benefits, public transit investments often provide high economic returns. Conventional planning tends to overlook or undervalue many of these benefits leading to underinvestment in transit service improvements and support strategies.

Current trends are increasing the benefits and cost efficiency of high quality public transit. These include aging population, rising fuel prices, increasing traffic and parking congestion, increasing urbanization, increasing costs to expand roads and parking facilities, changing consumer preferences, and increasing health and environmental concerns. Consumer demand for alternative modes and transit-oriented development is increasing (Litman 2006). As a result, policies and investments that support high quality public transit are increasingly justified to create a more diverse and efficient transport system that responds to future consumer demands and economic conditions.

Evaluating Transit Criticism

There is sometimes debate over the merits of transit. Critics argue that it is ineffective at improving transportation system performance and is wasteful, but their analysis reflects various omissions, errors and misrepresentations. *Evaluating Rail Transit Criticism* (Litman 2005a) and various related documents (Litman 2011 and 2014b) examine these criticisms in detail. Below are some key points.

- Critics tend to ignore or understate many transit benefits and underestimate the full costs of accommodating more automobile traffic under urban-peak conditions. For example, they compare the costs of rail transit projects and average highway expansion costs, although automobile travel requires vehicles, roads and parking, and road and parking facility cost are generally higher than average in dense urban area. An accurate analysis compares rail system costs with the full costs of owning and operating automobiles, expanding roadways and providing parking on the same congested urban corridors.
- Critics argue that North Americans will not ride transit, and that North American cities are unsuited to efficient transit systems. But experience in several North American cities show that with high quality service and supportive policies transit ridership will grow, and transit can be cost effective compared with other transportation improvement options.
- Critics are wrong when they claim that rail transit fails to reduce traffic congestion. There is plenty of evidence that high quality transit services reduces roadway traffic congestion.
- Critics claim that transit is not a cost effective solution to individual problems such as traffic congestion, air pollution, inadequate mobility for non-drivers, etc. They may be correct if transit is evaluated based on just one objective, but because it provides multiple benefits, when all impacts are considered, rail transit is often very cost effective overall.
- Critics claim that transit carries too few travelers to solve regional transport problems. But transit operates on the most congested routes where even a small reduction in traffic volumes can provide significant road, parking and vehicle cost savings.
- Critics argue that transit is too slow to be useful or attractive. But on congested urban, automobile travel is also slow due to congestion, so transit trips are often competitive. In addition, travel time unit costs (cents per minute or dollars per hour) are generally lower for high quality public transit (passengers have a seat, vehicles are comfortable, safe and quiet, and so can use their time productively) than for driving in congested conditions.
- Critics claim that transit is excessively subsidized, but transit subsidies are often lower than the total external costs of automobile transport under urban travel conditions, including road and parking subsidies, and congestion, accident and pollution costs imposed on others. Transit subsidies are partly justified for equity sake, to reduce problems such as traffic and parking congestion, and to help achieve a strategic planning objective such as urban redevelopment, factors that critics generally ignore.
- Critics argue that automobile travel offers more freedom than public transit. This is only partly true. In a typical community, 10-30% of the population cannot drive and so does not enjoy the freedom of driving. Although motorists are not restricted by schedules, they must work longer hours to pay for their vehicles, and are burdened by the stress of driving. For many people, public transit improvements, and more transit-oriented development, provide more freedom than additional roadway expansion.
- Critics claim it is cheaper to subsidize automobiles than to provide transit services, but they overlook many important factors, as discussed in the following section.

Debates about the value of transit often reflect differences in the scope and definition of impacts (benefits and costs). Transit services and improvements should generally be evaluated based on their *total* benefits and costs, rather than a few performance indicators such as dollars per reduction in congestion delay or ton of emissions. This can be done formally, by monetizing (measuring in monetary units) all impacts to calculate *net present value*, or less formally using some sort of matrix of performance indicators (Litman 2001a; NACTO 2018).

At a minimum, these impacts should include congestion reduction, road and parking cost savings, consumer cost savings, reduced crash costs, energy conservation and emission reduction benefits, improved mobility for non-drivers, and support for strategic planning objectives such as reduced impervious surface, urban redevelopment and economic development, as discussed in this report. Quantification can be difficult because so many of the benefits and a few of the costs of transit, particularly rail transit, do not lend themselves to be easily measured and monetized. For example, transit improvements and transit-oriented development tend to improve accessibility for disadvantaged populations, an equity objective. It is difficult to place a dollar value on this benefit, although most people would probably agree that it is important to consider when evaluating options. Similarly, it can be difficult to quantify the full benefits of energy conservation (what value to put on reduced dependency on imported oil) although most people will probably agree that it is significant.

It is wrong to evaluate public transit based on just one or two performance indicators, such as congestion or air pollution reduction, just as you wouldn't evaluate a possible house to purchase based only on the size of its bedroom or the quality of its appliances. A house provides a complex set of services. So does a transportation system. Evaluation must be multi-faceted, recognizing the full range of direct and indirect impacts (NACTO 2018). One of the greatest challenges of good decision-making is the temptation to focus on easy-to-measure impacts at the expense of more-difficult-to-measure impacts.

Rail transit and transit-oriented development are often criticized because their full benefits take many years to be achieved, since rail is built one link at a time, and transit-oriented development requires changing land use patterns. But they can provide diverse benefits and these benefits are extremely durable once implemented. Rail transit and TOD therefore provides a long-term legacy of increased accessibility and community livability for the future. A short-term perspective will therefore undervalue these strategies.

Is Transit Travel Slow and Inefficient?

Critics sometimes argue that transit is inefficient because transit travel tends to be slower than driving, citing particular trips that take much longer by transit than automobile. Such comments are understandable, since public transit often does take longer to reach a particular destination, but such analysis overlooks several important factors that can result in public transit being overall efficient and cost effective.

Although for an individual traveler driving is often faster, total travel times can often be reduced if travelers shift from driving to public transit on congested corridors. For example, consider a particular length of roadway can carry 4,000 maximum vehicles per hour, vehicle travel takes 30 minutes under uncongested conditions and 40 minutes under congested conditions, and bus travel takes an additional 10 minutes for access and waiting time. If all 5,000 travelers drive they all experience congestion, resulting in 200,000 total minutes travel time (5,000 times 40 minutes). However, if 1,000 of those travelers shift to public transit, reducing vehicle traffic volumes to the road's capacity, the total travel time is reduced to 160,000 minutes (4,000 motorists at 30 minutes plus 1,000 transit passengers at 40 minutes per trip), saving 40,000 total minutes.

In addition, travel time unit costs (cents per minute or dollars per hour, as reflected by opportunity costs and consumers; willingness to pay for travel time savings) are generally lower for high quality public transit than for driving, since transit travelers can work or relax. As a result, even if transit travel takes more minutes per trip, travel time costs may be lower. For example, if transit travel is comfortable its travel costs are estimated to average 25% of wage rates, compared with 50% or more of wage rates for driving under congested conditions. Of course, these values will vary depending on conditions and personal preferences; some travelers will place a higher or lower value on transit travel or driving. However, if high quality transit service exists, travelers can self-select so those who prefer driving continue to drive and those who prefer transit can choose that option, minimizing travel time costs.

Transit travel often has faster *effective speeds* (considering total time devoted to travel, including both time spent traveling and devoted to maintaining vehicles and working to pay transport expenses) than automobile travel, as illustrated in the table below.

	Luxury Car	Sport Utility Vehicle	Average Car	Economy Car	Public Transit	Bicycle
Annual vehicle costs (Aus\$)	\$14,161	\$17,367	\$9,753	\$5,857	\$966	\$500
Annual hours worked (\$20/hrs)	644	790	444	266	44	23
Average travel speed (km/hr)	45	45	45	45	2	20
Travel time (hours)	333	333	333	333	600	750
Support time (maintenance, etc.)	51	51	50	51	60	55
Total time	1,028	1,174	827	650	704	828
Effective speed (km/hr)	14.6	12.8	18.1	23.1	21.3	18.1

Table 38Effective Speed (Tranter 2004)

This table compares estimated effective speeds of various vehicles.

When people shift from driving to public transit they often change their destinations to increase efficiency. For example, automobile travelers tend to shop at automobile-dependent suburban locations. People who rely on transit tend to shop more at neighborhood stores and downtown

business districts. Described differently, transit travel tends to take longer to access automobileoriented locations, but transit-oriented development, which increases local services and concentrates destinations near high quality transit stations, improves accessibility. In automobile-dependent areas transit travel often requires long walks to bus stops, long waits due to infrequent service, slow vehicle speeds, and multiple transfers due to limited routes. With high quality transit and transit-oriented development most destinations are within a fiveminute walk of frequent transit stops and stations, multiple routes provide more direct links, and service is fast due to quick loading systems and grade separation. As a result, the total amount of time people devote to travel is no greater in transit-oriented locations than in otherwise similar automobile-oriented communities.

Transit can also provide special time savings by reducing the need for special chauffeuring trips and for exercise. In automobile-dependent locations parents often drive children to school and sport events, and non-driving relatives and friends to shopping and medical appointments, trips that are avoided where high quality public transit is available. Since most transit trips involve walking or bicycling links, most transit travelers achieve daily physical activity targets, saving time in traveling to a gym and exercising.

For all of these reasons it is wrong to assume that public transit travel is necessarily less efficient or more time consuming than driving. This is not to suggest that transit is always more efficient and cost effective or that every trip should be made by public transit. An optional transport system provides effective travel options so people can choose the most efficient and preferable mode for each trip. For example, they can choose to walk and bicycle for local errands and trips during good weather, and enjoy exercise. They can choose high quality public transit when traveling on major urban corridors, and be able to work or relax instead of bearing the stress of driving in congestion. And they can choose to drive, their own car or a rented vehicle, when traveling to dispersed destinations, or in a group, when carrying large loads, or when other circumstances require.

Are Transit Subsidies Inefficient?

Some critics argue that public subsidies encourage inefficient transit operations, including services at locations and times with little demands, oversized vehicles, and a lack of response to consumer demands. However, analysis by Funk, Higgins and Newmark (2023) found that transit efficiency indicators (vehicle load factors, service and guideway-miles per capita) are strongly and positively correlated with per resident operating subsidies.

This makes sense because transit services experience economies of scale – they become more efficient overall as service increases which creates a virtuous cycle of more ridership, more service, more transit-oriented development (more compact, mixed, walkable development with reduced parking supply near transit routes), and more social acceptability of transit use. In such situations, subsidies can have strong leverage effects that increase transit and transportation system efficiency.

Is it Cheaper to Subsidize Cars Instead of Transit?

Critics sometimes argue it would be cheaper to subsidize car ownership for low-income people than transit service. For example, Castelazo and Garrett (2004) calculate it would be cheaper to provide free cars to the 14% of St. Louis rail transit riders that lack automobiles, than to subsidize that service. Cox (2004) claims that carsharing subsidies for non-drivers would be cheaper than U.S. transit subsidies. However, such claims tend to overlook important factors (Cervero and Guerra 2011; Litman 2005a).

- Transit is subsidized for several reasons besides providing mobility to lower-income travelers, including congestion reduction, road and parking facility cost savings, consumer cost savings, increased safety, pollution reduction and support for strategic development objectives. Only a small portion of transit subsidies could efficiently or equitably be shifted to any one of these objectives.
- Many transit riders cannot or should not drive. They are too young, disabled, or prohibited from driving. Subsidizing cars instead of transit service would not solve their mobility problems, and would tend to increase higher-risk driving. It is easier to reduce driving by high-risk motorists in communities with good transit systems, for example, by delaying teenage vehicle ownership, revoking driving privileges for dangerous drivers, and reducing vehicle use by elderly residents, which helps explain the much lower per capita traffic fatality rates in areas with good transit service.
- Substituting car ownership for transit service is more expensive than proponents claim. Increased vehicle traffic on busy urban corridors would significantly increase traffic congestion, road and parking costs, accidents, pollution and other external costs.
- Eliminating scheduled transit service would force riders who cannot drive to use demandresponse or taxi services, which have far higher costs. Cox assumes this could be accommodated by doubling demand-response funding, but since demand response services only provide 1.4% of total transit passenger-miles, doubling its funding could not compensate for reducing the other 98.6% of services. People tend to significantly increase their travel when they shift from transit to having an automobile, so even if per-mile costs decline, per-user costs would likely increase.
- There are substantial practical problems with offering free cars or carshare subsidies to lowincome people who currently rely on public transit. Low-income transit riders are not a distinct, identifiable group, they consist of a much larger group, many of whom use transit part-time, or who sometimes do not own an automobile. Rather than giving 7,700 households a car, it would be necessary to offer a much larger number of households a part-time car, with provisions that account for constant changes in vehicle ownership and travel status, and for the increased travel that occurs when non-drivers gain access to an automobile. Like any subsidy program, it would face substantial administrative costs and require complex rules to determine who receives a subsidy and how much each user is allocated in a way that seems fair and effective at achieving its objectives. It would create perverse incentives, rewarding poverty and automobile dependency.
- Transit in general and rail transit in particular can provide a catalyst for mixed-use, walkable urban villages and residential neighborhoods where it is possible to live and participate in normal activities without needing an automobile. This is particularly beneficial to non-drivers. Subsidizing cars rather than transit services would cause an additional harm to transportation disadvantaged people, by stimulating urban sprawl and automobile dependency.

Rail Versus Bus Transit

There is considerable debate over the relative merits of bus and rail transit (Pascall 2001; GAO 2001; Warren and Ryan 2001; Demery and Higgins 2002; Ben-Akiva and Morikawa 2002; Thompson and Matoff 2003; Hass-Klau, et al. 2003; Litman 2004a; Steer Davies Gleave 2005; Currie and Delbosc 2013; Vuchic 2005; NJARP 2006; LRN 2006; Vincent and Callaghan 2007; Hensher 2007). The table compares performance of various transit types. Of course, actual performance depends on specific designs and conditions.

Standard	Conventional Bus	Double- deck Bus	Articulated Bus	LRT	Two-Car Trams
Length	10m	12m	18m	24.5m	2 x 30m
Width	2.5m	2.5m	2.5m	2.55m	2.65m
Passenger Capacity	75	105	125	160	350
Seating	35	95	50	60	150
Standing	40	10	75	100	200
Maximum Hourly Capacity	4,500	6,300	7,500	9,600	21,000

 Table 39
 Transit Performance Factors (Steer Davies Gleave, 2005, Table 3.1)

Advantages of Rail

Proponents argue that rail transit provides superior service quality that attracts more discretionary users (people who have the option of driving). Rail can carry more passengers per vehicle and requires less land per peak passenger-trip, and so tends to be more cost effective than bus on high-density corridors. Bruun (2005) calculates that on a typical trunk line, above 2,000 passenger-spaces-per-hour LRT tends to become more efficient and cost effective than BRT. Voters seem more willing to support funding for rail than bus service. Rail causes less noise and air pollution than diesel buses. As described earlier, rail tends to have higher demand within its service area (Pushkarev and Zupan 1977; Henry and Litman 2006; CTS 2009a), although this may partly reflect performance factors such as service frequency, speed and station quality that BRT systems may provide (Currie 2005). Rail tends to have greater land use impacts – rail transit stations often serve as a catalyst for transit oriented development – which provides additional economic, social and environmental benefits (Currie 2006).

Accessibility and Mobility

When comparing bus and rail it is important to appreciate the difference between mobility and accessibility (Litman 2009a). *Mobility* refers to physical movement. *Accessibility* refers to peoples' ability to obtain desired goods, services and activities, which is affected by mobility and land use patterns. Automobiles offer users a high level of mobility, but heavy automobile traffic degrades other forms of mobility (particularly walking) and encourages dispersed land use patterns. Bus transit can provide a high level of mobility, with direct service to many destinations, but has minimal land use impacts. Rail transit provides moderate mobility and is often a catalyst for more accessible land use patterns, call *transit-oriented development*. Rail transit is therefore most attractive in terms of accessibility rather than mobility.

Advantages of Bus

High quality bus systems, called Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) can attract high ridership and stimulate transit-oriented development (Hidalgo and Carrigan 2010). Bus advocates argue that bus service is cheaper and more flexible, that buses can be nearly as fast and comfortable as rail, and that much of the preference for rail reflects prejudices rather than real advantages (Hensher 2007; Cain, Flynn and McCourt 2009). Bus transit can serve a greater area, and so can attract greater total ridership than rail with comparable resources, particularly in areas with dispersed development. Some argue that rail investments (which tend to benefit higher-income people) drain funding from bus service (which tends to benefit lower-income, transit-dependent people), and so are inequitable, although this is not true if rail projects receive special funding that increases total transit budgets, and some rail lines carry large numbers of lower-income riders (Lu 2019).

Summary of Rail Versus Bus

Key differences between bus and rail transit are summarized below. Rather than a debate which is overall superior, it is generally better to consider which is most appropriate in a particular situation. Bus is best serving areas with dispersed destinations and lower demand. Rail is best serving corridors with concentrated destinations and ridership, such as large commercial centers and urban villages (Kuby, Barranda and Upchurch 2004). Rail tends to attract more riders within an area but buses can cover more area, so overall ridership impacts depend on conditions. Both become more efficient and effective at achieving planning objectives if implemented with supportive policies that improve service quality, create more supportive land use patterns and encourage ridership.

Bus and Rail Companison	Pail
Bus	Kali
• Flexibility. Bus routes can change and expand when needed. For example, routes can change if a roadway is closed, or if destinations or demand changes.	 Greater demand. Rail tends to attract more discretionary riders than buses. Greater comfort due to larger seats, more legroom, and smother and quieter ride.
 Requires no special facilities. Buses can use existing roadways, and general traffic 	 More voter support for rail than for bus improvements.
 More suitable for dispersed land use, 	 Greater maximum capacity. Requires less space and is more cost effective on high volume routes.
and so can serve a greater rider catchment area.	 Greater travel speed and reliability, where rail transit is grade separated.
 Several routes can converge onto one busway, reducing transfers. For example, buses that start at several suburban 	• More positive land use impacts. Rail tends to be a catalyst for more accessible development patterns.
communities can all use a busway to a	Increased property values near transit stations.
Lower capital costs.	• Less air and noise pollution, particularly when electric powered.
 Used more by transit dependent people, so bus service improvements provide greater equity benefits. 	 Rail stations tend to be more pleasant than bus stations, so rail is preferred where many transit vehicles congregate.

Table 40 Bus and Rail Comparison

Rail transit can only serve a limited number of stations. Those stations tend to stimulate more intense development, with increased density (residents, employees and business activity per acre), higher per capita transit ridership and walking trips, and lower per capita vehicle ownership and trips. Bus transit can serve more destinations, including some dispersed, suburban activity centers, but attracts fewer riders per capita, and by itself has little or no effect on land use patterns. Which will attract the most riders and be most cost effective depends on the circumstances: rail tends to attract more riders in the area it serves, but buses can directly serve more destinations over a larger area.



Figure 26 Rail And Bus Travel Impacts

This illustrates differences between rail and bus transit travel impacts. Rail tends to stimulate transitoriented development where households tend to own fewer automobiles and people drive less and rely more on alternative modes. Bus transit can serve more destinations, including dispersed, suburban activity centers, but attracts fewer riders per capita and tends to have less effect on land use patterns. Both types of transit can attract more riders and become more effective if implemented with supportive transport and land use policies.

Chatman (2013), found substantially lower vehicle ownership, and lower auto commute and shopping trip mode shares for households located in transit-oriented development, but that residential density, housing type, local bus service and limited parking supply had more impact than rail accessibility. He concludes that smart growth development policies, which help create more accessible, compact and multi-modal neighborhoods, can help increase transport system efficiency with or without rail transit development.

Bruun (2005) found that both Light Rail Transit (LRT) and Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) are typically cheaper to operate per passenger-space-kilometer than regular buses. For lines carrying less than about 1,600 spaces-per-hour, adding capacity tends to be cheapest for BRT, while above 2,000 spaces-per-hour BRT headways become so short that traffic signal priority becomes ineffective, reducing service efficiency and increasing unit costs, making LRT cheaper. The marginal cost of adding off-peak service is lowest for LRT, higher for BRT, and highest for regular buses. Schwieterman, Audenaerd and Schulz (2012) found positive returns on investment from various transit improvement projects in the Chicago region.

Tirachini, Hensher and Jara-Díaz (2009) modeled the infrastructure, operating costs and user time costs of three public transport options (light rail, heavy rail and bus rapid transit) in relatively sprawled Australian cities. They conclude that in most scenarios BRT is most cost effective because it has the lowest total costs (infrastructure, rolling stock and operating cost), shortest access time and waiting time cost. Rail is more cost effective only if it operates fast enough that the speed difference outweigh the BRT's advantage on operator cost and access and waiting times. The analysis held trip generation factors constant and so did not account for rail and BRT's ability to increase transit ridership and create transit-oriented development.

Scherer and Dziekan (2012) surveyed Germany and Switzerland transit users concerning differences in attitudes between rail- and bus-based public transport. The research found a preference for using rail assuming equal service conditions of 63% for regional train and 75% for trams compared to bus services. They conclude that this reflect emotional and social attributions. Vincent and Callaghan (2007) evaluated a Los Angeles area BRT system compared it with other transit services in the region. The BRT exceeded ridership projections, reducing travel times, easing congestion, and attracting people out of their cars. They conclude that full BRT is more cost effective than rail and attracts more motorists than basic bus services. Hidalgo and Carrigan (2010), use research and interviews with planners and public officials to evaluate BRT demand and common obstacles to BRT development, and provides recommendations on avoiding or mitigating such problems when introducing bus reforms.

Rail and bus transit systems are generally integrated, with buses providing local service and servicing more dispersed destinations, and rail providing service along the highest density corridors. Both types of transit can become more effective if implemented with supportive transport and land use policies. Rail transit can be compared to a luxury vehicle: it costs more initially but provides higher quality service and greater long-run value. As consumers become wealthier and accustomed to higher quality goods it is reasonable that they should demand features such as more leg-room, comfortable seats, smoother and quieter ride (and therefore better ability to read, converse, and rest), and greater travel speed associated with grade-separated transit. The preference of rail over bus can be considered an expression of consumer sovereignty, that is, people's willingness to pay extra for more amenities. Analysis of qualitative factors such as rider comfort is needed to evaluate the full value of rail transit.

Strategies to Increase Transit Benefits

Various strategies can increase transit investment benefits. Benefits tend to increase if transit is implemented with support strategies that increase efficiency and ridership. Examples of these support strategies are described below. More information is available in the *Online TDM Encyclopedia* (www.vtpi.org/tdm), Cervero and Guerra (2011), Stanley and Hyman (2005), TranSystems (2007), CODATU (2009), and Hidalgo and Carrigan (2010).

Improve Transit Frequency and Speed

There are several ways to increase transit travel speeds including more frequency (reducing waiting delays), dedicated bus lanes and other transit priority treatments (English 2025; King County Metro 2021). These strategies make transit more competitive with driving which increases ridership and reduces traffic problems, and they increase operating efficiency (since transit vehicles can carry more passengers in a given period of time) which reduces costs. *Impacts:* Transit priority provides direct benefits to current transit users, and will typically shift 4-30% of current automobile trips to transit or vanpools, depending on conditions. The greater the time savings, the more mode shifting is likely to occur. Pratt (1999) provides detailed discussion of the travel effects of busway and HOV facilities.

Parking Management

Parking management can be an effective way to increase transit use. Parking management includes "parking cash out" (employees who receive free parking have the option of choosing cash or a transit subsidy instead), "unbundling" (building renters only pay for the amount of parking they actually want), and more flexible parking requirements that allow developers to supply less parking where appropriate.

Travel Impacts: Parking pricing is one of the most effective ways of reducing automobile trips. Cost-based parking pricing (parking fees set to recover parking facility costs) typically increases transit ridership by 10-30%, depending on the previous level of transit ridership and the range of travel options available.

Commute Trip Reduction Programs

Commute Trip Reduction (CTR) programs give commuters resources and incentives to reduce their automobile trips. CTR programs typically include some of the following:

Commuter Financial Incentives (Parking Cash Out and Transit Allowances).

Rideshare Matching.

Parking Management.

Alternative Scheduling (Flextime and Compressed Work Weeks).

Telework (for suitable activities).

Guaranteed Ride Home.

Walking and Cycling Encouragement.

Travel Impacts: Worksites with CTR programs that lack financial incentives typically experience 5-15% reductions in commute trips. Programs that include financial incentives (such as transit subsidies or parking cash out) can achieve 20-40% reductions.

Campus and School Transport Management Programs

Campus Transport Management programs are coordinated efforts to improve transportation options and reduce trips at colleges, universities and other campus facilities. This often includes free or discounted transit passes to students and sometimes staff (called a "UPASS").

Travel Impacts: Comprehensive campus transportation management programs can reduce automobile trips by 10-30% and increase transit ridership 30-100%.

Marketing and User Information

Transit marketing and user information includes market surveys, improved route schedules and maps, wayfinding information, and other types of information.

Travel Impacts: Given adequate resources, marketing programs can often increase use of alternative modes by 10-25% and reduce automobile use by 5-15%. About a third of the reduced automobile trips typically shift to public transit.

Nonmotorized Improvements

Nonmotorized modes (walking and cycling) are important travel modes in their own right and provide access to public transit. Nonmotorized improvements can leverage shifts to transit. There are various ways to further improve and encourage nonmotorized transport:

- Improved sidewalks, crosswalks, paths and bikelanes.
- Correcting specific roadway hazards to nonmotorized transport.
- Traffic calming to control automobile traffic in particular areas.
- Bicycle parking and storage.
- Address security concerns of pedestrians and cyclists.

Travel Impacts: In many situations inadequate nonmotorized travel conditions are a major constraint to transit travel, so nonmotorized improvements may increase transit ridership 10-50% over what would otherwise occur.

Transit Oriented Development

Transit Oriented Development (TOD) refers to communities designed to maximize access by public transit, with clustered development and good walking and cycling conditions (Cervero, et al 2004; Cervero and Guerra 2011; Litman 2016b).

Travel Impacts: Residents of TODs typically reduce single-occupant vehicle commuting by 15-30%, about half of which shifts to transit. Impacts depend on specific design features, and other geographic and demographic factors.

Least Cost Planning

Least cost planning is a planning framework that considers all significant impacts and invests in the most cost-effective solutions, including demand management programs (Lindquist and Wendt 2012). Current transportation planning practices are biased in various ways that favor highways and parking investments over transit; least cost planning corrects these biases.

Travel Impacts: Difficult to predict, but probably significant.

Evaluation Examples

This section provides various examples of transit economic evaluations. A spreadsheet computer model available at <u>www.vtpi.org/tranben.xls</u> is used for some of these examples, based on a "typical" middle-size city, with a half-million residents who make an average of 24 transit trips annually. This analysis can be adjusted to reflect other conditions and assumptions.

Transit Benefit/Cost Analysis

Various studies have estimated benefit-cost ratios for various types of transit services (Ferrell 2015; Mattson 2020; Weisbrod, et al. 2017). They indicate that public transit investments generally provide positive economic returns, that is, each dollar spent on transit services provides more than a dollar in economic benefits. Although the highest benefit-cost ratios tend to be found in larger urban areas, most rural transit economic studies indicate that they provide net monetary benefit. Weisbrod, et al. (2017) systematically evaluates numerous studies and concludes that, although their scope is expanding to be more comprehensive and their methods are improving, many benefits tend to be overlooked and undervalued.

The report, *Cost-Benefit Analysis of Rural and Small Urban Transit* (Godavarthy, Mattson and Ndembe 2014) estimated the benefit/cost ratio for rural public transit services in each U.S. state, considering various categories of benefits, as illustrated below. Because that study only considered a portion of transit benefits (for example, it ignores parking cost savings, and the value that non-drivers place on having independent mobility rather than being forced to depend entirely on rides by family members and friends), total benefits are probably greater.

Figure 27 Rural Transit Benefit Analysis (Godavarthy, Mattson and Ndembe 2014)



This figure illustrates the categories of benefits, and benefit estimate results for each U.S. state.

The study, *Measuring the Economic Benefits of Rural and Small Urban Transit Services in Greater Minnesota* (Mattson 2020) developed a framework that identifies, describes, and classifies the potential benefits of transit services in specific communities. It includes a spreadsheet tool that can be used by any transit agency to calculate the benefits of its services. These tools were applied to a series of six case studies across Greater Minnesota. Conventional transportation planning tends to overlook or undervalue many of these benefits, resulting in underinvestment in public transit services. Public Transit Sustainability Performance Measures (Unger, et al. 2019) The report, <u>Social and Economic Sustainability Performance Measures for Public Transportation</u> provides practical guidance to help transit agencies develop and use social and economic sustainability performance measures to plan, evaluate, and report on sustainability.

A Business Case for Improving Interregional Public Transportation (Litman 2024)

Interregional (also called intercity, long-distance and coach) bus service quality is currently poor and declining in North America. This is unfair and inefficient. Inadequate public transport deprives non-drivers of independent mobility and therefore economic opportunities and dignity, forces drivers to spend time and money chauffeuring non-drivers, increases traffic problems and reduces rural economic development. This inadequacy is often explained as a lack of demand but where bus service is convenient and affordable it achieves significant ridership. The real problem is inadequate support; public agencies plan, operate and fund air, highway, rail, ferry and urban transit services, but interregional bus service was previously provided by private companies so there is little tradition of public support. This study examines the costs and benefits of improving interregional bus services. It concludes that there is a strong business case for providing basic service on major corridors and high-quality service on congested highways. Case studies demonstrate that governments can efficiently provide interregional bus services.

Transit Improvement Economic Evaluation Model (ICF International 2009)

Most transport project economic evaluation models are designed primarily to evaluate highway improvements and so fail to account for many of the impacts that result from mode shifts and changes in total travel activity. The study, *Benefit/Cost Analysis of Converting a Lane for Bus Rapid Transit* describes various benefits and costs that should be considered when evaluating public transit service improvements as summarized below.

100	Table 47 Transit improvement benefits and costs (101 2003)			
	Benefits	Costs		
Direct – User	 Travel time savings for transit users. Vehicle operation and parking cost savings to travelers who shift from auto to transit. Improved access to jobs and amenities to transit dependent travelers. Accident reductions. Reduced emissions and other environmental damages. Reduced transit operating costs due to increased efficiencies and higher ridership. 	 Material, equipment and vehicle capital costs. Delay for travelers in mixed-flow travel lanes. Infrastructure construction costs (including roadway improvements, bus shelters, IT). Operations and maintenance costs. Additional delays to commercial and government fleets using mixed-flow travel lanes. Enforcement costs to prohibit use of dedicated lanes by other traffic. 		
Indirect – Community	 Benefits from increased economic activity and/or agglomeration of businesses. Benefits from property development owing to transit investment. Growth in employment in transit service area. Benefits to government from increased taxes generated by new development. 	 Traffic delays during construction. Noise pollution costs Costs of emissions if congestion on remaining lanes of highway increases. Costs of travel delay to others if congestion on remaining lanes of highway increases. 		

Table 41Transit Improvement Benefits and Costs (ICF 2009)

This table summarizes direct and indirect benefits and costs from transit service improvements.

Access to Jobs and Workers via Transit (Ramsey and Bell 2014)

Access to Jobs and Workers via Transit is a free geospatial data resource and web mapping tool for evaluating neighborhood employment transit access. Using U.S. census data it calculates transit travel times between blocks groups, and the number of residents and jobs accessible by transit within 45-minute total (including access, waiting and in-vehicle) travel times. It can be used to measure the transit accessibility individual block groups and metropolitan regions.

Transit Speed & Reliability Guidelines and Strategies (King County Metro 2021)

King County Metro, the Seattle region transportation agency, developed a <u>Transit Speed &</u> <u>Reliability Guidelines and Strategies Playbook</u> identifies practical ways to plan and evaluate transit operational improvements such as dedicated bus lanes and intersection prioritization, route restructuring, bus stop optimization, street and curb management, and various spot improvements. It identifies performance indicators that can be used to evaluate improvements:

- Person throughput: the number of people that can be moved through a roadway segment.
- Person delay: the amount of delay per person at an intersection based on vehicle occupancy.
- Intersection level of service (LOS): the amount of delay vehicles experience at an intersection.
- Vehicle queues: the space used by vehicles waiting at an intersection.
- Project cost: the cost to design and construct the project.
- Ease of construction: the complexity to construct the project.
- Consistency with local and regional policies.
- Travel time reduction: changes in transit travel time in corridor.
- Reduction in potential collisions and conflicts with other modes of transportation.
- Community support: the level of community support for the improvement.
- Service reliability: how often buses arrive on-time or within the desired headway.
- Travel time reliability: consistency of travel time during different times and traffic conditions.

Transit Means Business

A Chicago Metropolitan Planning Council report, <u>*Transit Means Business*</u> identifies various ways that high quality public transit supports businesses:

Access to talent. Businesses gain access to larger labor markets with more diverse skills.

Less traffic. Transit investments reduce roadway congestion for cars and trucks, shortening commutes and improving freight delivery.

More disposable income. Transit reduces household travel costs, leaving money to spend on local goods.

Attracts successful businesses well-paid jobs. Investment in transit attracts more businesses.

Increased productivity. High-quality transit that speeds travel and allows workers to perform tasks other than driving during their commutes means increased morale and output.

Higher property values. Transit investment often catalyzes residential and commercial property development. Increased property values near transit increase wealth and tax revenue.

Equitable and affordable transportation. Nearly 20% of transit riders have low incomes. Improving their mobility generates savings on government services and support programs.

Reduced vehicle emissions: Transit helps reduce emissions and improves the environment.

Reduced fatalities and injuries. Trips shifted from cars to transit reduce traffic-related injuries and deaths.

Improved health outcomes. Transit increases active travel, resulting in a healthier populations.

Optimal Transit Subsidy and Fares (Allison, Lupton and Wallis 2013)

This investment model is designed to help transportation agencies maximize overall net benefits to society when making public transit investment decisions. It takes into account operating costs and externalities of both public and automobile transport, including safety and congestion effects, and benefits to existing public transit users from service frequency changes. It incorporates the interactions between prices, service levels and patronage for public transport (bus initially) and private car, and associated performance indicators. The model was developed as a spreadsheet that is capable of expansion to include rail and other cities.

BRT Evaluation (EMBARQ 2013)

The report, Social, Environmental And Economic Impacts Of BRT Systems summarizes research regarding BRT performance, costs and impacts, including evidence from four case studies. The analysis compared construction costs with transit efficiency gains, travel time savings, environment and health benefits. It indicates that BRT projects can provide net positive benefits to society and can be socially profitable investments. Table 43 summarizes some results.

Table 42	Table 42BRT Benefits (EMBARQ 2013)			
Impact	How does BRT Achieve the Benefit?	Empirical Evidence		
	 Segregated busways separate BRT buses from mixed traffic; 			
	 Pre-paid level boarding and high-capacity 	 Johannesburg BRT users save on average 13 		
Travel time	buses speed passenger boarding;	minutes each way		
savings	 Traffic signal management and high-frequency 	 The typical Metrobüs passenger in Istanbul saves 		
	bus service minimize delays.	52 minutes per day		
		 In Bogota, the implementation of TransMilenio 		
	 Reduce VKT by shifting passengers to 	combined with new regulations on fuel quality is		
GHG and local	highcapacity BRT buses	estimated to save nearly 1 million tCO2 per year.		
air pollutant	 Replace/scrap older, more polluting vehicles 	 Mexico City's Metrobús Line 1 achieved 		
emissions	 Introduce newer technology BRT buses 	significant reductions in carbon monoxide, benzene		
reductions	 Better training leads to improved driving which 	and particulate matter (PM2.5) inside BRT buses,		
	reduces fuel consumption and emissions.	traditional buses and mini-buses.		
	 Improve pedestrian crossings 	 Bogota's TransMilenio has contributed to 		
Road safety	 Reduce VKT by shifting passengers to 	reductions in crashes and injuries on two of the		
improvements	highcapacity BRT buses	system's main corridors.		
 reductions in 	 Reduces interaction with other vehicles by 	• On average, BRTs in the Latin American context		
fatalities and	segregating buses from mixed traffic	have contributed to a reduction in fatalities and		
crashes	 BRT can change drivers' behaviors by reducing 	injuries of over 40% on the streets where they were		
	on-the-road competition and improving training	implemented.		
	 Cleaner vehicle technologies and fuels lower 	 After TransMilenio implementation Bogota 		
	concentration of ambient air pollution citywide	reported declines of 43% in SO2, 18% in NOx, and		
Reduced	or inside the BRT vehicles;	12% in particulate matter emissions.		
exposure to air	 Reduce time passengers are exposed to air 	 By reducing local emissions Mexico City's 		
pollutants	pollution at stations or inside the bus by	Metrobús is estimated to eliminated more than		
	reducing travel times.	6,000 lost work days and three annual deaths.		
	 Spacing of BRT stations tend to require longer 	 Mexico City's Metrobús passengers walk on 		
Increased	walking distances than all other motorized	average an additional 2.75 minutes per day than		
physical	modes with the exception of Metro	previously		
activity	 Higher operation speeds increases passengers' 	 Users of the Beijing BRT have added 8.5 minutes 		
	willingness to walk to stations	of daily walking as a result of the BRT system		

Experience indicates that Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) can provide many significant benefits.

Urban Rail External Benefits

In 2008, the Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal of New South Wales, Australia commissioned a study to determine optimal fares for the CityRail urban rail system in Sydney (Smart 2008). The study estimated the external benefits provided by the CityRail system, including reductions in roadway traffic congestion, accidents and pollution emissions, plus improved mobility and social inclusion, particularly for disadvantaged groups. It estimated that the total marginal external benefit of the rail system AU\$5.71 per passenger trip, consisting primarily of congestion reduction benefits. Based on these findings, the Tribunal decided that that, to optimize benefits, approximately 71.5% of the transit system's revenue requirement should be funded by government subsidies.

Transit Versus Highway Improvements

This example illustrates the effects of applying more comprehensive analysis when evaluating possible transportation improvements on a congested corridor. The "Conventional" analysis reflects standard highway evaluation practices which give no consideration to impacts such as parking cost savings and reduced surface street traffic congestion that result when people travel by transit rather than automobile. It also ignores construction traffic delays from the highway project, and the effects of generated traffic. It assumes that travelers saved only about 10¢ per mile when they reduce their vehicle use. It gives no weight to equity benefits from increased transport options for non-drivers, or strategic land use objectives in region land use plans. The conventional analysis concludes that highway capacity expansion is more cost effective than transit improvements. But a more comprehensive analysis shows the transit option actually provides greater net benefits, as illustrated in Table 45.

Conventional – Only Considers Direct Project Costs	
Light Rail	\$300
Highway Expansion	\$250
Highway Net Benefits	\$50
Comprehensive – Considers Additional Costs	
Parking cost savings (3,000 urban parking spaces at \$10,000 each)	\$30
Surface street traffic congestion (3,000 additional vehicles traveling	
6 miles per day, 300 days annually, at 20¢ per mile)	\$20
Additional vehicle costs (\$500 annual savings per transit user)	\$29
Highway construction delays	\$2
Generated traffic (reduces highway net benefits)	Probably Substantial
Environmental & social benefits	Probably Substantial
Transit Net Benefits	\$30+

Table 43Conventional and Comprehensive Planning

Figures 25 and 26 illustrate lifecycle cost analysis of roadway and transit investments using a conventional analysis. The graphs indicate benefits (bars above the baseline) and costs (bars below the baseline) projected ten years into the future for a highway and rail transit investment.

Conventional Highway Investment Analysis

Figure 28



 \perp Years This figure illustrates conventional analysis of highway project costs and benefits. (For simplicity this

figure invariates conventional analysis of highway project costs and benefits. (For simplifying ignores discounting, which would reduce the value of future impacts.)



Conventional analysis only considers direct financial public agency expenditures as costs, and congestion reduction (primarily user travel time savings) as benefits. This tends to make highway investments appear most cost effective.

More comprehensive investment analysis incorporates several other factors. It takes into account the increased congestion and declining traffic speeds that occur over time due to generated traffic. It incorporates external costs from increased automobile use, such as parking demand, surface street congestion, accidents and pollution. It accounts for transit benefits such as increased travel options for non-drivers and more efficient land use. The conventional analysis ignores many of these impacts, and so tends to skew planning decisions toward

automobile-oriented improvements and away from more alternatives that involve alternative modes or management strategies.



This figure shows the effects of generated traffic and the external costs of the induced vehicle travel, which reduces the long-term net benefits of highway capacity expansion.

These figures illustrate more comprehensive analysis of projected benefits and costs, taking into account these additional impacts. This is not to suggest that transit is always more cost effective than highway improvements. However, it shows how more comprehensive analysis can affect planning decisions.





Comprehensive analysis incorporates the impacts of generated traffic, external costs, and mobility benefits provided by transit. This indicates greater costs for highway investments and greater benefits for transit investments.

More comprehensive analysis can also take into account the potential of increasing transit benefits by applying various support strategies, such as commute trip reduction programs, transit priority, parking and road pricing, transit-oriented land use development polities, and improved marketing. By increasing ridership and operating efficiency, such strategies can make transit more cost effective and competitive.

Rail Transit Service Travel Impacts (Boarnet and Houston 2013)

The Exposition (Expo) light rail line in Los Angeles began operation in 2012. This study enrolled experimental households, within ½ mile of a new Expo Line station, and control households, living beyond ½ mile from the station. In fall of 2011, those households were asked to track their travel for seven days, recording daily odometer readings for all household vehicles and logging trips by travel mode and day for each household member 12 years or older. In approximately half of the households, an adult also carried a geographic positioning device (GPS) and an accelerometer, to measure travel and physical activity. In total, 204 households (103 in the experimental neighborhoods, 101 in control neighborhoods) completed before and after travel tracking. The study found:

In "before opening" travel data collection, experimental and control households had the same travel patterns. Before the Expo Line opened there were no statistically significant differences across experimental and control households in their daily travel activity

After opening, the differences-in-differences approach shows that the experimental group reduced their daily household VMT by 10 to 12 miles relative to the control group. That result persists after outlier observations are removed and when alternative statistical methods are used.

Using the GPS data to validate vehicle odometer logs, we find no evidence of any systematic reporting biases that would reduce our faith in the result that experimental households reduced their VMT by 10 to 12 miles, relative to control group households, after the Expo Line opened.

In some statistical tests, there is evidence that the Expo Line increased rail transit ridership among experimental households. Control group households also increased their rail ridership, but not by as much as experimental households. On net, the differences-in-differences evidence suggests that the Expo Line resulted in about 0.1 more daily train trips per household in the experimental group, but we caution that this result is not nearly as robust as the finding for VMT reduction among experimental group households.

The experimental and control group households had no statistically significant differences in vehicle CO2 emissions before the Expo Line opened, but after opening experimental group households had approximately 30% less vehicle CO2 emissions than control group households. That "after opening" difference is statistically significant.

The accelerometer data allow us to measure physical activity in minutes of moderate or vigorous activity per day. After the Expo Line opened, those individuals living in the experimental neighborhoods who were the least physically active had the largest increases in physical activity relative to control group subjects. The Expo Line opening was associated with increases in physical activity among approximately the 40% of experimental subjects who had the lowest physical activity levels before the line opened. The impact was as high as 8 to 10 minutes of increased daily moderate or vigorous physical activity among those experimental group subjects who were the least active before the Expo Line opened. Note though that for more than half of the experimental group subjects (those more physically active before the Expo Line opened) our statistical test suggests that the Expo Line is associated with decreases in physical activity.

The impact of the Expo Line on VMT and rail ridership was larger near stations with more bus lines and near stations with streets with fewer traffic lanes, suggesting that bus service increases the impact of rail transit and that wide streets (which can be barriers to pedestrian access) reduce the impact of rail transit, at least in the Expo Line corridor.

Intercity Bus Service Benefits

A study for the American Bus Association (Damuth 2008) describes, and when possible quantifies, various benefits provided by the motor coach industry, which consists of private

companies that provide scheduled, charter, tour, sightseeing, airport shuttle, commuter, and special operation services. These benefits include:

- Basic mobility, particularly in rural areas not served by other public transport modes.
- Employment, tourism, and economic development.
- Affordability
- Energy conservation
- Safety

According to the study, motorcoach service covers 89% of rural residents, compared with 70% covered by air services and 42% covered by intercity rail. For 14.4 million U.S. rural residents, motorcoaches are the only available mode of intercity commercial transportation service. The motorcoach industry helps non-drivers access medical services, employees commute to work, airline passengers shuttle to and from airports, ocean cruise-line passengers shuttle to and from ports, students travel for field trips and outings, senior citizens travel to places of cultural and historical significance, and during local and national emergencies, people rely on motorcoaches to transport them to safety.

Comparing Mobility Improvements

A study evaluated various options for improving transportation between the city of Victoria and various suburbs called the Western Shore (Litman 2002). Five transportation options were considered:

- *Highway expansion* build an additional general purpose travel lane on the main roadways between downtown Victoria and Langford Center.
- *Road pricing (tolls)* implement variable electronic road tolls to reduce peak-period traffic volumes to optimal levels.
- *High occupancy vehicle lane (HOV)* build an additional highway lane for buses, carpools and vanpools, plus traffic signal preemption for buses.
- *LRT Basic* build an 18 kilometer rail system from James Bay to Langford Center, with traffic preemption, as proposed in the ND Lea report (1996).
- *LRT Plus* build a rail system and implement the Regional Growth Strategy's smart growth policies that further support use of alternative transportation options.

These five options were evaluated using a comprehensive analysis framework that included monetized values of various consumer, economic, social and environmental impacts. The graph below shows the results. Although all five options reduce traffic congestion, their net benefits (total benefits minus total costs) vary due to other impacts. *LRT Plus*, which includes additional features that improve accessibility, increase transit ridership and support regional development objectives, ranks highest because it provides the greatest range of overall benefits. The *Bus/HOV*, *Road Pricing* and basic *LRT* options also provide net benefits. The highway option has negative net value because it increases total vehicle traffic, which increases parking costs, downstream congestion and crashes that more than offset congestion reduction and vehicle costs savings benefits.



Figure 32 Quantitative Analysis (20-year Net Present Value)

Current Service

This analysis examines the value of current bus and demand response services. Table 46 summarizes the results. Because this is a medium-size city, about half of transit trips are assumed to be made by transit dependent riders, and half are assumed to be discretionary trips that substitute for automobile travel. This analysis indicates that the current transit system imposes net annual costs (costs minus fares) of about \$28 million, and benefits of about \$58 million, or about \$30 million in net annualized benefits. It also provides 773 additional region jobs compared with the same money spent on motor vehicles expenses.

Table 44	Current	Transit	Service	Benefits

	Bus	Demand Response	Totals
Total Costs (Sum of all program costs)	\$28,627,500	\$4,957,088	\$33,584,588
Net Costs (Costs minus fare revenues)	-\$20,627,500	-\$3,957,088	-\$24,584,588
Benefits (Sum of benefits)	\$50,449,743	\$7,404,562	\$57,854,305
Net Benefits (Benefits minus project costs.)	\$29,822,243	\$3,447,474	\$33,269,717
Benefit/Cost Ratio	1.8	1.5	1.7
Regional Jobs Created	620	153	773

This only includes impacts suitable for quantification. Additional benefits include equity value from improved mobility for physically, economically or socially disadvantaged people, and economic development benefits due to support for activities such as higher education and tourism. Economic benefits are particularly large from a regional perspective because much of the funding is from external sources.

LRT Plus ranks highest, followed by LRT Basic, HOV, road pricing and highway expansion.

Rider Incentives

Many transit systems have relatively low load factors. Buses seldom operate full. This unused capacity is an opportunity to increase benefits. Various targeted incentive and promotional programs have proven effective at increasing transit ridership, including UPass programs (bulk purchase of transit passes for college or university students), commute trip reduction programs, parking pricing and parking cash out, fare discounts, park & ride facilities, improved information services, and marketing.

This analysis evaluates the benefits of a new ridership incentive program that increases costs by 10% (\$2,000,000), requires 4% additional peak-period bus service (a 1% increase in total busmiles), and increases ridership by 20% (2.4 million additional annual trips). For this analysis we assume that these programs include a combination of positive and negative incentives (e.g., improved service and increased parking fees), and so user benefits (mobility benefits, option value, reduced chauffeuring costs, and vehicle costs) are calculated at half their total value.

	Current	With Incentives	Difference	
Total Costs (Sum of all program costs)	\$28,627,500	\$30,695,650	\$2,068,150	
Net Costs (Costs minus fare revenues)	-\$20,627,500	-\$21,895,650	-\$1,268,150	
Benefits (Sum of benefits)	\$50,449,743	\$56,879,052	\$6,429,309	
Net Benefits (Benefits minus project costs.)	\$29,822,243	\$34,983,402	\$5,161,159	
Benefit/Cost Ratio	1.8	1.9	0	
Regional Jobs Created	620	682	62	

Table 45 Incremental Benefits From 20% Ridership Increase

Table 47 summarizes the result, indicating that, in this case, a \$2 million incentive program increases benefits by \$6.4 million dollars. This analysis illustrates the large potential benefits that can result from incentives that encourage automobile commuters to shift to transit where there is available capacity. Programs such as this are cost effective even if some additional peak-period service must be added due to the large savings that result when urban-peak travel is reduced, reducing congestion, road and parking costs, accident risk and pollution emissions.

Transit Service Economic Evaluation (Corporate Economics 2014)

The report, *Importance of Public Transit in Canada and Calgary, and Who Should Pay,* commissioned by Calgary Transit used conventional transportation economic evaluation methods to estimate the return on public transit investments in the city of Calgary, Canada. The analysis took into account congestion reductions, direct user benefits (based on consumer surplus analysis), and emission reductions, which were estimated to total \$529 million annually, compared with \$320 million in annual operating costs, providing a 1.8 benefit/cost ratio.

New Bus Route

A new bus route is proposed which is projected to cost \$500,000 in additional annualized costs, and would to attract about 1,000 daily riders, or 200,000 additional annual trips of which half would substitute for automobile travel. Table 48 shows the estimated benefits by category, totaled over a 15-year period. Mobility benefits (increased mobility by people who are transportation disadvantaged) is the largest single benefit, but efficiency benefits are also significant, including vehicle cost savings, congestion reduction and parking cost savings.

Direct Benefits	Net Present Values		
Mobility Benefits	\$3,912,864		
Option Value Benefits	\$167,694		
Route Shift Benefits	\$1,956,432		
Transit Service Quality Improvements	\$0		
Chauffeur Driver Time Savings	\$805,803		
Vehicle Operating Costs - Peak	\$752,083		
Vehicle Operating Costs - Off-peak	\$443,192		
Congestion - Peak	\$470,052		
Congestion - Off-Peak	\$36,933		
Roadway Costs	\$167,876		
Parking Costs - Peak	\$1,107,798		
Parking Costs - Off-Peak	\$335,388		
Crash Costs - Internal	\$167,876		
Crash Costs - External	\$134,301		
Pollution	\$201,451		
Totals	\$10,659,742		

Table 46New Bus Transit Route Benefits

Table 49 summarizes the results over the 15 year period. This indicates that when all monetized impacts are considered, the project costs provide \$9.7 million dollars in direct benefits, or \$6.1 million in net benefits (benefits minus costs), a 2.7 benefit/cost ratio. It would generate about 209 additional annual jobs, including direct employment of drivers and mechanics, and multiplier effects.

	Impacts		
Total Project Costs	-\$5,869,976		
Net Costs (Public Subsidy)	-\$3,634,053		
Project Benefits	\$10,659,742		
Net Benefits	\$7,025,689		
Benefit/Cost Ratio	2.9		
Regional Jobs	205		

Table 47 New Bus Transit Route Summary (15-year Net Present Value)

New Rail Route

A new rail line is being evaluated which would cost \$250,000,000 in construction expenses and \$5,000,000 in additional annual operating costs, and would to attract a projected 10,000 daily riders, or 2,200,000 additional annual trips of which almost half would substitute for automobile travel. The table below shows estimated benefits by category, totaled over a 15-year period.

Direct Benefits	Net Present Values
Mobility Benefits	\$58,692,964
Option Value Benefits	\$139,745
Route Shift Benefits	\$11,738,593
Transit Service Quality Improvements	\$22,359,224
Chauffeur Driver Time Savings	\$8,058,032
Vehicle Operating Costs - Peak	\$7,520,830
Vehicle Operating Costs - Off-peak	\$4,431,918
Congestion - Peak	\$4,700,519
Congestion - Off-Peak	\$369,326
Roadway Costs	\$1,678,757
Parking Costs - Peak	\$11,077,979
Parking Costs - Off-Peak	\$3,353,884
Crash Costs - Internal	\$1,678,757
Crash Costs - External	\$1,343,005
Pollution	\$2,014,508
Totals	\$139,158,042

Table 48	New Rail Transit Route Benefits ((15-\	year Net Present Value)
		· · - /	

The table below summarizes net value analysis. Considering just direct travel impacts the project has a negative net value of -\$139 million, and a 0.5 benefit/cost ratio, but when indirect travel impacts are considered, resulting from reductions in per capita vehicle ownership and vehicle mileage, it provides \$89 million in net benefits and has a 1.3 benefit/cost ratio. Such projects tend to provide additional economic and social benefits, including improved accessibility and reduced sprawl. It would generate about 2,050 additional annual jobs from direct employment of drivers and mechanics, and multiplier effects.

	Impacts
Total Project Costs	-\$299,802,725
Net Costs (Public Subsidy)	-\$277,443,500
Direct Project Benefits	\$139,158,042
Direct Net Benefits	-\$138,285,458
Direct Benefit/Cost Ratio	0.5
Indirect Project Benefits	\$226,949,758
Direct and Indirect Project Benefits	\$366,107,800
Direct and Indirect Net Benefits	\$88,664,300
Direct and Indirect Benefit/Cost Ratio	1.3
Regional Jobs	2,050

Table 49 New Rail Transit Route Summary (15-year Net Present Value)

Transit Oriented Development

A transit oriented development is proposed which will house 1,000 residents. It will incur incremental construction costs of \$5 million (above standard developing costs), and \$500,000 annual additional operating costs for improved walking and cycling facilities and transit shelters, plus small increases in transit operating costs. Comparisons with other similar developments indicates that this can reduce average annual automobile travel from 12,500 to 10,000 vehiclemiles per resident, a total reduction of 2,500,000 annual vehicle-miles, and increase average transit ridership by 20 trips annually per resident, or 20,000 total trips. By reducing automobile ownership and use it provides efficiency benefits, including user savings, and reductions in the congestion costs, parking costs, accident risk and pollution emissions they impose on others. The table below summarizes the results. It also improves mobility options for non-drivers (including both walking and transit) and increases walking which improves public health, benefits not quantified in this analysis.

	Impacts
Capital Investments	\$5,000,000
Annual Costs	\$500,000
Annual Ridership Increase	20,000
Project Costs (NPV)	-\$9,922,392
Net Costs (Net Additional Fares)	-\$9,698,799
Direct Project Benefits	\$121,983,774
Direct Net Benefits	\$112,284,974
Direct Benefit/Cost Ratio	12.6
Indirect Project Benefits	\$440,868,927
Direct and Indirect Project Benefits	\$562,852,701
Direct and Indirect Net Benefits	\$553,153,901
Direct and Indirect Benefit/Cost Ratio	58.0
Regional Jobs Created	720

Table 50 Transit Oriented Development (15-year Net Present Value)

Quantifying Public Transit Benefits (SECOR Consulting 2004)

A study by the Board of Trade of Metropolitan Montreal titled *Public Transit: A Powerful Engine For The Economic Development Of The Metropolitan Montreal Area*, evaluated the benefits of public transit. It found a positive link between public transit, economic development, and quality of life. It concluded that Montreal's public transit services produce \$937 million in economic benefits, providing a 45% return on investment for the provincial and federal governments. "The economic benefits generated by public transit are not limited to the expenditures of transit authorities in the region. In 2003, for example, public transit enabled Montreal households to save almost \$600 million in travel expenses. These savings gave additional purchasing power to the households, which could then spend more on shopping, cultural outings, and recreation. This, in turn, generated double the economic benefits for the Montreal area as spending the same amount on car operating expenses – to the benefit of a host of local merchants and manufacturers," explained Board of Trade CEO Benoit Labonté.

Strategic Urban Transport Assessment

In the article, "New Approaches to Strategic Urban Transport Assessment," Hale (2011) argues that conventional transport project assessment primarily reflects the incremental impacts of individual projects, and so fails to account for broader, strategic planning objectives and long-term impacts. He argues that more comprehensive impact analysis is particularly important for evaluating walking, cycling and public transit project benefits. He emphasizes the need for a broader indictor set for more comprehensive evaluation of metropolitan region transport outcomes related to society, environment and economy, as summarized below.

Table 51 Foten	otential Evaluation Metrics (hale 2011, NACTO 2016)			
Category	Performance Indicators			
	Mode share	Trip generation rates		
1. Metropolitan	Sustainable mode use (walking, cycling	Transport capital investment		
multimodal travel and	and public transport)	Per capita vehicle ownership		
transport characteristics	Vehicle km per capita	Fuel and annual car ownership taxes		
	Household transport expenditures	Average travel speeds by mode		
	Daily commute time	(transit/car)		
	Mode share splits for journey types	Length dedicated protected bike paths		
	Operating ratio (expenses to revenues)	Annual capital investment		
	System capacity	Cost per passenger km		
2. Mass transit system	System patronage	Standard service frequencies		
indicators and metrics	Rail system length	Operating hours/span		
	System networking	Annual maintenance expenditure		
	Peak/off-peak ratio	Provision of real time information		
	Cost per passenger served	Fleet maturity		
	Average peak period passenger loadings	Provision of regional smart card		
	Rail station access mode splits			
	Urban density	Location efficiency		
3. Land use	Regional population	Housing stress (proportion of		
	Portion of population within 800m of	households with housing costs that		
	transit	exceed 30% of household budgets).		
	Suburbanisation	Transit real estate strategy		
4. Transit accessibility to	CBD access	Public health access		
key amenities	Higher education access			
	Multi-destination network?	Number of proposed TOD locations		
5. Qualitatively-oriented	Transit investment linked to local land use	Travel Demand Management (TDM)		
review categories	planning changes?	Bike and pedestrian network quality		
	Fully-developed TOD policy framework?			
	Transit service-levels	Jobs/housing balance		
6. Analyses particular to	Transit usage	Residents/jobs within station catchment		
the corridor, sub-	Pedestrian and cycling infrastructure	Project and precinct-level densities		
regional and precinct	Walking and cycling performance	Car ownership		
scales	Station access mode splits	Multi-modality		
7. Transit project and	BCR (benefit cost ratio)	Full identification and monetisation of		
investment economics	Net Present Value (NPV)	sustainable transport benefits		

Table 51Potential Evaluation Metrics (Hale 2011; NACTO 2018)

Hale (2011) proposed these regional transport performance indicators.

Qualitative Analysis

Not all benefits are suitable for monetization. These programs can also be evaluated qualitatively, in terms of their ability to support various objectives, as illustrated below. To apply this methodology in a particular situation, a committee of stakeholders assigns ratings for each option based on their judgment to reflect community values. This approach can help identify strategies that are particularly effective at supporting community values and objectives.

Category	Existing Service	Incentives	New Bus Route	New Rail Route	TOD
Existing Users					
Price Changes	0	4	0	0	0
Service Quality	0	4	3	5	0
Mobility Benefits					
User Benefits	3	4	3	4	3
Public Services	3	1	3	3	3
Equity	3	4	3	3	3
Option Value	3	0	3	4	3
Efficiency Benefits					
Vehicle Costs	3	0	3	3	3
Chauffeuring	3	1	3	3	3
Vehicle Congestion	3	5	3	3	2
Pedestrian Congestion	3	4	3	3	5
Parking Costs	3	5	3	3	3
Safety, Health and Security	3	3	3	3	4
Roadway Costs	0	0	0	3	0
Energy and Emissions	3	3	3	3	3
Travel Time	0	0	0	3	0
Land Use					
Transportation Land	1	3	1	4	4
Land Use Objectives	1	3	1	5	5
Economic Development					
Direct Expenditures	2	0	3	4	1
Consumer Expenditures	2	3	3	4	3
Land Use Efficiencies	1	3	1	5	5
Productivity Gains	2	4	2	4	3
Strategic Development	1	3	1	5	3
Transit Efficiencies	2	3	2	3	3
Totals	45	60	50	80	62

Table 52New Transit Qualitative Analysis

Communicating Transit Benefits

The Transit Center report, *How to Talk About Transit in a Way That Inspires: The Transit Messaging Handbook* (TC 2024) provides practical guidance for communicating public transit benefits, building support, and overcoming political obstacles to transit investments.

Conclusions

Public transit includes a variety of transport services available to the general public, ranging from shared taxi and vanpools, to buses, trains, ferries and their variations. These services can play various roles in a modern transportation system and have various benefits and costs, including some that are indirect and external. Table 55 summarizes public transit benefit and cost categories. Not every transit improvement has all of these impacts, but most have several.

	Sorvico		Reduced Automobile Travel	Dovelopment				
Metric	Service Quality (speed, comfort, safety, etc.)	Transit Ridership (passenger-miles or mode share)	Mode Shifts or Automobile Travel Reductions	Portion of Development With TOD Design Features				
Potential Benefits	 Improved convenience and comfort for existing users. Equity benefits (since existing users tend to be disadvantaged). Option value (the value of having an option for possible future use). Improved operating efficiency (if service speed increases). Improved security (reduced 	 Mobility benefits to new users. Increased fare revenue. Increased public fitness and health (by increasing walking and bicycling trips). Increased security as more non-criminals ride transit and wait at 	 Reduced traffic congestion. Road and parking facility cost savings. Consumer savings. Reduced chauffeuring burdens. Increased traffic safety. Energy conservation. Air and noise 	 Additional vehicle travel reductions ("leverage effects"). Improved accessibility, particularly for non- drivers. Community cohesion and reduced crime risk. More efficient development (reduced infrastructure costs). Farmland and habitat 				
	crime risk)	stops and stations.	pollution reductions.	preservation.				
Potential Costs	 Higher capital and operating costs and subsidies. 							
	 Land and road space. Traffic congestion and accident risk imposed by 	• Transit vehicle	Reduced automobile	 Various problems associated with more 				
	transit vehicles.	crowding.	business activity.	compact development.				

Public transport can have various types of benefits and costs, many of which tend to be overlooked or undervalued in conventional transportation economic evaluation.

Incremental costs tend to be relatively easy to measure; financial costs are reported in transit agency budgets, and users experience increased crowding, but many benefits tend to be overlooked or undervalued in conventional transport planning. For example, transport project evaluation generally ignores the parking cost savings provided by shifts driving to public transit, and vehicle ownership cost savings provided by transit-oriented development that allows households to reduce vehicle ownership. The benefits provided by high quality transit services (convenient, comfortable, integrated and affordable) and transit-oriented development tend to be particularly large because they leverage additional vehicle travel reductions, so each transit passenger-mile results in 2-9 reduced automobile vehicle-miles.
Public transit services also have significant costs, including capital costs for rails, bus lanes, stations and vehicles; operating costs for drivers, fuel and maintenance; and various external costs such as risk, air and noise pollution. Many of these costs are fixed and transit services tend to experience scale economies (unit costs decline as passenger-miles increase) so marginal costs (the incremental costs of additional passenger-miles) is often low.

How transit is evaluated can affect the perceived value of public transit. Different evaluation methods give very different conclusions concerning the value of a particular service or improvement. The selection of evaluation method is not simply a matter of opinion or preference. Comprehensive evaluation is essential for producing accurate results. Some important factors are described below.

- Evaluation that ignores parking and vehicle cost savings that result when consumers shift from driving to transit tends to undervalue transit and favor automobile investments.
- Some congestion indicators (such as roadway level-of-service, travel time index and average traffic speeds) only consider impacts on motorists, ignoring cost reductions to people who shift to gradeseparated transit.
- Increased highway capacity tends to increase traffic volumes on surface streets, increasing "downstream" traffic congestion. Shifting travel to transit tends to reduce such impacts.
- Many people find riding quality transit (convenient, comfortable and safe) less stressful than driving in congestion. Evaluation that ignores this factor tends to undervalue transit.
- Improvements that increase transit travel speed, convenience and comfort benefits to both existing users and those who shift mode in response.
- Public transit tends to experience economies of scale (unit costs tend to decline with increased ridership. As a result, strategies that increase ridership can have high benefits and low marginal costs.
- There are many possible ways of measure transit demands. A narrow perspective only considers residents who live in zero-vehicle household. A more comprehensive perspective considers anybody who uses transit occasionally, or who has a frequent transit user in their household.
- High quality transit can be a catalyst for compact, multimodal, transit-oriented development, which can leverage large additional benefits.
- Highway expansions tends to reduce congestion during the short term, but this benefit declines over time, and the resulting induced vehicle travel increases other costs such as downstream congestion, accidents and pollution emissions. Transit benefits tend to be smaller in the short term, but increase over time. As a result, evaluation that focuses on short-term impacts tends to favor highway expansion, while those that take a longer-term perspective tend to favor transit improvements.
- Transit improvements tend to improve mobility for non-drivers, particularly where transit provides a catalyst for transit-oriented development. As a result, evaluation that considers equity objectives tends to favor transit over highway improvements, particularly comprehensive programs that include transit-oriented development.
- Transit service and ridership tend to increase if transit is implemented with various support strategies. Evaluation that ignores these strategies will tend to undervalue the full potential benefits of a comprehensive transit improvement program.

References and Resources for More Information

Martin W. Adler and Jos N. van Ommeren (2016), "Does Public Transit Reduce Car Travel Externalities? Quasi-Natural Experiments' Evidence from Transit Strikes," *Journal of Urban Economics* (doi:10.1016/j.jue.2016.01.001); at <u>http://papers.tinbergen.nl/15011.pdf</u>.

Mark R. Aesch (2024), "Modernizing the Measurement of Value," Transit Dispatches (<u>www.metro-magazine.com</u>); at <u>www.metro-magazine.com/10224666/modernizing-the-measurement-of-value</u>.

Md Aftabuzzaman, Graham Currie and Majid Sarvi (2010), "Evaluating the Congestion Relief Impacts of Public Transport in Monetary Terms," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 1-24; at www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT13-1.pdf.

Md Aftabuzzaman, Graham Currie and Majid Sarvi (2011), "Exploring the Underlying Dimensions of Elements Affecting Traffic Congestion Relief Impact of Transit," *Cities*, Vol. 28, Is. 1 (<u>www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/02642751</u>), February, Pages 36-44.

Bhuiyan Alam, Hilary Nixon and Qiong Zhang (2015), *Investigating the Determining Factors for Transit Travel Demand by Bus Mode in US Metropolitan Statistical Areas*, Mineta Transportation Institute (<u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu</u>); at <u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu/PDFs/research/1101-transit-bus-demand-factors-in-US-metro-areas.pdf</u>.

Heather Allen (2008), *Sit Next to Someone Different Every Day - How Public Transport Contributes to Inclusive Communities*, Thredbo (<u>www.thredbo.itls.usyd.edu.au</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3RqphCn</u>.

Nick Allison, David Lupton and Ian Wallis (2013), *Development of a Public Transport Investment Model*, Research Report 524, NZ Transport Agency (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3calhF2</u>.

AllTransit (<u>http://alltransit.cnt.org</u>) is a multi-facetted transit performance index system that provides quantitative data on transit connectivity, access, and frequency for U.S. transit agencies.

Michael L. Anderson (2013), *Subways, Strikes, and Slowdowns: The Impacts of Public Transit on Traffic Congestion*, Working Paper No. 18757, National Bureau of Economic Research (<u>www.nber.org</u>); at <u>www.nber.org/papers/w18757</u>.

Jeffrey Ang-Olson and Anjali Mahendra (2011), *Cost/Benefit Analysis of Converting a Lane for Bus Rapid Transit—Phase II Evaluation And Methodology*, Research Results Digest 352, National Highway Research Program; at http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp_rrd_352.pdf.

APTA (annual publications), *Public Transportation National Summaries and Trends Statistics*, American Public Transit Association (<u>www.apta.com/research/stats</u>).

APTA (2007), A Profile of Public Transportation Passenger Demographics and Travel Characteristics Reported in On-Board Surveys, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>www.apta.com/resources/statistics/Documents/transit_passenger_characteristics_text_5_29_2007.pdf</u>.

APTA (2009), *Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Transit: Recommended Practice*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at www.aptastandards.com/Portals/0/SUDS/SUDS/Published/APTA Climate Change Final new.pdf.

APTA (annual reports), *Public Transportation Fact Book*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>www.apta.com/research-technical-resources/transit-statistics</u>.

G.B. Arrington, et al. (2008), *Effects of TOD on Housing, Parking, and Travel*, Report 128, Transit Cooperative Research Program (<u>www.trb.org/CRP/TCRP</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3lsvJ7Z</u>.

G.B. Arrington and Kimi Iboshi Sloop (2009), "New Transit Cooperative Research Program Research Confirms Transit-Oriented Developments Produce Fewer Auto Trips," *ITE Journal* (<u>www.ite.org</u>), Vol. 79, No. 6, June, pp. 26-29; at <u>https://trid.trb.org/view/899838</u>.

ATAP (2017), Australian Transport Assessment and Planning Guidelines, ATAP Steering Committee Secretariat (<u>https://atap.gov.au</u>) Australia Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development; <u>https://atap.gov.au/mode-specific-guidance/public-transport</u>.

Linda Bailey (2007), *Public Transportation and Petroleum Savings in the U.S.: Reducing Dependence on Oil,* ICF International for the American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3aCbQP4</u>.

David Banister and Mark Thurstain-Goodwin (2011), "Quantification of the Non-Transport Benefits Resulting from Rail Investment," *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 19, Is. 2, March, pp. 212-223; earlier version at www.tsu.ox.ac.uk/pubs/1029-banister.pdf.

Marco Batarce, Juan Carlos Muñoz, and Juan de Dios Ortúzar (2016), "Valuing Crowding in Public Transport: Implications for Cost-benefit Analysis," *Transportation Research A*, Vol. 91, pp. 358–378 (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2016.06.025</u>).

Nathaniel Baum-Snow and Matthew E. Kahn (2005), *The Effects of Urban Rail Transit Expansions: Evidence from Sixteen Cities, 1970 to 2000,* Brookings Papers on Urban Affairs (www.econ.brown.edu/fac/Nathaniel Baum-Snow/brook final.pdf).

Edward Beimborn and Robert Puentes (2003), *Highways and Transit: Leveling the Playing Field in Federal Transportation Policy*, Brookings Institute (<u>www.brookings.edu</u>).

Moshe Ben-Akiva and Takayuki Morikawa (2002), "Comparing Ridership Attraction of Rail and Bus," *Transport Policy*, Vol. 9. No. 2 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tranpol</u>), April, pp. 107-116.

Antonio M. Bento, Maureen L. Cropper (2003), Ahmed Mushfiq Mobarak and Katja Vinha, *The Impact of Urban Spatial Structure on Travel Demand in the United States*, World Bank Group Working Paper 2007, World Bank (<u>http://econ.worldbank.org/files/24989_wps3007.pdf</u>).

Lilah M. Besser and Andrew L. Dannenberg (2005), "Walking to Public Transit: Steps to Help Meet Physical Activity Recommendations," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, Vo. 29, No. 4 (www.acpm.org); at www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/articles/besser_dannenberg.pdf.

BLS (annual reports), Consumer Expenditure Survey, Bureau of Labor Statistics (www.bls.gov).

Marlon G. Boarnet and Doug Houston (2013), *The Exposition Light Rail Line Study: A Before-and-After Study of the Impact of New Light Rail Transit Service*, UCLA Price School of Public Policy (http://priceschool.usc.edu); at http://priceschool.usc.edu/expo-line-study.

Jeffrey Brown and Gregory L. Thompson (2009), *The Influence of Service Planning Decisions on Rail Transit Success or Failure*, Mineta Transportation Institute (<u>www.transweb.sjsu.edu</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3nRo5KL</u>.

Eric Bruun (2005), "Comparison of BRT and LRT Operating Costs Using a Parametric Cost Model," *Transportation Research Record 1927*, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>), pp. 11-21; summary at <u>http://trb.metapress.com/content/603014034j6w6764/</u>.

Eric Bruun (2007), Better Public Transit Systems, Planners Press (www.planning.org).

Eric Bruun (2017), "Assessment Methods from Around the World Potentially Useful for Public Transport Projects," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 103-130; at http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1618&context=jpt.

BRT NewLane (<u>www.calstart.org/programs/brt</u>) provides information on the development and implementation of Bus Rapid Transit.

BTS (annual reports), *National Transportation Statistics*, Bureau of Transportation Statistics (<u>www.bts.gov</u>). This annual document provides a wide range of information on different modes, including vehicle-miles, passenger-miles, crashes, energy consumption, etc.

Mark Bunting (2004), *Making Public Transport Work*, McGill-Queens University Press (<u>www.mqup.mcgill.ca</u>).

BusVic (2010), *Public Transport Use a Ticket to Health*, Briefing Paper, Bus Association Victoria (<u>www.busvic.asn.au</u>); at <u>www.busvic.asn.au/database/files/BusVic%20briefing%20paper%20-%20PT%20use%20a%20ticket%20to%20health%2012Mar2010.pdf</u>.

Robert Burchell, et al (1998), *The Costs of Sprawl – Revisited*, TCRP Report 39, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

Jon Burkhardt, James Hedrick and Adam McGavock (1998), *Assessment of the Economic Impacts of Rural Public Transportation*, Transit Cooperative Research Program Report 34, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.tcrponline.org</u>).

Alasdair Cain, Jennifer Flynn, and Mike McCourt (2009), *Quantifying the Importance of Image and Perception to Bus Rapid Transit*, National Center for Transit Research (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu</u>) for the Federal Transit Administration: at <u>www.nbrti.org/docs/pdf/NBRTI%20-</u> %20BRT%20Image%20Study%20-%20March%202009 Final%20Draft highres.pdf.

Cambridge Systematics and Apogee Research (1996), *Measuring and Valuing Transit Benefits and Disbenefits*, TCRP Report 20, Transportation Research Board, (www.trb.org).

Cambridge Systematics (1998), *Economic Impact Analysis of Transit Investments: Guidebook for Practioners*, Report 35, TCRP, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

Cambridge Systematics with Economic Development Research Group (1999), *Public Transportation and the Nation's Economy: A Quantitative Analysis of Public Transportation's Economic Impact*, American Public Transit Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>).

Jason Cao and Jessica Schoner (2013), *Transportation Impact of Transitways: A Case Study of Hiawatha Light Rail Transit in Minneapolis*, Report 7, Transitway Impacts Research Program, University of Minnesota (<u>www.cts.umn.edu</u>); at www.cts.umn.edu/Publications/ResearchReports/reportdetail.html?id=2266.

Jeffrey M. Casello (2007), "Transit Competitiveness in Polycentric Metropolitan Regions," *Transportation Research A*, Vol. 41, No. 1 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tra</u>), Jan. 2007, pp. 19-40.

Molly D. Castelazo and Thomas A. Garrett (2004), "Light Rail: Boon or Boondoggle," *The Regional Economist* (<u>www.stlouisfed.org/publications/re/2004/c/pages/light_rail.html</u>), July.

CDC (2010), *Recommendations for Improving Health through Transportation Policy*, Center for Disease Control (<u>www.cdc.gov</u>); at <u>www.cdc.gov/transportation</u>.

CDC Foundation (2020), *Public Health Action Guide: Public Transportation*, (<u>www.cdcfoundation.org</u>); at <u>www.cdcfoundation.org/sites/default/files/files/HI5</u> TransportationGuide.pdf.

Robert Cervero and Michael Duncan (2002), *Transit's Value Added: Effects of Light Commercial Rail Services on Commercial Land Values*, Presented at TRB Annual Meeting; at www.apta.com/info/briefings/cervero_duncan.pdf.

Robert Cervero, et al. (2004), *Transit-Oriented Development in the United States: Experience, Challenges, and Prospects*, Transit Cooperative Research Program, Transportation Research Board (www.trb.org); at http://gulliver.trb.org/publications/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_102.pdf.

Robert Cervero and G. B. Arrington (2008), "Vehicle Trip Reduction Impacts of Transit-Oriented Housing," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 11, No. 3, pp. 1-17; at www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT11-3.pdf.

Robert Cervero and Erick Guerra (2011), *Urban Densities and Transit: A Multi-dimensional Perspective*, Paper UCB-ITS-VWP-2011-6, UC Berkeley Center of Future Urban Transport (www.its.berkeley.edu); at https://bit.ly/3cuiLbF.

CFTE (2005), Building Communities Through Public Transportation: A Guide for Successful Transit Initiatives, Center for Transportation Excellence, for the Public Transportation Partnership for Tomorrow (www.cfte.org/Building Communities.pdf).

Sabrina Chan and Luis Miranda-Moreno (2011), *A Station-level Ridership Model for the Metro Network in Montreal City*, World Symposium on Transport and Land Use Research (<u>http://wstlur.org</u>).

Daniel G. Chatman (2013), "Does TOD Need the T?," *Journal of the American Planning Association*, Vol. 79, No. 1, pp. 17-31 (DOI: 10.1080/01944363.2013.791008); at www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/01944363.2013.791008.

Daniel G. Chatman, et al. (2012), *Methodology for Determining the Economic Development Impacts of Transit Projects*, Web-only Document 56, Transit Cooperative Research Program (<u>www.tcrponline.org</u>); at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_w56.pdf</u>.

Daniel G. Chatman and Robert B. Noland (2013), "Transit Service, Physical Agglomeration and Productivity in US Metropolitan Areas," *Urban Studies* (doi.org/10.1177/0042098013494426).

Chun-Hung Peter Chen and George A. Naylor (2011), "Development of a Mode Choice Model for Bus Rapid Transit in Santa Clara County, California," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 14, No. 3, 41-61; at www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2011/10/JPT14.3.pdf.

Chao-Lun Cheng and Asha Weinstein Agrawal (2010), "TTSAT: A New Approach to Mapping Transit Accessibility" *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 55-72; at www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT13-1.pdf.

Mikhail Chester and Arpad Horvath (2008), Environmental Life-cycle Assessment of Passenger Transportation: A Detailed Methodology for Energy, Greenhouse Gas and Criteria Pollutant Inventories of Automobiles, Buses, Light Rail, Heavy Rail and Air v.2, UC Berkeley Center for Future Urban Transport, (www.its.berkeley.edu/volvocenter), Paper vwp-2008-2; at http://escholarship.org/uc/item/7n29n303#page-36.

Mikhail Chester, Stephanie Pincetl, Zoe Elizabeth, William Eisenstein and Juan Matute (2013), "Infrastructure and Automobile Shifts: Positioning Transit to Reduce Life-Cycle Environmental Impacts for Urban Sustainability Goals," *Environmental Research Letters*, Vol. 8, pp. (2013) (doi:10.1088/1748-9326/8/1/015041); at <u>http://iopscience.iop.org/1748-</u> <u>9326/8/1/015041/pdf/1748-9326 8 1 015041.pdf</u>.

Harry Chmelynski (2008), National Economic Impacts per \$1 Million Household Expenditures (2006); Spreadsheet Based On IMPLAN Input-Output Model, Jack Faucett Associates (<u>www.jfaucett.com</u>).

CIT (2001), *Study of European Best Practice in the Delivery of Integrated Transport*, Commission for Integrated Transport (<u>www.cfit.gov.uk/research/ebp/exec/index.htm</u>).

CNT (2010), *Transit-Oriented Development and the Potential for VMT-related Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction*, Center for Neighborhood Technology (<u>www.cnt.org</u>); at www.cnt.org/repository/TOD-Potential-GHG-Emissions-Growth.FINAL.pdf.

CODATU (2009), *Who Pays What for Urban Transport? Handbook of Good Practices*, Cooperation for Urban Mobility in the Developing World (<u>www.codatu.org</u>); at <u>www.codatu.org/english/studies/handbook good practices.pdf</u>.

Brian L. Cole, Georgina Agyekum, Sandra Hoffman and Riti Shimkhada (2008), *Mass Transit HIA: Potential Health Impacts of the Governor's Proposed Redirection of California State Transportation Spillover Funds*, UCLA School of Public Health (<u>www.ph.ucla.edu</u>); at <u>www.ph.ucla.edu/hs/health-</u> <u>impact/docs/MassTransitHIA PolicyBrief Aug2007.pdf</u>.

Matthew Coogan, et al. (2018), "Understanding Changes in Demographics, Preferences, and Markets for Public Transportation," Report 201, Transit Cooperative Research Program; at www.nap.edu/download/25160.

Corporate Economics (2014) *Importance of Public Transit in Canada and Calgary, and Who Should Pay*, Calgary Transit (<u>www.calgary.ca</u>); at <u>http://tinyurl.com/p9dtrwb</u>.

Joe Cortright (2010), Driven Apart: How Sprawl is Lengthening Our Commutes and Why Misleading Mobility Measures are Making Things Worse, CEOs for Cities (<u>www.ceosforcities.org</u>); at www.ceosforcities.org/work/driven-apart.

Wendell Cox (2004), Why Not Just Buy Them Cars? Heartland Institute (www.heartland.org).

Crain & Associates (1999), Using Public Transportation to Reduce the Economic, Social, and Human Costs of Personal Immobility, Report 49 TCRP, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

CTOD (2009), *Destinations Matter: Building Transit Success*, Center for Transit Oriented Development, Reconnecting America (<u>www.reconnectingamerica.org</u>); at <u>www.reconnectingamerica.org/public/display_asset/ctodwp_destinations_matter</u>.

CTOD (2010), *Performance-Based Transit-Oriented Development Typology Guidebook*, Center for Transit-Oriented Development (<u>www.reconnectingamerica.org</u>); at <u>www.reconnectingamerica.org/public/display_asset/2010_performancebasedtodtypologyguidebook</u>.

CTOD (2011), *Transit and Regional Economic Development*, Center for Transit Oriented Development (<u>www.ctod.org/portal</u>); at http://reconnectingamerica.org/assets/Uploads/TransitandRegionalED2011.pdf.

CTOD and CNT (2006), *The Affordability Index: A New Tool for Measuring the True Affordability of a Housing Choice* (<u>http://htaindex.cnt.org</u>), Center for Transit-Oriented Development and the Center for Neighborhood Technology.

CTS (2010), How Light-Rail Transit Improves Job Access for Low-Wage Workers: A Transitway Impacts Research Program (TIRP) Research Brief, University of Minnesota's Transitway Impacts Research Program (TIRP) (www.cts.umn.edu/programs/tirp).

CTS (2013), *Maximizing the Return on Transitway Investment*, University of Minnesota's Transitway Impacts Research Program (TIRP) (<u>www.cts.umn.edu/programs/tirp</u>).

CTS (2012), Research Synthesis: Transforming Community: Research Indicates Transitways are Improving Mobility, Spurring Economic Growth and Development, and Supporting Equity, University of Minnesota's Transitway Impacts Research Program (TIRP) (www.cts.umn.edu/programs/tirp).

S. Cullinane (2002), "Relationship Between Car Ownership and Public Transport Provision: A Case Study of Hong Kong," *Transport Policy*, Vol. 9. No. 1, (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tranpol</u>), Jan. 2002, pp. 29-39.

Graham Currie (2005), "The Demand Performance of Bus Rapid Transit," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 8, No.1 (www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT%208-1%20Currie.pdf), pp. 41-55.

Graham Currie (2006), "Bus Transit Oriented Development — Strengths and Challenges Relative to Rail," *Journal of Public Transportation* (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT%209-4%20Currie.pdf</u>), Vol. 9 No. 4, pp. 1-21.

Graham Currie (2011), "Agglomeration Economies: Understanding Benefits In Mass Transit Project Evaluation," *The Economics of Transport: Smarter Transport – Better Cities*, Metropolitan Transport Forum (<u>www.mtf.org.au</u>), pp. 68-76; at <u>www.mtf.org.au/site/files/ul/data_text12/2299874.pdf</u>.

Graham Currie and Alexa Delbosc (2013), "Exploring Comparative Ridership Drivers of Bus Rapid Transit and Light Rail Transit Routes," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 47-65; at www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/16.2 currie.pdf.

CUTR (1998), *Public Transit in America: Findings From The 1995 Nationwide Personal Transportation Survey*, Center for Urban Transportation Research (<u>www.cutr.eng.usf.edu</u>).

CUTA (2010), *The Economic Impact of Transit Investment: A National Survey*, Canadian Urban Transportation (<u>www.cutaactu.ca</u>); at <u>http://cutaactu.ca/sites/default/files/final_cuta-</u> economicbenefitsoftransit-finalreportesept2010.pdf.

Benjamin Dachis and Rhys Godin (2021), *Trains, Lanes and Automobiles: The Effect of COVID-19 on the Future of Public Transit,* Commentary 598, C.D. Howe Institute (<u>www.cdhowe.org</u>); at <u>www.cdhowe.org/sites/default/files/attachments/research_papers/mixed/Commentary_598.pdf</u>.

Robert Damuth (2008), *The Economic Impacts and Social Benefits of the U.S. Motorcoach Industry Binding the Nation Together by Providing Diverse and Affordable Services for Everyone*, American Bus Association (<u>www.buses.org</u>); at <u>www.buses.org/files/Report08.pdf</u>.

Susmita Dasgupta, Somik Lall and David Wheeler (2023), *Subways and CO2 Emissions: A Global Analysis With Satellite Data, Science of the Total Environment*, Vo. 883 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.163691).

Todd Davis and Monica Hale (2007), *Public Transportation's Contribution to Greenhouse Gas Reduction*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>www.apta.com/research/info/online/documents/climate_change.pdf</u>.

Anne de Bortoli and Zoi Christoforou (2020), "Consequential LCA for territorial and multimodal transportation policies: method and application to the free-floating e-scooter disruption in Paris," *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 273:122898 (DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.122898).

Mark Delucchi and Shi-Ling Hsu (1998), "External Damage Cost of Noise Emitted from Motor Vehicles," *Journal of Transportation and Statistics*, Vol. 1, No. 3, October 1998, pp. 1-24.

Leroy W. Demery and J. Wallace Higgins (2002), *Rapid Bus and Rapid Rail: Peak Period Service Supply* vs. Observed Passenger Utilization, PublicTransit.Us (<u>www.publictransit.us</u>).

Danielle Devries, et al. (2018), *The Health Effects of Fixed-Guideway Transit Investment: A Review of Methods and Best Practice*, Metro Vancouver, Coastal Health Authority and TransLink (<u>www.metrovancouver.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2l91ZCY</u>.

DfT (2017), *Transport Analysis Guidance*, Integrated Transport Economics and Appraisal, Department for Transport (<u>www.webtag.org.uk/index.htm</u>). This website provides comprehensive guidance on how to evaluate transportation planning decisions.

Chhavi Dhinghi (2011), *Measuring Public Transport Performance- Lessons For Developing Cities: Sustainable Transport Sourcebook*, Sustainable Urban Transport Project (<u>www.sutp.org</u>) Asia and GIZ; at <u>www.sutp.org/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=2826</u>.

Richard Dowling, et al. (2008), *Multimodal Level of Service Analysis for Urban Streets*, NCHRP Report 616, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://trb.org/news/blurb_detail.asp?id=9470</u>; *User Guide* at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp_w128.pdf</u>.

Neil Douglas (2021), Australian Transport Assessment and Planning Guidelines M1 Public Transport: Parameter Values Technical Report, Australian Transport Assessment and Planning (www.atap.gov.au); at www.atap.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/M1-Technical-Report.pdf.

Nicolae Duduta, et al. (2012), "Understanding Road Safety Impact of High-Performance Bus Rapid Transit and Busway Design Features," *Transportation Research Record*, 2317, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>), pp. 8–14 (DOI: 10.3141/2317-02); at <u>www.brt.cl/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2013/03/Duduna-et-al-2012.pdf</u>.

Nicolae Duduta, et al. (2014), *Traffic Safety on Bus Priority Systems: Recommendations for Integrating Safety Into the Planning, Design, and Operations of Major Bus Routes*, EMBARQ (www.embarq.org); at http://tinyurl.com/2p8rxj5w.

ECONorthwest and PBQD (2002), *Estimating the Benefits and Costs of Public Transit Projects*, TCRP Report 78, (<u>http://gulliver.trb.org/publications/tcrp/tcrp78/index.htm</u>), TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

EDRG (2007), *Time is Money: The Economic Benefits of Transit Investment*, Economic Development Research Group for the Chicago RTA; at <u>www.chicagometropolis2020.org/documents/TimeisMoney.pdf</u>.

EDRG (2013), *The Role of Transit in Support of High Growth Business Clusters in the U.S.*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>http://tinyurl.com/nwjht9h</u>.

EDRG (2014), *Economic Impact of Public Transportation Investment*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>http://tinyurl.com/ma6sldu</u>.

EDRG and (2016), *Economic Impact Case Study Tool for Transit*, Report 186, Transit Cooperative Research Program, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.trb.org/main/blurbs/174387.aspx</u> and the *Transportation Project Impact Case Studies System* (<u>www.edrgroup.com/library/transportation</u>), a searchable database of past projects and their observed impacts on economic development, and a predictive tool that estimates the range of likely impacts of proposed new projects, based on results from already-built projects.

Ryan D. Edwards (2008), "Public Transit, Obesity, And Medical Costs: Assessing The Magnitudes," *Preventive Medicine* (www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/00917435), Vol. 46/1, pp. 14-21.

EMBARQ (2012), Evaluate, Enable, Engage: Principles to Support Effective Decision Making in Mass Transit Investment Programs, EMBARQ (<u>www.embarq.org</u>); at <u>www.embarq.org/en/evaluate-</u> enable-engage-principles-support-effective-decision-making-mass-transit-investment-programs.

EMBARQ (2013), Social, Environmental and Economic Impacts of BRT Systems: Bus Rapid Transit Case Studies from Around the World, EMBARQ (<u>www.embarq.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/1SXo5QF</u>.

Johnathan English (2025), "How Did This Suburb Figure Out Mass Transit?," Bloomberg (<u>www.bloomberg.com</u>); at <u>www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2025-04-14/the-toronto-suburb-where-the-humble-bus-is-king</u>.

Eno (2020), *Transit Construction Cost Database*, Eno Foundation (<u>www.enotrans.org</u>); at <u>www.enotrans.org/article/eno-releases-first-iteration-of-transit-construction-cost-database</u>. This database includes construction cost and timeline data for 171 rail transit projects.

Alireza Ermagun and Frank Witlox (2024), "Transit Access Effectiveness in American Metropolitan Areas," *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vo. 116 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2024.103853</u>).

Reid Ewing and Shima Hamidi (2014), "Longitudinal Analysis of Transit's Land Use Multiplier in Portland," *Journal of the American Planning Association* (DOI: 10.1080/01944363.2014.949506); at http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2014.949506.

Reid Ewing, Guang Tian and Allison Spain (2014), *Effect of Light-Rail Transit on Traffic in a Travel Corridor*, National Institute for Transportation and Communities (<u>www.otrec.us</u>); at <u>http://nitc.trec.pdx.edu/research/project/611</u>.

Yingling Fan, et al. (2020), Value of Transitways to Regional Economies: National and Twin Cities Perspectives, Center for Transportation Studies (<u>www.cts.umn.edu</u>); at <u>http://cts.umn.edu/Research/ProjectDetail.html?id=2019043</u>.

Dagney Faulk and Michael J Hicks (2015), "The Impact of Bus Transit on Employee Turnover: Evidence from Quasi-Experimental Samples," *Urban Studies*; abstract at http://usj.sagepub.com/content/early/2015/04/16/0042098015581571.abstract.

FDOT (2014), *Multimodal Transportation Best Practices and Model Element*, Report BDK85-977-49, National Center for Transit Research, Florida Department of Transportation (<u>www.fdot.gov</u>); at <u>www.fdot.gov/research/Completed Proj/Summary PL/FDOT-BDK85-977-49-rpt.pdf</u>.

Christopher E. Ferrell (2015), *The Benefits of Transit in the United States: A Review and Analysis of Benefit-Cost Studies*, Mineta Transportation Institute (<u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu</u>); at <u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu/PDFs/research/1425-US-transit-benefit-cost-analysis-study.pdf</u>.

FHWA (1997), 1997 Federal Highway Cost Allocation Study, USDOT (<u>www.fhwa.dot.gov</u>).

FHWA (2014), A Multi-Modal Approach to Economic Development in the Metropolitan Area Transportation Planning Process, White Paper, John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems, for the Office of Planning, Federal Highway Administration (<u>www.planning.dot.gov</u>); at <u>www.planning.dot.gov/documents/EconDevelopmentFinal_8-11-14.pdf</u>.

FHWA and FTA (2002), *Transportation & Environmental Justice: Effective Practices*, Federal Highway Administration, Federal Transit Administration, FHWA-EP-02-016 (www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/ej2.htm).

FHWA and FTA (2002), "Establishing Meaningful Performance Measures for Benefits and Burden Assessments," *Transportation & Environmental Justice: Effective Practices*, Federal Highway Administration, Federal Transit Administration, FHWA-EP-02-016 (www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/ej2.htm).

Alanna Finn (2017), *How Much is One Point of Transit Score Worth?*, Redfin (<u>www.redfin.com</u>); at <u>www.redfin.com/news/how-much-is-one-point-of-transit-score-worth</u>.

David J. Forkenbrock and Glen E. Weisbrod (2001), *Guidebook for Assessing the Social and Economic Effects of Transportation Projects*, NCHRP Report 456, Transportation Research Board, National Academy Press (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

A. Fowkes, P. Oxley and B. Henser (1994), *Cross-Sector Benefits of Accessible Public Transport*, report for Joseph Rowntree Foundation (London).

Lawrence Frank and Peter Engelke (2000), *How Land Use and Transportation Systems Impact Public Health*, Active Community Environments, Georgia Institute of Technology and Center for Disease Control (Atlanta; <u>www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dnpa/aces.htm</u>).

Lawrence D. Frank, et al. (2010), "Carbonless Footprints: Promoting Health and Climate Stabilization Through Active Transportation," *Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 50, Supplement 1, pp. S99-S105; at <u>www.activelivingresearch.org/resourcesearch/journalspecialissues</u>.

FTA (annual reports), *National Transit Database*, Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.fta.dot.gov/ntl/database.html</u>).

FTA (various years), *Transit Performance Monitoring System (TPMS) Results*, American Public Transit Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>) and the Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.fta.dot.gov/printer_friendly/publications_5677.html</u>).

FTA (2007), *Contractor Performance Assessment Report*, Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.fta.dot.gov</u>); at <u>www.fta.dot.gov/documents/CPAR_Final_Report_-_2007.pdf</u>.

FTA (updated regularly), *Innovative Strategies To Increase Ridership Website*, Federal Transit Administration (http://ftawebprod.fta.dot.gov/bpir).

Liping Fu, Frank F. Saccomanno and Yaping Xin (2005), "Capacity and Quality of Service: Assessing Transit Level of Service Along Travel Corridors," *Transportation Research Record 1927*, Transportation Research Board (www.trb.org), pp. 257-267.

Christina D. Funk, Michael J. Higgins and Gregory L. Newmark (2023), "Operating Subsidies and Transit Efficiency," *Transportation* (doi.org/10.1007/s11116-023-10441-w).

Frank Gallivan, et al. (2015), *Quantifying Transit's Impact on GHG Emissions and Energy Use—The Land Use Component*, Report 176, Transit Cooperative Research Program (<u>www.tcrponline.org</u>); at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_176.pdf</u>.

GAO (2001), *Mass Transit; Bus Rapid Transit Shows Promise*, U.S. General Accounting Office, GAO-01-984 (<u>www.gao.gov/new.items/d01984.pdf</u>).

GAO (2005), Highway and Transit Investments: Options for Improving Information on Projects' Benefits and Costs and Increasing Accountability for Results, Report 05-172, Government Accountability Office (<u>www.gao.gov/new.items/d05172.pdf</u>).

Thomas A. Garrett (2004), *Light-Rail Transit in America Policy Issues and Prospects for Economic Development*, Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis (<u>www.stlouisfed.org</u>); at <u>www.stlouisfed.org/community_development/assets/pdf/light_rail.pdf</u>.

Mark Garrett and Brian Taylor (1999), "Reconsidering Social Equity in Public Transit," *Berkeley Planning Journal* (<u>www-dcrp.ced.berkeley.edu</u>), Vol. 13, pp. 6-27.

Genevieve Giuliano (2001), *The Role Of Public Transit in the Mobility of Low Income Households*, MeTranst Transportation Institute (<u>www.metrans.org/research/final/99-11_Final.pdf</u>).

Edward L. Glaeser, Matthew E. Kahn and Jordan Rappaport (2008), "Why do the Poor Live in Cities? The Role of Public Transportation," *Journal of Urban Economics* 63/1: 1-24; at <u>https://bit.ly/3lC4sGO</u>.

Ranjit Godavarthy, Jeremy Mattson and Elvis Ndembe (2014), *Cost-Benefit Analysis of Rural and Small Urban Transit*, Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute, North Dakota State University, for the U.S. Department of Transportation (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu</u>); at <u>www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/77060-NCTR-NDSU03.pdf</u>.

Mark R. Greer and Bart van Campen (2011), "Influences on Public Transport Utilization: The Case of Auckland," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 14, No. 2, pp. 51-68; at <u>www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2011/07/JPT14.2.pdf</u>.

Scott Goldsmith, Mary Killorin and Eric Larson (2006), *The Economic Benefits of Public Transportation in Anchorage*, Institute of Social and Economic Research, University of Alaska Anchorage, for the Public Transportation Department, Municipality of Anchorage; at www.iser.uaa.alaska.edu/Publications/final_beneoftransit.pdf.

Zhan Guo, et al. (2011), *The Intersection of Urban Form and Mileage Fees: Findings from the Oregon Road User Fee Pilot Program*, Report 10-04, Mineta Transportation Institute (<u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu</u>); at <u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu/PDFs/research/2909_10-04.pdf</u>.

Evan Gwee, Graham Currie and John Stanley (2011), *Exploring International Variation in Approaches* to Urban Rail Project Evaluation - Impact on Project Outcomes, Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting (www.trb.org); at http://trb.metapress.com/content/k00381553h0353p7.

Chris A. Hale (2011), "New Approaches to Strategic Urban Transport Assessment," Australian Planner, Vol. 48/3, 173-182; abstract at <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07293682.2011.592505</u>.

Susan Handy, et al. (2014), *Impacts of Transit Service Strategies on Passenger Vehicle Use and Greenhouse Gas Emissions. Technical Background Document*, California Air Resources Board (<u>http://arb.ca.gov/cc/sb375/policies/policies.htm</u>); at <u>https://tinyurl.com/mvxj7s77</u>.

Jon Harford (2006), "Congestion, Pollution and Benefit-to-Cost Ratios of U.S. Public Transit Systems," Transportation Research Part D, Vol. 11, pp. 45–58; at http://tinyurl.com/nyeqv9q.

Carmen Hass-Klau, Graham Crampton, Carsten Biereth & Volker Deutsch (2003), *Bus or Light Rail: Making The Right Choice*, Environmental and Transportation Planning (<u>www.etphassklau.co.uk</u>).

Carmen Hass-Klau, Graham Crampton and Rabia Benjari (2004), *Economic Impact of Light Rail: The Results of 15 Urban Areas In France, Germany, UK and North America*, Environmental & Transport Planning (<u>http://etphassklau.co.uk</u>).

Andrew F. Haughwout (2000), "The Paradox of Infrastructure Investment," *Brookings Review* (<u>www.brookings.edu</u>), Summer 2000, pp. 40-43.

Tim Hazledine, Stuart Donovan and John Bolland (2013), *The Contribution of Public Transport To Economic Productivity*, Research Report 514, NZ Transport Agency (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz</u>); at <u>www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/research/reports/514/docs/514.pdf</u>.

Sara J. Hendricks, Edward Hillsman, Alec Foster and Amy Stuart (2010), *Developing a Framework for a Toolkit for Carbon Footprint that Integrates Transit*, Center for Urban Transportation Research, University of South Florida (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu</u>); at <u>www.nctr.usf.edu/pdf/77909.pdf</u>.

Lyndon Henry and Todd Litman (2006), *Evaluating New Start Transit Program Performance: Comparing Rail And Bus*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/bus_rail.pdf</u>.

David A. Hensher (2007), *Bus Transport: Economics, Policy and Planning*, Research in Transportation Economics Vol. 18, Elsevier (<u>www.elsevier.com</u>).

David Hensher and Jenny King (1998), "Establishing Fare Elasticity Regimes for Urban Passenger Transport: Time-Based Fares for Concession and Non-Concession Market Segmented by Trip Length," *Journal of Transportation Statistics*, Vo. 1, No. 1, January 1998, pp.43-57.

Dario Hidalgo and Aileen Carrigan (2010), *Modernizing Public Transportation: Lessons Learned from Major Bus Improvements in Latin America and Asia*, EMBARQ (<u>www.embarq.org</u>); at www.embarq.org/sites/default/files/EMB2010 BRTREPORT.pdf.

John Holtzclaw (2000), *Does a Mile in a Car Equal a Mile on a Train? Exploring Public Transit's Effectiveness In Reducing Driving*, The Sierra Club (www.sierraclub.org/sprawl/articles/reducedriving.asp).

Julie Hoover, Bruce McDowell and Gian-Claudia Sciara (2004), *Transit at the Table: A Guide to Participation in Metropolitan Decisionmaking* U.S. Federal Transit Administration (www.planning.dot.gov/documents/TransitAtTable.pdf).

Michael Iacono, Kevin Krizek and Ahmed El-Geneidy (2008), *Access to Destinations: How Close is Close Enough? Estimating Accurate Distance Decay Functions for Multiple Modes and Different Purposes*, Report 2008-11, University of Minnesota (<u>www.cts.umn.edu</u>); at <u>www.cts.umn.edu/Publications/ResearchReports/pdfdownload.pl?id=916</u>.

ICF (2009), *Benefit/Cost Analysis of Converting a Lane for Bus Rapid Transit*, Research Results Digest 336, National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp_rrd_336.pdf</u>; summary at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp_rrd_352.pdf</u>.

ICF (2010), *Current Practices in Greenhouse Gas Emissions Savings from Transit: A Synthesis of Transit Practice*, TCRP 84, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.trb.org/Publications/Blurbs/163614.aspx</u>.

ITDP (2017), *The BRT Planning Guide*, Institute of Transportation and Development Policy (www.itdp.org); at www.itdp.org/2017/11/16/the-brt-planning-guide.

ITF (2015), Valuing Convenience in Public Transport: Roundtable Summary and Conclusions, International Transport Forum (<u>www.internationaltransportforum.org</u>), Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (<u>www.oecd.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/1HHtd5v</u>.

Md Kamruzzaman, et al. (2014), "Patterns of Social Capital Associated with Transit Oriented Development," *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 35, Feb., pp. 144-155; at www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0966692314000271.

Md. Ahsanul Karim, Mohamed M. Wahba and Tarek Sayed (2012), *Evaluating the Safety Estimates of Transit Operations and City Transportation Plans*, Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting (www.trb.org); at http://amonline.trb.org/1slsr0/1slsr0/1.

Jeff Kenworthy, et al. (1998), *Indicators of Transport Efficiency in 37 Global Cities*, ISTP, Murdoch University (<u>http://wwwistp.murdoch.edu.au</u>), for the World Bank.

Jeff Kenworthy (2008), "An International Review of The Significance of Rail in Developing More Sustainable Urban Transport Systems in Higher Income Cities," *World Transport Policy & Practice*, Vol. 14, No. 2 (<u>www.eco-logica.co.uk</u>); at <u>www.eco-logica.co.uk/pdf/wtpp14.2.pdf</u>.

Jeffrey Kenworthy (2008), "Transport Heaven and Hell," *ITS Magazine*, February; at www.industry.siemens.de/traffic/EN/NEWS/ITSMAGAZINE/HTML/0802/fokus 1.html.

Jeffrey R. Kenworthy (2018), "Reducing Passenger Transport Energy Use in Cities: A Comparative Perspective on Private and Public Transport Energy Use in American, Canadian, Australian, European and Asian Cities," *Urban Energy Transition (Second Edition)*, pp. 2018 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-102074-6.00024-3</u>).

Jeffrey Kenworthy and Felix Laube (2000), *Millennium Cities Database For Sustainable Transport*, Institute for Sustainability and Technology Policy, Distributed by the International Union of Public Transport (<u>www.uitp.com</u>).

JICA (2011), *The Research on Practical Approach for Urban Transport Planning*, Japan International Cooperation Agency (<u>www.jica.go.jp</u>); at <u>http://tinyurl.com/oy7bmhw</u>.

Mindy Kimball, et al. (2013), "Assessing the Potential for Reducing Life-Cycle Environmental Impacts through Transit-Oriented Development Infill along Existing Light Rail in Phoenix," *Journal of Planning Education & Research* (<u>http://jper.sagepub.com</u>), December, Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 395-410; at http://jpe.sagepub.com/content/33/4/395.full.

King County Metro (2021), *Metro's 2021 Transit Speed & Reliability Guidelines and Strategies*, King County Metro (<u>https://kingcountymetro.gov</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3LOTnvD</u>.

Kittleson & Associates (2007), *Bus Rapid Transit Practitioner's Guide*, Report 118, Transit Cooperative Research Program, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_118.pdf</u>.

Kittleson & Associates (2013), *Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual – Third Edition*, TCRP Web Document 165, Transit Cooperative Research Program, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_165fm.pdf</u>.

Michael Kuby (2004), Anthony Barranda and Christopher Upchurch, "Factors Influencing Light-Rail Station Boardings In The United States," *Transportation Research A*, Vol. 38, No. 3 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tra</u>), March 2004, pp. 223-247.

Soo Chen Kwan and Jamal Hashim (2016), "A Review on Co-Benefits of Mass Public Transportation in Climate Change Mitigation," *Sustainable Cities and Society*, Vo. 22, pp. 11-18 (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2016.01.004</u>)

Ugo Lachapelle and Lawrence D. Frank (2009), "Transit and Health: Mode of Transport, Employer-Sponsored Public Transit Pass Programs, And Physical Activity," *Journal of Public Health Policy* (<u>www.palgrave-journals.com/jphp</u>), Vol. 30, pp. S73-S94; at <u>www.palgrave-</u> journals.com/jphp/journal/v30/nS1/full/jphp200852a.html. Also see Ugo Lachapelle (2009), *Public Transit Use as a Catalyst for an Active Lifestyle: Mechanisms, Predispositions and Hindrances*, PhD Dissertation, University of British Columbia (<u>http://hdl.handle.net/2429/30239</u>).

Ugo Lachapelle, et al. (2011), "Commuting by Public Transit and Physical Activity: Where You Live, Where You Work, and How You Get There," *Journal of Physical Activity and Health* (<u>http://journals.humankinetics.com/jpah</u>), Vol. 8, pp. S72-S82; at <u>https://bit.ly/2ZGYjfH</u>.

Rafael Lalive, Simon Luechinger and Armin Schmutzler (2013), *Does Supporting Passenger Railways Reduce Road Traffic Externalities?*, University of Zurich Working Paper No. 110 (<u>http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2212735</u>); at www.cer.ethz.ch/auroe/tagungen/auroe2012_luechinger.pdf.

Melissa M. Laube, Lydia Rainville and William M. Lyons (2014), A Multi-Modal Approach to Economic Development in the Metropolitan Area Transportation Planning Process, Volpe National Transportation Systems Center, U.S. Department of Transportation (<u>www.planning.dot.gov</u>); at <u>www.planning.dot.gov/documents/EconDevelopmentFinal</u> 8-11-14.pdf.

Jorge Laval, Michael Cassidy and Juan-Carlos Herrera (2004), *Traffic Impact Analysis: Effects Of The Absence Of Bart Service On Major East Bay Corridors*, Institute of Transportation Studies, UC Berkeley (<u>www.berkeley.edu</u>).

Alexander Legrain, Naveen Eluru and Ahmed M. El-Geneidy (2015), "Am Stressed, Must Travel: The Relationship between Mode Choice and Commuting Stress," *Transportation Research Part F*, Vo. 34, pp. 141–151 (doi:10.1016/j.trf.2015.08.001).

Leigh, Scott & Cleary (1999), *Transit Needs & Benefits Study*, Colorado Department of Transportation (<u>www.dot.state.co.us</u>); summaries at <u>https://trid.trb.org/view.aspx?id=741033</u> and <u>www.lsccs.com/projects/seco/tm1/ch4.pdf</u>.

Lewison Lem, Rami Chami and Dylan Tucker (2011), *Transit Land Use Multiplier Analysis: A Kentucky Example*, presented at Greenhouse Gas Strategies in a Changing Climate, Air and Waste Management Association (<u>www.awma.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3iCiPXC</u>.

David Levinger and Maggie McGehee (2008), "Connectivity: Responding to New Trends Through a Usability Approach," *Community Transportation*, Spring 2008, pp. 33-37; at <u>https://bit.ly/2VRH9uU</u>.

Herbert Levinson (2003), *Bus Rapid Transit: Vol. 1. Case Studies in Bus Rapid Transit*, and *Vol. 2, Implementation Guidelines*, Transit Cooperative Research Program Report 90, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://gulliver.trb.org/publications/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_90v1.pdf</u> and <u>http://gulliver.trb.org/publications/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_90v2.pdf</u>.

Chris Lightfoot and Tom Steinberg (2006), *Travel-time Maps and their Uses*, My Society, funded by UK Department of Transport (<u>www.mysociety.org/2006/travel-time-maps/index.php</u>).

Kathy Lindquist and Michel Wendt (2012), *Least Cost Planning in Transportation: Synthesis*, Strategic Planning Division, Washington State Department of Transportation (<u>www.wsdot.wa.gov</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2EeB45I</u>.

Todd Litman (1995), "Land Use Impact Costs of Transportation," *World Transport Policy & Practice*, Vol. 1, No. 4, 1995, pp. 9-16; at <u>www.vtpi.org/landuse.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2000), *Socially Optimal Transport Prices and Markets: Principles, Strategies and Impacts*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>).

Todd Litman (2001a), "Generated Traffic; Implications for Transport Planning," *ITE Journal*, Vol. 71, No. 4, Institute of Transportation Engineers (<u>www.ite.org</u>), April, 2001, pp. 38-47; also at Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>).

Todd Litman (2001b), What's It Worth? Life Cycle and Benefit/Cost Analysis for Evaluating Economic Value, Presented at Internet Symposium on Benefit-Cost Analysis, Transportation Association of Canada (www.tac-atc.ca); at VTPI (www.vtpi.org).

Todd Litman (2002), *Light Rail Economic Opportunity Study*, Island Tranformations (www.islandtransformations.org); at www.vtpi.org/LREO.pdf.

Todd Litman (2004a), *Rail Transit in America: Comprehensive Evaluation of Benefits*, VTPI (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/railben.pdf</u>; summarized in "Impacts of Rail Transit on the Performance of a Transportation System," *Transportation Research Record 1930*, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>), pp. 23-29.

Todd Litman (2004b), "Transit Price Elasticities and Cross-Elasticities," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 7, No. 2, (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT 7-2 Litman.pdf</u>), pp. 37-58; at <u>www.vtpi.org/tranelas.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2005a), *Evaluating Rail Transit Criticism*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/railcrit.pdf</u>. Summarized in "Evaluating Rail Transit Benefits: A Comment," *Transport Policy*, Vol. 14/1 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tranpol</u>), January 2007, pp. 94-97.

Todd Litman (2005b), "Terrorism, Transit and Public Safety: Evaluating the Risks," *Journal of Public Transit*, Vol. 8, No. 4 (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/journal.htm</u>), pp. 33-46; at <u>www.vtpi.org/transitrisk.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2006), *The Future Isn't What it Used to Be*, VTPI (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/future.pdf</u>; published as "Changing Travel Demand: Implications for Transport Planning," *ITE Journal*, Vol. 76, No. 9, (<u>www.ite.org</u>), September, pp. 27-33.

Todd Litman (2007b), *Guide to Calculating Mobility Management Benefits*, VTPI (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/tdmben.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2008a), "Valuing Transit Service Quality Improvements," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 11, No. 2, Spring, pp. 43-64; at <u>www.nctr.usf.edu/jpt/pdf/JPT11-2Litman.pdf</u>; a more complete version is at <u>www.vtpi.org/traveltime.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2008b), *Build for Comfort, Not Just Speed: Valuing Service Quality Impacts In Transport Planning*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/quality.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2008c), *Land Use Impacts on Transport: How Land Use Factors Affect Travel Behavior*, VTPI (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/landtravel.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2009), *Transportation Cost and Benefit Analysis Guidebook*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org/tca</u>).

Todd Litman (2010a), *Raise My Taxes, Please! Evaluating Household Savings From High Quality Public Transit Service*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/raisetaxes.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2010b), *Evaluating Public Transportation Health Benefits*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/tran_health.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2010c), *Contrasting Visions of Urban Transport: Critique of "Fixing Transit: The Case for Privatization"*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/cont_vis.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2011a), The First Casualty of a Non-Existent War: Evaluating Claims of Unjustified Restrictions on Automobile Use, and a Critique of 'Washingtons War On Cars And The Suburbs', Victoria Transport Policy Institute (www.vtpi.org); at www.vtpi.org/carwars.pdf.

Todd Litman (2011b), *Evaluating Transportation Economic Development Impacts*, VTPI (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/econ_dev.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2011d), *Evaluating Public Transit as an Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction Strategy*, presented at Aligning Environmental and Transportation Policies To Mitigate Climate Change Institute for Policy Integrity; at <u>www.vtpi.org/tran_climate.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2012), *Toward More Comprehensive and Multi-modal Transport Evaluation*, VTPI (www.vtpi.org); at www.vtpi.org/comp_evaluation.pdf.

Todd Litman (2014a), "Evaluating Public Transportation Local Funding Options," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 43-74 (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2014/03/JPT17.1.pdf</u>); more complete version at <u>www.vtpi.org/tranfund.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2014b), *Smart Congestion Relief: Comprehensive Analysis of Traffic Congestion Costs and Congestion Reduction Benefits*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/cong_relief.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2014c), *Critique of "Transit Utilization and Traffic Congestion: Is There a Connection?"* Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/R&M_critique.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2014d), "The New Transit Safety Narrative," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 17, No. 4, pp. 121-141 (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu/category/jpt</u>); a more complete version at <u>www.vtpi.org/safer.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2015a), Evaluating Household Chauffeuring Burdens: Understanding Direct and Indirect Costs of Transporting Non-Drivers, Paper 15-4458, Transportation Research Board 2015 Annual Meeting; at www.vtpi.org/chauffeuring.pdf.

Todd Litman (2015b), When Are Bus Lanes Warranted? Considering Economic Efficiency, Social Equity and Strategic Planning Goals, presented at the Threadbo 14 Conference, September, Santiago, Chile; at www.vtpi.org/blw.pdf.

Todd Litman (2016a), *Public Transportation: The Hidden Traffic Safety Solution*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2R7wytg</u>.

Todd Litman (2016b), *Selling Transit Oriented Development*, presented at the 'TOD and Real Estate Development Conference' (<u>www.tod.org/events/la2016.html</u>). Also see, *Selling Smart Growth* (<u>www.vtpi.org/ssg.pdf</u>).

Todd Litman (2017), *Evaluating Public Transit Criticism*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (www.vtpi.org); at www.vtpi.org/railcrit.pdf.

Todd Litman (2017), *Public Transportation's Impact on Rural and Small Towns: A Vital Mobility Link*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>www.apta.com/rural</u>.

Todd Litman (2019), *Rural Multi-Modal Planning: Why and How to Improve Travel Options in Small Towns and Rural Communities*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/rmp</u>.

Todd Litman (2022), "Evaluating Transportation Equity: Guidance for Incorporating Distributional Impacts in Transport Planning," *ITE Journal*, Vo. 92/4, April 2022; at https://vtpi.org/Litman_ITEJ_Equity_Apr2022.pdf.

Todd Litman (2023), *Fair Share Transportation Planning*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/fstp.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2024), *A Business Case for Improving Bus Services*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/bcit.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman (2025), *The Mobility-Productivity Paradox*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/ITED_paradox.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman and Steve Fitzroy (2006), *Safe Travels: Evaluating Mobility Management Safety Benefits*, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/safetrav.pdf</u>.

Todd Litman and Felix Laube (1999), *Automobile Dependency and Economic Development*, VTPI (www.vtpi.org).

Todd Litman and Tom Rickert (2005), *Evaluating Transit Accessibility: 'Inclusive Design' Performance Indicators For Public Transportation In Developing Countries*, VTPI (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/tranacc.pdf</u>.

Caitlin Liu (2005), "Orange Line Eases A.M. Rush on 101 Freeway: Study Finds a Slight Improvement in Traffic Flow Since the Opening of The Valley Busway – Although Most Motorists May Not Feel the Change," *Los Angeles Times* (www.latimes.com), 30 Dec. 2005.

Helen Fei Liu (2007), *Vehicle CO2 Emissions and the Compactness of Residential Development*, HousingEconomics.com; at <u>www.nahbclassic.org/generic.aspx?genericContentID=86266</u>.

LRN (2006), *Rail Transit vs. "Bus Rapid Transit": Comparative Success and Potential in Attracting Ridership*, Light Rail Now (www.lightrailnow.org/facts/fa_brt_2006-08a.htm).

Shih-Che Lo and Randolph W. Hall (2006), "Effects of the Los Angeles Transit Strike On Highway Congestion," *Transportation Research A*, Vol. 40, No. 10 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tra</u>), December 2006, pp. 903-917.

Rayland Lu (2019), "Does Investing in Rail Transit Benefit the Poor? A Comparative Study of Rail and Bus Travel by Low-Income Households in the California Household Travel Survey," *Transportation Research Record*, 2672, pp. 11-20 (https://doi.org/10.1177/0361198118796738).

William Lucy (2002), *Danger in Exurbia: Outer Suburbs More Dangerous Than Cities*, University of Virginia (www.virginia.edu).

Glenn Lyons, Juliet Jain and David Holley (2007), "The Use of Travel Time by Rail Passengers in Great Britain," *Transportation Research A*, Vol. 41, No. 1 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tra</u>), pp. 107-120.

Mott MacDonald (2013), *Valuing the Social Impacts of Public Transport*, U.K. Department for Transport (<u>www.gov.uk</u>); at <u>http://bit.ly/1HSKxE3</u>.

John M. MacDonald, et al. (2010), "The Effect of Light Rail Transit on Body Mass Index and Physical Activity," *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 39, No. 2, pp. 105-112; at <u>www.ajpm-online.net/article/S0749-3797(10)00297-7/abstract</u>.

Zakhary Mallett (2025), "Transportation Finance Equity: A Theoretical and Empirical Review of Pricing Equity, Expenditure Equity, And Pricing-Expenditure Equity in US Transit Provision," *Transport. Research Interdisciplinary Perspectives*, Vo. 31 (doi.org/10.1016/j.trip.2025.101418).

Greg Marsden and Peter Bonsall (2006), "Performance Targets in Transport Policy," *Transport Policy*, Vol. 13, No. 3 (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/tranpol</u>), May 2006, pp. 191-203.

Jeremy Mattson (2020), *Measuring the Economic Benefits of Rural and Small Urban Transit Services in Greater Minnesota*, Upper Great Plains Transportation Institute North Dakota State University; at www.dot.state.mn.us/research/reports/2020/202010.pdf.

Barbara McCann (2000), Driven to Spend; The Impact of Sprawl on Household Transportation Expenses, STPP (<u>www.transact.org</u>).

Brian E. McCollom and Richard Pratt (2004), *Transit Pricing and Fares*, Chapter 12, TCRP Report 95, Transit Cooperative Research Program, Transportation Research Board, Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.trb.org/publications/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_95c12.pdf</u>).

Donald McCubbin and Mark Delucchi (1996), *Social Cost of the Health Effects of Motor-Vehicle Air Pollution*, Institute of Transportation Studies (<u>www.engr.ucdavis.edu/~its</u>).

Jen McGraw, et al. (2021), An Update on Public Transportation's Impacts on Greenhouse Gas Emissions, TCRP 226, Transportation Research Board (<u>https://doi.org/10.17226/26103</u>); at www.trb.org/main/blurbs/181941.aspx.

Nathan McNeil and Jeniffer Dill (2020), *Revisiting TODs: How Subsequent Development Affects the Travel Behavior of Residents in Existing Transit-Oriented Developments*, National Institute for Transportation and Communities (<u>https://nitc.trec.pdx.edu</u>); at <u>https://ppms.trec.pdx.edu/media/project_files/NITC-RR-1240-Revisiting_TODs.pdf</u>.

Evert J. Meijers and Martijn J. Burger (2009), *Urban Spatial Structure and Labor Productivity in U.S. Metropolitan Areas*, presented at the 2009 Regional Studies Association annual conference 'Understanding and Shaping Regions: Spatial, Social and Economic Futures', Leuven, Belgium, April 6-8, 2009; at <u>www.regional-studies-assoc.ac.uk/events/2009/apr-leuven/papers/Meijers.pdf</u>.

M. Meyer (1995), Alternative Performance Measures for Transportation Planning: Evolution Toward Multimodal Planning, Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.fta.dot.gov</u>).

Martin Mogridge (1990), *Travel in Towns*, Macmillan.

Katerina Moreland, et al. (2011), "Transit System Evaluation Process: From Planning to Realization," *ITE Journal* (www.ite.org), Vol. 81, No. 10, pp. 33-39.

Alvaro Jose Moreno Garcia (2005), *Estimating TranMilenio's Impact on Crime on the Avenida Caraca and its Neighboring Area*, University of the Andes, Department of Economics, Columbia (<u>http://economia.uniandes.edu.co/~economia/archivos/temporal/d2005-55.pdf</u>).

MPC (2018), *Transit Means Business*, Metropolitan Planning Council (<u>https://transitmeansbusiness.metroplanning.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2RXhblf</u>.

Robert H. Muller (2001), *Tollroad Feasibility Studies; An Historical Perspective*, Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

Multisystems, et al (2000), *Welfare to Work: Integration and Coordination of Transportation and Social Services*, Transit Cooperative Research Program Report 64; TCRP Web Document 16, TRB (<u>www4.national-academies.org/trb/crp.nsf</u>), Federal Transit Administration.

Ramon Munoz-Raskin (2007), *Walking Accessibility to Bus Rapid Transit: Does it Affect Property Values? The case of Bogotá*, Colombia, 11th World Conference on Transport Research, Berkeley, California (<u>www.wctrs.org</u>).

NACTO (2018), *Making Transit Count: Performance Measures that Move Transit Projects Forward*, National Association of City Transportation Officials (<u>https://nacto.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/301SbFY</u>.

NAR (various years), *National Community Preference Survey*, National Association of Realtors (<u>www.realtor.org</u>); at <u>www.nar.realtor/reports/nar-community-and-transportation-preference-surveys</u>.

NAVC (2000), *Hybrid-Electric Drive Heavy-Vehicle Testing Project*, Northeast Advanced Vehicle Consortium, West Virginia University (<u>www.navc.org/Navc9837.pdf</u>).

NCTR (2011), *Exploration of Transit's Sustainability Competitiveness*, National Center for Transit Research at the University of South Florida (<u>www.nctr.usf.edu</u>); at <u>www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2011/04/77925.pdf</u>.

Arthur C. Nelson, Bruce Appleyard, Shyam Kannan, Reid Ewing, Matt Miller, Dejan Eskic (2013), "Bus Rapid Transit and Economic Development: Case Study of the Eugene-Springfield BRT System," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 16, No. 3, pp. 39-57; at <u>www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2013/10/JPT 16.3.pdf</u>.

Peter Newman and Jeffrey Kenworthy (2011), "'Peak Car Use': Understanding the Demise of Automobile Dependence," *World Transport Policy and Practice* (<u>www.worldtransportjournal.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3ADZbGb</u>.

Phuong Nguyen-Hoanga and Ryan Yeung (2010), "What is Paratransit Worth," *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Volume 44, Issue 10, December, pp. 841-853.

Duy Q. Nguyen-Phuoc, et al. (2020), "Traffic Congestion Relief Associated with Public Transport," *Public Transportation*, Vo. 12, pp. 455–481 (<u>doi.org/10.1007/s12469-020-00231-3</u>).

NHTS (2017), *Summary of Travel Trends*, National *Household Travel Survey* (<u>http://nhts.ornl.gov</u>); at <u>https://nhts.ornl.gov/assets/2017_nhts_summary_travel_trends.pdf</u>.

NJARP (2006), *Bus Rapid Transit - Not for New Jersey*, New Jersey Association of Railroad Passengers (<u>www.nj-arp.org/brt2.html</u>).

Raymond Novaco and Cheryl Collier (1994), *Commuting Stress, Ridesharing, and Gender*, University of California Transportation Center (Berkeley), Working Paper #208 (<u>www.uctc.net</u>).

NPTS (1999), *Summary of Travel Trends*, National Personal Transportation Survey, Bureau of Transportation Statistics, (<u>http://npts.ornl.gov/npts/1995/Doc/trends_report.pdf</u>).

NZTA (2017), *Economic Evaluation Manual*, Volumes 1 and 2, New Zealand Transport Agency (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz</u>); at <u>www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/economic-evaluation-manual/volume-</u> 1/index.html and <u>www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/economic-evaluation-manual/volume-2/docs/eem2-july-2010.pdf</u>.

Kenneth Orski (2000), "Can Alternatives to Driving Reduce Auto Use?" *Innovation Briefs*, Vol. 11, No. 1, Jan/Feb.

Andrew Owen and David Levinson (2014), *Access Across America: Transit 2014*, CTS 14-11, Accessibility Observatory, University of Minnesota (<u>www.cts.umn.edu/publications/researchreports</u>).

Glenn Pascall (2001), *The Rail Transit Debate; An Assessment of the Arguments*, Discovery Institute (<u>www.discovery.org</u>).

Ian W.H. Parry and Kenneth A. Small (2007), *Should Urban Transit Subsidies be Reduced?*, Paper 07-38, Resources for the Future (<u>www.rff.org</u>); at <u>www.rff.org/rff/documents/rff-dp-07-38.pdf</u>.

Paulley, et al. (2004), *Factors Affecting the Demand for Public Transport*, Association for European Transport; at <u>www.etcproceedings.org/paper/download/1179</u>

PBQD (1996), *Transit and Urban Form, Report 16*, Transportation Cooperative Research Program, Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.fta.dot.gov</u>).

Don Pickrell (1992), "A Desire Named Streetcar: Fantasy and Fact in Rail Transit Planning," *Journal of the American Planning Association*, Vol. 58, No. 2, Spring 1992, pp. 158-76.

Don Pickrell (2001), "Clearing the Air: To Reduce Automobile Pollution, Adjust the Car, Not the Driver," *TR News 213*, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>), March-April, 2001, pp. 32-34.

Steven Polzin and Xuehao Chu (1999), "How Many People Use Public Transportation?" Urban Transportation Monitor, July 9, 1999, p. 3.

Steven Polzin and Xuehao Chu (2005), *Public Transit in America: Results from the 2001 National Household Travel Survey*, National Center for Transit Research (NCTR), Center for Urban Transportation Research (www.nctr.usf.edu); at www.nctr.usf.edu/pdf/527-09.pdf.

Steven E. Polzin, Xuehao Chu and Vishaka Shiva Raman (2008), *Exploration of a Shift in Household Transportation Spending from Vehicles to Public Transportation*, Center for Urban Transportation Research (www.nctr.usf.edu); at www.nctr.usf.edu/pdf/77722.pdf.

Portland (2009), *Portland Streetcar System Concept Plan: A Framework for Future Corridor Planning and Alternatives Analysis*, Portland Bureau of Transportation (<u>www.portlandoregon.gov</u>); at <u>www.portlandonline.com/transportation/streetcarsystemplan</u>.

Christopher Porter, et al. (2015), *Selected Indirect Benefits of State Investment in Public Transportation*, Research Results Digest 393, NCHRP Project 20-65, Task 52, National Cooperative Highway Research Program; at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp_rrd_393.pdf</u>.

Richard H. Pratt (1999-2004), *Traveler Response to Transportation System Changes*, Report TCRP Report B12-A, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.trb.org/TRBNet/ProjectDisplay.asp?ProjectID=1034</u>.

PSRC (2008), *Traffic Choices Study: Summary Report*, Puget Sound Regional Council (<u>http://psrc.org</u>); at <u>http://psrc.org/assets/37/summaryreport.pdf</u>.

PTEG (2013), *The Case for the Urban Bus: The Economic and Social Value of Bus Networks in the Metropolitan Areas*, Passenger Transport Executive Group (<u>www.pteg.net</u>); at <u>www.pteg.net/system/files/general-docs/pteg%20Case%20for%20bus%20report%20FINAL.pdf</u>.

Public Transit Benefits (<u>https://ptbenefits.uitp.org</u>), provides information on various benefits.

John Pucher (2002), "Renaissance of Public Transit in the United States?," *Transportation Quarterly*, Vol. 56, No. 1, Winter, pp. 33-49; at the VTPI website (<u>www.vtpi.org</u>).

John Pucher and Christian Lefevre (1996), *The Urban Transportation Crisis in Europe and North America*, MacMillan Press (London).

John Pucher and Ralph Buehler (2009), "Sustainable Transport that Works: Lessons from Germany," *World Transport Policy and Practice*, Vol. 15, No. 1, May, pp. 13-46 (<u>www.eco-logica.co.uk/pdf/wtpp15.1.pdf</u>).

Robert Puentes (2008), *The Road...Less Traveled: An Analysis of Vehicle Miles Traveled Trends in the U.S.*, Brooking Institution (<u>www.brookings.edu</u>); at <u>https://brook.gs/2ZJShLf</u>.

Boris S. Pushkarev and Jeffrey M. Zupan (1977), *Public Transportation and Land Use Policy*, Indiana University Press (Bloomington); summarized in <u>https://bit.ly/2ZBCqhK</u>.

Kevin Ramsey and Alexander Bell (2014), *Access to Jobs and Workers via Transit*, EPA Office of Sustainable Communities; at <u>https://edg.epa.gov/data/Public/OP/SLD/SLD_Trans45_UG.pdf</u>.

Reconnecting America (2004), *Hidden In Plain Sight: Capturing The Demand For Housing Near Transit*, Center for Transit-Oriented Development; Reconnecting America (<u>www.reconnectingamerica.org</u>) for the Federal Transit Administration (<u>www.fta.dot.gov</u>); at <u>www.reconnectingamerica.org/pdfs/Ctod_report.pdf</u>.

John Luciano Renne (2007), *Measuring The Performance Of Transit-Oriented Developments In Western Australia*, Planning and Transport Research Centre of Western Australia and the Institute for Sustainability and Technology Policy, Murdoch University; at www.vtpi.org/renne_tod_performance.pdf.

Tom Rickert (2006), *Bus Rapid Transit Accessibility Guidelines*, World Bank (<u>www.worldbank.org</u>); at <u>www.gobrt.org/AccessibilityWB.pdf</u>.

Elizabeth Ridlington and Gigi Kellet (2003), *Rail Transit Works: Light Rail Success Stories from Across the Country*, MaryPIRG Foundation (<u>www.marypirg.org</u>).

Timothy Rood (1999), *Local Index of Transit Availability* (LITA), Local Government Commission (<u>www.lgc.org</u>).

Paul Ryus, et al. (2010), A Methodology for Performance Measurement and Peer Comparison in the Public Transportation Industry, Report 141, Transit Cooperative Research Program (TCRP), TRB (www.trb.org); at http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_141.pdf.

Sadegh Sabouri, Reid Ewing and Hannaneh Abdollahzadeh Kalantari (2024), "Estimating Transit's Land-Use Multiplier: Direct and Indirect Effects on Vehicle Miles Traveled," *Transportation* (<u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11116-024-10542-0</u>).

Bill Sadler and Elizabeth Wampler (2013), Enhancing Economic Opportunity through Transit: Lessons Learned from Denver's Southeast Light Rail Line, Reconnecting America (www.reconnectingamerica.org); at http://bit.ly/1G6XopD.

Thomas W. Sanchez (1999), "The Connection Between Public Transit and Employment," *Journal of the American Planning Association*, Vol. 65, No. 3, Summer, pp. 284-296.

Milena Scherer and Katrin Dziekan (2012), "Bus or Rail: An Approach to Explain the Psychological Rail Factor," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 75-94; at www.nctr.usf.edu/wp-content/uploads/2012/04/JPT15.1.pdf.

Carissa Schively, Meagan Beekman, Cynthia Carlson and Jenn Reed (2007), *Enhancing Transportation: The Effects of Public Involvement in Planning and Design Processes*, Hubert H. Humphrey Institute of Public Affairs, University of Minnesota (<u>www.cts.umn.edu</u>), for the American Institute of Architects; at <u>www.cts.umn.edu/pdf/CTS-07-10.pdf</u>.

Angie Schmitt (2018), Only a Few American Cities are Growing Transit Ridership — Here's What They're Doing Right, Streetblog USA (<u>https://usa.streetsblog.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2NtVvwP</u>.

Robert Schneider, Robert S. Patten and Jennifer L. Toole (2005), *A Case Study Analysis of Pedestrian and Bicycle Data Collection in United States Communities*, TRB Annual Meeting (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://ite.org/Conference/papers/CB05B2104.pdf</u>.

Joseph P. Schwieterman, Laurence F. Audenaerd and Marisa Schulz (2012), *Tending to Transit: The Benefits and Costs of Bringing Public Transport in the Chicago Region into Good Repair*, Chaddick Institute for Metropolitan Development (<u>https://las.depaul.edu</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2Q4TYQO</u>.

SECOR Consulting (2004), *Public Transit: A Powerful Engine for the Economic Development of the Metropolitan Montreal Area*, Board of Trade of Metropolitan Montreal (<u>www.ccmm.qc.ca/public_transit</u>).

Christopher Severen (2020), *A Ticket to Ride: Estimating the Benefits of Rail Transit*, Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia (<u>www.philadelphiafed.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3wnarmA</u>.

Jay Shah and Bhargav Adhvaryu (2016), "Public Transport Accessibility Levels for Ahmedabad, India," *Journal of Public Transportation*, Vol. 19, No. 3, pp. 19-35 (<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5038/2375-0901.19.3.2</u>); at <u>http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/jpt/vol19/iss3/2</u>.

Robert J. Shapiro, Kevin A. Hassett and Frank S. Arnold (2002), *Conserving Energy and Preserving the Environment: The Role of Public Transit*, APTA (<u>www.apa.com</u>).

Zhaowei She, Douglas M. King and Sheldon H. Jacobson (2017), "Analyzing the Impact of Public Transit Usage on Obesity, *Preventive Medicine*, Volume 99, Pages 264-268 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.03.010</u>).

Zhaowei She, Douglas M. King and Sheldon H. Jacobson (2019), "Is Promoting Public Transit an Effective Intervention for Obesity?" *Transportation Research Part A*, pp 119: 162 (DOI: 10.1016/j.tra.2018.10.027); at https://bit.ly/3nTeG5r.

Mark Smart (2008), *An Empirical Estimate of CityRail's Marginal Costs and Externalities*, Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal (<u>www.ipart.nsw.gov.au</u>); at <u>http://bit.ly/2etqj2R</u>.

Jeffery J. Smith and Thomas A. Gihring (2021), *Financing Transit Systems Through Value Capture: An Annotated Bibliography*, Geonomy Society (<u>www.progress.org/geonomy</u>); at <u>www.vtpi.org/smith.pdf</u>; originally published as "Financing Transit Systems Through Value Capture," *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, Vol. 65/3, July 2006, pp. 751-786.

Laura Barrie Smith, et al. (2021), *The Effect of a Public Transportation Expansion on No-Show Appointments*, University of Minnesota (<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13899</u>).

SSTI (2021), *Measuring Accessibility: A Guide for Transportation and Land Use Practitioners*, State Smart Transportation Initiative (<u>https://ssti.us</u>); at <u>https://ssti.us/accessibility-analysis</u>.

Michael A. Staiano (2001), "Comparison of Light Rail and Bus Transit Noise Impact Estimates per Federal and Industry Criteria," *Transportation Research Record 1756*, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>), pp. 45-56.

Robert G. Stanley and Robert Hyman (2005), *Evaluation of Recent Ridership Increases*, TCRP Research Results Digest 69, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

John Stanley, et al. (2011), "Social Exclusion and the Value of Mobility," *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy* (JTEP), Vol. 45, (2), pp. 197-222; summary at www.sortclearinghouse.info/research/861.

Steer Davies Gleave (2005), What Light Rail Can do for Cities: A Review of the Evidence, UK Passenger Transport Executive Committee (<u>www.pteg.net</u>); at <u>www.eukn.org/unitedkingdom/themes/Urban Policy/Transport and infrastructure/Public transport</u>/Trams and light rail/Light-rail-and-cities 1001.html.

Jim P. Stimpson, et al. (2014), "Share of Mass Transit Miles Traveled and Reduced Motor Vehicle Fatalities in Major Cities of the United States," *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, (doi:10.1007/s11524-014-9880-9); at http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11524-014-9880-9.

Robert J. Stokes, John MacDonald and Greg Ridgeway (2008), "Estimating The Effects Of Light Rail Transit On Health Care Costs," *Health & Place*, Volume 14, Issue 1, March, pp. 45-58.

Asif Ahmed and Peter Stopher (2014), "Seventy Minutes Plus or Minus 10 — A Review of Travel Time Budget Studies," *Transport Reviews*, Vo. 34:5, pp. 607-625 (DOI: 10.1080/01441647.2014.946460).

STPP (2001), Easing the Burden: A Companion Analysis of the Texas Transportation Institute's Congestion Study, Surface Transportation Policy Project (<u>www.transact.org</u>), May.

STPP (2004), Setting the Record Straight: Transit, Fixing Roads and Bridges Offer Greatest Jobs Gains, Surface Transportation Policy Project (www.transact.org).

Stephen G. Stradling, Michael Carreno, Tom Rye and Allyson Noble (2007), "Passenger Perceptions and the Ideal Urban Bus Journey Experience," *Transport Policy* (<u>www.elsevier.com/locate/transpol</u>), Vol. 14, No. 4, July 2007, pp. 283-292.

Hiroaki Suzuki, Robert Cervero and Kanako luchi (2013), *Transforming Cities with Transit: Transit and Land-Use Integration for Sustainable Urban Development*, World Bank (<u>www.worldbank.org</u>); at <u>http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/pdf/10.1596/978-0-8213-9745-9</u>.</u>

Brian D. Taylor, Hiroyuki Iseki and Mark Garrett (2000), *How Much Does A Transit Trip Cost?*, presented at 2000 Conference of the Association of Collegiate Schools of Planning, University of California Transportation Center (<u>www.uctc.net/scripts/countdown.pl?702.pdf</u>).

Brian D. Taylor, et al. (2009), "Nature and/or Nurture? Analyzing the Determinants of Transit Ridership Across US Urbanized Areas," *Transportation Research A*, Vo. 43, pp. 60–77 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2008.06.007</u>).

TC (2024), How to Talk About Transit in a Way That Inspires: The Transit Messaging Handbook, Transit Center (<u>https://transitcenter.org</u>); at <u>http://tinyurl.com/2382w6z4</u>.

TCRP (2012), Assessing and Comparing Environmental Performance of Major Transit Investments, Transit Cooperative Research Program (<u>www.tcrponline.org</u>); at <u>http://tinyurl.com/4mh5xjj9</u>.

TIDE (2013), Impact Assessment Handbook: Practitioners' Handbook for Cost Benefit and Impact Analysis of Innovative Urban Transport Measures, TIDE (Transport Innovation Deployment for Europe) Project (<u>www.tide-innovation.eu</u>); at and <u>http://tinyurl.com/7jmuzkxw</u>.

Alejandro Tirachini, David A. Hensher and Sergio R. Jara-Díaz (2009), *Comparing Operator and Users Costs of Light Rail, Heavy Rail and Bus Rapid Transit over a Radial Public Transport Network*, 11th THREDBO, Delft University of Technology; at <u>http://tinyurl.com/3byzfzee</u>.

Gregory L. Thompson and Thomas G. Matoff (2003), "Keeping Up with the Joneses: Planning for Transit in Decentralizing Regions," *Journal of the American Planning Association*, Vol. 69, No. 3 (www.planning.org), Summer 2003, pp. 296-312.

Gregory Thompson, et al. (2012), Understanding Transit Ridership Demand for a Multi-Destination, Multimodal Transit Network in an American Metropolitan Area: Lessons for Increasing Choice Ridership While Maintaining Transit Dependent Ridership, Report 11-06, Mineta Transportation Institute (www.transweb.sjsu.edu); at <u>http://transweb.sjsu.edu/PDFs/research/1003-multidestination-multimodal-metropolitan-area-transit-riders.pdf</u>.

Transit Costs Website (<u>https://transitcosts.com</u>) provides detailed and standardized construction costs for hundreds of urban rail projects in more than 50 countries, accounting for factors such as amount of tunneling.

TranSystems Corporation (2007), *Elements Needed to Create High Ridership Transit Systems: Interim Guidebook*, TCRP Report 111, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/tcrp/tcrp_rpt_111.pdf</u>.

Paul J. Tranter (2004), *Effective Speeds: Car Costs are Slowing Us Down*, University of New South Wales; at <u>www.environment.gov.au/settlements/transport/publications/effectivespeeds.html</u>.

Adie Tomer, Elizabeth Kneebone, Robert Puentes, and Alan Berube (2011), *Missed Opportunity: Transit and Jobs in Metropolitan America*, Brookings Metropolitan Policy Program (www.brookings.edu); at https://bit.ly/4cPaSco. *TPICS (Transportation Project Impact Case Studies) System* (<u>http://transit.tpics.us</u>) is a searchable database of past projects and their observed impacts on economic development, and a predictive tool that estimates the range of likely impacts of proposed new projects, based on results from already-built projects.

TransitCenter Equity Dashboard (<u>https://dashboard.transitcenter.org</u>) tracks how well some U.S. public transit systems serve their riders including transit service intensity, affordability, reliability, access to opportunity, and how travel times compare between transit and car.

TRB (2010), *Highway Capacity Manual*, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.trb.org/Main/Blurbs/Highway Capacity Manual 2010 164718.aspx</u>.

TRB (2013), *Transit Capacity and Quality of Service Manual, Third Edition*, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.trb.org/main/blurbs/169437.aspx</u>.

TRB TEC (2011), *Transportation Benefit-Cost Analysis*, TRB Transportation Economics Committee Website (<u>http://bca.transportationeconomics.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/4dMbgd8</u>.

TREDIS (<u>www.tredis.com</u>), the *Transportation Economic Development Impact System* is an interactive system of tools for transportation investment economic development impact evaluation and benefit-cost analysis. It can be applied to highway, bus, rail, aviation, marine and multi-modal projects.

TRL (2004), *The Demand for Public Transit: A Practical Guide*, Transportation Research Laboratory, Report TRL 593 (<u>www.trl.co.uk</u>); at <u>www.demandforpublictransport.co.uk</u>.

Long Truong and Graham Currie (2019), "Macroscopic Road Safety Impacts of Public Transport: A Case Study of Melbourne, Australia," *Accident Analysis and Prevention* (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2019.105270).

Nick Tsivanidis (2017), *Ticket to Ride? Building Efficient and Equitable Cities with Bus Rapid Transit*, World Bank (<u>https://worldbank.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/4dMb3GS</u>.

TTI (various years), *Urban Mobility Study*, Texas Transportation Institute (<u>http://mobility.tamu.edu/ums</u>).

Katherine F. Turnbull and Richard H. Pratt (2003), *Transit Information and Promotion: Traveler Response to Transport System Changes*, Chapter 11, Transit Cooperative Research Program Report 95; Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

UITP (2009), Assessing the Benefits of Public Transport, Position Paper, International Association of Public Transport (<u>www.uitp.org</u>); at <u>www.uitp.org/mos/focus/FPBenefits-en.pdf</u>.

UKDfT (2013), *New Approach to Transport Appraisal* (NATA), Department for Transport (<u>www.gov.uk/guidance/transport-analysis-guidance-webtag</u>).

Heather Unger, et al. (2019), *Social and Economic Sustainability Performance Measures for Public Transportation*, TCRP Research Report 205, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.nap.edu/download/25461</u>.

Urban Accessibility Explorer (<u>http://urbanaccessibility.com</u>) is an easy-to-use mapping system that measures the number of activities that can be reached by residents within a given amount of travel time, by a particular mode and time of day in the Chicago Metropolitan area.

USDOT (2016), 2016 TIGER Benefit-Cost Analysis Guidance, Office of Infrastructure Finance and Innovation, US Department of Transportation (<u>www.ops.fhwa.dot.gov</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2VVJDZg</u>.

USDOT (2016), "Transit Investment Analysis Methodology," *Status of the Nation's Highways, Bridges and Transit: Conditions and Performance Report*, U.S. Department of Transportation (<u>www.dot.gov</u>); at <u>www.fhwa.dot.gov/policy/2015cpr/pdfs/2015cpr.pdf</u>.

USEPA (1998), *Improved Public Transit*, Transportation and Air Quality TCM Technical Overviews, US Env. Protection Agency (<u>www.epa.gov/oms/transp/publicat/pub_tech.htm</u>).

USEPA (2000), Federal and California Exhaust and Evaporative Emission Standards for Light-Duty Vehicles and Light-Duty Trucks, US Environmental Protection Agency EPA420-B-00-001, (www.epa.gov/otaq/cert/veh-cert/b00001.pdf).

William Vickrey (edited by Richard Arnott, et al.) (1994), *Public Economics; Selected Papers by William Vickrey*, Cambridge University Press (<u>www.uk.cambridge.org</u>).

William Vincent and Lisa Callaghan (2007), *A Preliminary Evaluation of the Metro Orange Line Bus Rapid Transit Project*, Bus Rapid Transit Policy Center (<u>www.gobrt.org</u>), for presentation at the TRB Annual Meeting; at <u>www.gobrt.org/Orange Line Preliminary Evaluation by BTI.pdf</u>

Volpe (2009), *Comparing the Environmental Benefits of Transit Projects: Proceedings from a Colloquium, October 28 & 29, 2008*, John A. Volpe National Transportation Systems Center, Office of Planning and Environment, Federal Transit Administration (www.fta.dot.gov) U.S. Department of Transportation, at www.fta.dot.gov/documents/FTA EnvironmentalBenefitProceedings.pdf.

VTPI (2009), Urban Transport Performance Spreadsheet, Victoria Transport Policy Institute (www.vtpi.org); at www.vtpi.org/Transit2009.xls.

Vukan Vuchic (2005), *Urban Transit: Operations, Planning and Economics*, John Wiley & Sons (<u>www.wiley.com</u>).

Jarrett Walker (2008), "Purpose-Driven Public Transport: Creating a Clear Conversation about Public Transport Goals," *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 16, pp. 436–442: at <u>http://bit.ly/10VUzLg</u>.

Jarrett Walker (2012), <u>Human Transit: How Clearer Thinking about Public Transit Can Enrich Our</u> <u>Communities and Our Lives</u>, Island Press; blog at <u>www.humantransit.org</u>.

Jarrett Walker (2015), *Explainer: The Transit Ridership Recipe*, Human Transit (<u>www.humantransit.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3w62qUe</u>.

Ian Wallis, A. Lawrence and Neil Douglas (2013), *Economic Appraisal of Public Transport Service Enhancements*, Report 533, New Zealand Transport Agency (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz</u>); at <u>www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/research/reports/533/docs/533.pdf</u>.

Xize Wang and John L. Renne (2023), "Socioeconomics of Urban Travel in the U.S.: Evidence from the 2017 NHTS," *Transportation Research Part D*, Vo. 116 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2023.103622</u>).

Judith Wang (2011), *Appraisal of Factors Influencing Public Transport Patronage*, Research Report 434, NZ Transport Agency (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/37B7OFn</u>.

Yadi Wang and David Levinson (2022), "Time Savings Vs Access-Based Benefit Assessment of New York's Second Avenue Subway," *Journal of Benefit Cost Analysis*, Vo. 13/1, pp. 120-147 (doi.org/10.1017/bca.2022.3).

William Warren and Susan Ryan (2001), "Metropolitan Rail Transit Expansion: Exploring A Route For Decision Making," *TR News 217* (www.trb.org), Nov.-Dec.

M. Wedderburn (2013), *Improving the Cost-Benefit Analysis of Integrated PT, Walking and Cycling*, Research Report 537, NZ Transport Agency (<u>www.nzta.govt.nz</u>); at <u>www.nzta.govt.nz/resources/research/reports/537</u>.

Asha Weinstein and Paul Schimek (2005), *How Much Do Americans Walk? An Analysis of the 2001 NHTS*, Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

Glen Weisbrod (2000), *Current Practices for Assessing Economic Development Impacts from Transportation*, NCHRP, Synthesis 290, TRB, (<u>www.trb.org</u>).

Glen Weisbrod and Arlee Reno (2009), *Economic Impact of Public Transportation Investment*, American Public Transportation Association (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/3w0tUud</u>; additional information at <u>www.edrgroup.com/library/public-transport/rail/econ-impact-public-transport-tcrp-j-11-17.html</u>.

Glen Weisbrod, et al. (2017), *Practices for Evaluating the Economic Impacts and Benefits of Transit*, TCRP Synthesis 128, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>); at <u>www.trb.org/main/blurbs/175968.aspx</u>.

Timothy F. Welch, Steven R. Gehrke and Steven Farber (2018), "Rail Station Access and Housing Market Resilience: Case Studies of Atlanta, Baltimore and Portland," *Urban Studies*, (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098018760708</u>).

Richard Wener, Gary W. Evans and Pier Boately (2006), "Commuting Stress: Psychophysiological Effects of the Trip and Spillover into the Workplace," *Transportation Research Record 1924*, Transportation Research Board (<u>www.trb.org</u>), pp. 112-117. Also see, *Leave the Driving to Them: Comparing Stress of Car and Train Commuters*, APTA (<u>www.apta.com</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/39V0EfV</u>.

Richard E. Wener and Gary W. Evans, (2007), "A Morning Stroll: Levels of Physical Activity in Car and Mass Transit Commuting," *Environment and Behavior*, Vol. 39, No. 1, 62-74 (http://eab.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/39/1/62).

Clifford Winston and Ashley Langer (2004), *The Effect of Government Highway Spending on Road Users' Congestion Costs*, Brookings Institution (<u>www.brookings.edu</u>).

Jaewoong Won, Chanam Lee and Wei Li (2017), "Are Walkable Neighborhoods More Resilient to the Foreclosure Spillover Effects?" *Journal of Planning Literature*, pp. 1-14 (<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X17702443</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2Mu2iZs</u>.

WTI (2011), *Montana Intercity Bus Service Study*, Western Transportation Institute (<u>www.mdt.mt.gov</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/1GLIfYK</u>.

Hao Wu, et al. (2021), "Urban Access Across the Globe: An International Comparison Of Different Transport Modes," *Urban Sustainability*, (<u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42949-021-00020-2</u>); at www.nature.com/articles/s42949-021-00020-2.pdf.

Lunyu Xie (2012), *Automobile Usage and Urban Rail Transit Expansion*, Environment for Development and Resources for the Future (<u>www.rff.org</u>); at <u>https://bit.ly/2Sdl8lV</u>.

Chang Yi (2006), "The Impact of Public Transit on Employment Status: Disaggregate Analysis of Houston, Texas," *Transportation Research Record 1986*, TRB (<u>www.trb.org</u>), pp. 137-144; at <u>http://pubsindex.trb.org/view.aspx?id=776961</u>.

www.vtpi.org/tranben.pdf